University of Alberta

Composting as a method for disposal of specified risk material and degradation of prions

by

Shanwei Xu

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Bioresource and Food Engineering

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

©Shanwei Xu Fall 2012 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Abstract

Provided that infectious prions (PrP^{TSE}) are inactivated, composting of specified risk material (SRM) may be a viable alternative to rendering and land filling. The overall objective of this research was to utilize laboratory-scale composters to assess the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE} during composting. Under non-containment conditions, co-composting of SRM with cattle manure revealed that SRM was degraded rapidly in compost, with approximately 60% and 80% dry matter loss after 14 and 28 days, respectively. Composter depth, types of bulking agent, or prolongation of thermophilic temperature using a water jacket did not influence SRM degradation. However, mixing of feathers with manure increased the extent of SRM degradation. Phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) profiles demonstrated that both mesophilic and thermophilic microbial communities were responsible for SRM degradation. Furthermore, PCRdenaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) analysis suggested that bacterial genera of Thermoactinomycetaceae, Thiohalospira, Pseudomonas, Enterobacter, Corynebacterium, Promicromonospora, Pseudonocardia, Thermobifida, Mycobacterium, Nocardia, Saccharomonospora, Streptomyces, Actinomadura, and fungal genera of Dothideomycetes, Cladosporium, Chaetomium, and Trichaptum may play a role in SRM degradation in compost. Prior to and after 14 or 28 days of composting, PrP^{TSE} was detected by Western blotting (WB) after extraction using sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) and sodium phosphotungstic acid (PTA) precipitation. The WB findings suggested at least $1-2 \log_{10}$ reduction of PrP^{TSE} signals after 14 to 28 days of composting. Although scrapie prions (PrP^{Sc})

degradation can not be definitively concluded, the disappearance of chronic wasting disease prions (PrP^{CWD}) and bovine spongiform encephalopathy prions (PrP^{BSE}) may reflect biological degradation in compost. This is the first study to investigate possible biological degradation of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} during composting, suggesting that it has merit as a means of SRM disposal.

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Dr. Tim McAllister. He has provided me with advice, helpful suggestions and many opportunities to grow as a scientist during the course of my graduate studies. I also would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Jerry Leonard. His guidance, support and encouragement throughout the duration of this thesis are greatly appreciated. Additional gratitude is extended to my committee members of Drs. Mike Belosevic and Grant Clark for their helpful advice and criticism.

I also would like to thank Drs. Brandon Gilroyed, Xiying Hao and Douglas Inglis at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre in Lethbridge, and Drs. Tim Reuter and Lisa Tymensen at the Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development in Lethbridge for their input and guidance during the experiments. Acknoledgements are also extended to F. Van Herk, B. Baker, J. Yanke, W. Smart, S. Cook, D. Vedres, L. Selinger and K. Munns in McAllister's research group, and S. Dudas and R. Clark at the Canadian OIE Reference Laboratories for BSE in Lethbridge for their companionship and assistance.

Lastly, I would like to thank my mother and my wife as they have been a key factor during this thesis work.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Composting	1
1.1.1 Concept of composting and typical composting process	1
1.1.2 Parameters affecting composting process	2
1.1.3 Dynamics of organic matter degradation	10
1.1.4 Gas emissions during composting	11
1.2 Microbiology of Composting	13
1.2.1 Dynamics of microbial communities during composting	13
1.2.2 Current techniques for studying microbial ecology in compost	14
1.3 Specified risk material and prions	19
1.3.1 Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy	19
1.3.2 PrP ^C and PrP ^{TSE}	20
1.3.3 Bovine spongiform encephalopathy in Canada	21
1.3.4 Specified risk material	22
1.3.5 Current methods for specified risk material disposal	23
1.3.6 Current and potential methods for PrP ^{TSE} inactivation	23
1.4 Composting of specified risk material and PrP ^{TSE}	25
1.4.1 Application of composting for specified risk material disposal	25
1.4.2 Projected fate of PrP ^{TSE} during composting	26
1.4.3 Characteristics of PrP ^{TSE} in the environment	27
1.4.4 Potential methods for PrP ^{TSE} detection in compost	29
1.5 Conclusions	33
1.6 Objectives of thesis	34

1.7 Outline of thesis	
1.8 References	
Chapter 2 Assessment of microbial communities in decomposition of	specified
risk material using a passively aerated laboratory-scale composter	66
2.1 Introduction	66
2.2 Materials and methods	68
2.3 Results	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusions	
2.6 References	
Chapter 3 Biodegradation of specified risk material and characterization	ion of
actinobacterial communities in laboratory-scale composters	101
3.1 Introduction	101
3.2 Materials and methods	
3.3 Results	
3.4 Discussion	
3.5 Conclusions	121
3.6 References	
Chapter 4 Biodegradation of specified risk material and fate of scrapi	e prions in
compost	140
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and methods	
4.3 Results and discussion	
4.4 Conclusions	158
4.5 References	

Chapter 5 Microbial communities and greenhouse gas emissions associated with	h
the biodegradation of specified risk material in compost	174
5.1 Introduction	174
5.2 Materials and methods	176
5.3 Results and discussion	183
5.4 Conclusions	192
5.5 References	202
Chapter 6 Potential biodegradation of prions in compost	207
6.1 Introduction	207
6.2 Materials and methods	210
6.3 Results	218
6.4 Discussion	221
6.5 Conclusions	226
6.6 References	236
Chapter 7 General discussion and conclusions	242
7.1 Overview of results and their significance	242
7.2 Future directions	249
7.3 Summary and conclusions	255
7.4 References	257

List of Tables

Table 1-1 Currently recommended methods for PrP ^{TSE} inactivation
Table 1-2 Currently approved methods for the disposal of specified risk material infected with PrP ^{TSE} in Canada
Table 1-3 Potentially effective methods for PrP ^{TSE} inactivation
Table 2-1 Characteristics of the materials and initial mixtures used for composting
Table 2-2 Decomposition of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) during
composting in laboratory-scale composters
Table 2-3 Total nitrogen content (%) of compost materials collected inside and outside of mesh bags at day 15 in laboratory-scale composters
Table 3-1 Characteristics of initial materials used for composting
Table 3-2 ANOVA (analysis of variance) table for effects of compost type, compost depth and compost time on the biodegradation of specified risk material
Table 4-1 Physicochemical characteristics of initial compost materials and mixtures 159
Table 4-2 Moisture (%) and pH changes after composting of scrapie prions160
Table 5-1 Primers used in this study to target various microbial communities193

Table 6-1 Physicochemical characteristics of the materials included in the	
compost matrix	228

Table 6-2 Physicochemical changes of compost mixtures during composting .. 229

Table 6-3 Moisture (%) and pH changes of compost mixtures during compostir	ıg
under biocontainment	230

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Schematic of typical compost temperature vs. time curve
Figure 2-1 Schematic of the 110 L passively aerated laboratory-scale composter developed for work in containment
Figure 2-2 Schematic of the technique used to implant specified risk material into the laboratory composter
Figure 2-3 Temperature (a) and O ₂ concentration (b) changes during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter90
Figure 2-4 Chemical properties during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter
Figure 2-5 Relative proportions of microbes during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter
Figure 2-6 Principal component analysis of phospholipid fatty acids during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter
Figure 3-1 (a) Schematics of a 110-L actively-heated laboratory-scale composter and (b) the water circulation system
Figure 3-2 (a) Temperature and (b) O ₂ concentration during composting of specified risk material in ambient (A) and actively-heated (AH) laboratory-scale composters
Figure 3-3 Physicochemical changes during composting of specified risk material

Figure 3-4 (a) Degradation of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) during the first composting cycle in laboratory-scale composters and (b) Degradation of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) in the first and second composting cycles, respectively, at the middle depth in laboratory-scale composters (fresh specified risk material was added to the composters after mixing on day 15). ...127

Figure 4-1 (a) Temperature during composting of specified risk material, (b)
Temperature during composting of scrapie prions, and (c) O ₂ concentration	during
composting of specified risk material	161

Figure 4-3 Degradation of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) at the middle	
lepth in laboratory-scale composters163	

Figure 4-4 (a) Extraction of ovine normal prions (PrP ^C) and scrapie prions (PrP ^{Sc}) from fresh manure inoculated with non-infectious sheep and scrapie brain homogenate, respectively and (b) Western blotting of PrP ^{Sc} extracted from manure inoculated with decreasing concentrations of PrP ^{Sc}
Figure 4-5 Western blotting of scrapie prions (PrP ^{Sc}) extracted from samples (n=3) at days 0, 14 and 28 from replicate composters
Figure 4-6 Western blotting of scrapie prions (PrP ^{Sc}) extracted from nylon bags and surrounding compost materials at days 14 and 28166
Figure 5-1 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis separation of 16S rRNA gene fragments after PCR amplification of extracted (a) compost DNA and (b) specified risk material DNA with bacteria-specific primers F984GC and R1378
Figure 5-2 Dendrogram of bacterial denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis bands (Figure 5-1) using Dice's coefficient and unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average
Figure 5-3 A neighbour joining tree of phylogenetic relationships among DNA sequences obtained from bacterial denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis gel (Figure 5-1b) after PCR amplification of extracted specified risk material DNA 196
Figure 5-4 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis separation of 18S rRNA gene fragments after PCR amplification of extracted (a) compost DNA and (b) specified risk material DNA with fungi-specific primers EF4-Fung5 and EF4–NS2GC
Figure 5-5 Dendrogram of fungal denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis bands (Figure 5-4) using Dice's coefficient and unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average

Figure 5-6 A neighbour joining tree of phylogenetic relationships among DNA sequences obtained from fungal denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis gel (Figure 5-4b) after PCR amplification of extracted specified risk material DNA
Figure 5-7 Changes of (a) CH_4 and (b) N_2O concentrations (ppm) in the headspace, and (c) O_2 concentration (ppm) in compost during composting of specified risk material
Figure 5-8 Quantitative PCR analyses on the changes of (a) $mcrA$ (log ₁₀ copies g ⁻¹ dry weight) and (b) $pmoA$ (log ₁₀ copies g ⁻¹ dry weight) genes during composting of specified risk material
Figure 6-1 (a) Temperature during composting under containement (b) Temperature and (c) O ₂ concentration during composting outside of containment
Figure 6-2 Degradations of feathers (% dry matter loss) in feather compost during composting
Figure 6-3 Western blotting of (a) PrP ^{263K} with mAb 3F4, (b) PrP ^{CWD} with mAb 6H4, and (c) PrP ^{BSE} with mAb 6H4 extracted from fresh manure spheres inoculated with decreasing concentrations of hamster 263K, chronic wasting disease and bovine spongiform encephalopathy brain homogenates, respectively
Figure 6-4 Western blotting of (a) PrP ^{263K} , (b) PrP ^{CWD} , and (c) PrP ^{BSE} samples extracted from manure spheres collected at days 0, 2, 14, and 28 with isotype control antibodies instead of anti-PrP ^{TSE} antibodies
Figure 6-5 Western blotting of (a) PrP ^{263K} , (b) PrP ^{CWD} , and (c) PrP ^{BSE} samples extracted from manure spheres collected at days 0, 2, 14, and 28 with anti-PrP ^{TSE} antibodies

List of Abbreviations

- ANOVA analysis of variance
- BH brain homogenate
- BSE bovine spongiform encephalopathy
- CCME Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment
- CFIA Canadian Food Inspection Agency
- CJD Creutzfeldt-Jackob disease
- CWD chronic wasting disease
- DGGE denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- EC electrical conductivity
- ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- FAME fatty acid methyl esters
- Hamster PrP^{TME} a hamster-adapted prion infected from transmissible mink encephalopathy
- iQ-RT-PCR immuno-quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
- mcrA methyl-coenzyme M reductase
- PC analysis principal component analysis
- PCR polymerase chain reaction
- PK proteinase K
- PLFA phospholipid fatty acid
- PMCA protein misfolding cyclic amplification
- *pmoA* particulate methane monooxygenase

 PrP^{BSE} – an infectious prion that causes bovine spongiform encephalopathy in cattle

PrP^C – a normal cellular prion that is susceptible to proteinase K digestion

PrP^{CJD} – an infectious prion that causes Creutzfeldt-Jackob disease in human

PrP^{CWD} – an infectious prion that causes chronic wasting disease in deer and elk

PrP^{Sc} – an infectious prion that causes scrapie in sheep and goats

 PrP^{TSE} – an infectious prion that causes transmissible spongiform encephalopathy and is resistant to PK digestion

 PrP^{263K} – a hamster-adapted prion infected from scrapie (strain 263K)

- PTA sodium phosphotungstic acid
- qPCR quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- RNA ribonucleic acid
- SDS sodium dodecyl sulphate
- SRM specified risk material
- $TC-total\ carbon$
- TN total nitrogen
- TSE transmissible spongiform encephalopathy
- UPGMA unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average
- USEPA United States Environmental Protection Agency
- VFA volatile fatty acid
- WB Western blotting

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Composting

1.1.1 Concept of composting and typical composting process

Composting is a natural biological process of decomposition and stabilization of organic matter under conditions that allow development of thermophilic temperatures in a predominantly aerobic environment (Haug 1993; Keener et al. 1993). It is a common technology believed to have been used for centuries to recycle agricultural and horticultural residuals, such as animal manure and plant residues, and manage diverse organic waste produced by urban life (Rynk 1992; Kutzner 2000). Generally, the product of composting is sufficiently stable and free of pathogens and plant seeds for storage and land application (Haug 1993). Research has indicated that the composting process provides an inexpensive and technologically straightforward solution for management of some hazardous industrial wastes, inactivation of pathogens, and remediation of contaminated soils (Civilini et al. 1996; Diaz et al. 1996; Turner et al. 2004).

The composting process can be described in many ways. Figure 1-1 shows a typical temperature curve as a function of composting time. The shape of the curve varies with the substrates being composted and the composting method. There are two major composting stages, active composting and curing. The temperature zones can be divided into mesophilic and thermophilic stages. There is no precise definition of mesophilic and thermophilic, but mesophilic generally refers to temperatures up to approximately 40°C, and thermophilic to

1

temperatures from 40°C up to 70°C (Miller 1996). The active composting stage accelerates the decomposition of organic matter while at the same time creating an environment that is unsuitable for the survival of most pathogens (Xu et al. 2009a). High temperatures (i.e., > 50°C) can persist for days or weeks depending on the characteristics and quantity of the substrate and availability of oxygen (Haug 1993). When easily degradable organic substrates are depleted, the microbial activity and compost temperature decline. As a result, the composting process enters the curing phase in which the compost turns to relatively stable nutrient content and alters microbial communities. The duration of the curing process varies from weeks to months. During curing, the carbon compounds are less susceptible to mineralization so that it is difficult to detect changes over short periods of time (Epstein 1997). Contents of mineral N and humic acids continue to increase, improving the value of compost for agricultural or horticultural use (Goyal et al. 2005; Chen et al. 1996; Fauci et al. 1999).

After the curing phase, compost gradually comes to mature. To be considered mature, CCME (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment) (2005) suggest that the compost shall be cured for a minimum of 21 days and meet one of the following three requirements: (1) the respiration rate is \leq 400 mg of oxygen per kilogram of organic matter per hour; (2) the CO₂ evolution rate is \leq 4 mg of carbon in the form of CO₂ per gram of organic matter per day; (3) the temperature rise of the compost above ambient temperature is less than 8°C.

1.1.2 Parameters affecting composting process

1.1.2.1 Temperature

Heat production during composting is almost completely derived from microbial metabolism. Thus, compost temperature is a measurable indicator of microbial activity, because it changes in direct response to heat production (Kutzner 2000). The time-temperature relationships affect the rate of decomposition of organic matter. Temperature can therefore be used to assess the progress of decomposition and thus the performance of a composting system (Yu et al. 2008). Temperature, in any system, is rarely uniform throughout the composting mass with the center of the mass tending to be hotter than the peripheral edge.

There have been some controversial discussions as to the optimal compost temperature. Previous literature indicate that the optimum temperature for composting is about 50-60°C (Epstein 1997). However, it may be that there is no optimum temperature for all compost substrates as the available substrates are diverse (e.g., agricultural wastes, municipal garbage, sewage sludge) and exhibit varying optimal temperatures for decomposition (Epstein 1997). A certain level of temperature for a period of time is required to render pathogens in wastes nonviable. Guidelines from CCME (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment) (2005) and USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) (1995) both suggest that the temperatures for all compost feedstock sources should reach or exceed 55°C for at least 15 consecutive days in windrows that are turned three times, and 3 consecutive days in confined or in-vessel composters.

1.1.2.2 Oxygen and aeration

Oxygen is essential for aerobic microbial activity during composting. Typically, oxygen consumption increases early in the composting process and declines as the composting process proceeds. For optimal composting, oxygen concentrations should not be below 5% (Strom et al. 1980) with levels greater than 10% being ideal in order to avoid anaerobic conditions and the generation of undesirable odours (Kutzner 2000). De Bertoldi et al. (1983) recommended concentrations of oxygen as high as 18%, whereas Suler and Finstein (1977) found no difference in composting efficiency between oxygen concentrations of 10% and 18%. Regardless of aeration methods used in composting system, it has been suggested that anaerobic microenvironments can develop, enabling anaerobic processes to occur (Atkinson et al. 1996). Thus, in practice, composting is not entirely an aerobic process (Kutzner 2000). Atkinson et al. (1996) estimated that almost 1% of bacteria found in aerobic municipal solid waste compost are anaerobic. An adequate supply of oxygen gives the more efficient aerobes a competitive advantage over the anaerobes and avoids the generation of offensive odours that are produced primarily by the anaerobic microbial populations (e.g., hydrogen sulphide).

In general, three primary methods are employed to provide oxygen during composting: physical turning of the substrate, convective air flow and mechanical aeration (Epstein 1997). Oxygen reaches microbial cells, either by convection and/or diffusion within the free air space, as well as through dissolution in the liquid phase (Kutzner 2000). Oxygen concentrations in compost vary with aeration method, the porosity and the moisture content of the substrate. These

4

factors can influence the movement of air within compost and thus the availability of oxygen (Rynk 1992).

1.1.2.3 Moisture

Moisture plays an essential role in supporting the metabolism of compost microbes as they can utilize only those organic molecules that are dissolved in water (Kutzner 2000). In addition, water provides a medium for chemical reaction, nutrient transportation, and microbial motility. Thus, moisture can affect microbial activity and rate of decomposition in compost (Epstein 1997). The moisture content of compost is a balance of water production as a result of the biological oxidation of organic matter and water loss through evaporation. However, the heat and air flow generated during composting evaporate significantly more water than is produced and as a result the compost matrix becomes drier as composting proceeds (Nakasaki et al. 1987). The changes of moisture during composting are rather complex, varying with composting methods, bulking agents and composting substrates (De Bertoldi et al. 1982; Oppenheimer et al. 1997). Optimum moisture content is also essential to achieve high temperatures during composting. Wiley and Pierce (1955) determined that moisture content in municipal solid waste of 55 to 69% (wet basis) produces the highest temperature during composting with temperatures being lower either below or above this moisture range. In practice, moisture contents of compost materials ranging between 40% and 65% generally result in adequate composting of most substrates (Rynk 1992). Below 40%, microbial activity declines, a condition that can be overcome through the addition of water. When moisture

exceeds 65%, air flow in compost is limited and anaerobic conditions can develop. However, composting may be feasible even if the moisture content exceeds the recommended limit. Leonard et al. (1997) observed that a sludgestraw-sawdust mixture could be successfully composted even though it had a moisture content of 80%, but subsequent disturbance of this mixture resulted in loss of porosity. Thus, moisture management is required to provide sufficient water to encourage microbial activity while still permitting adequate oxygen supply and sufficient structure (Richard et al. 2002).

1.1.2.4 Porosity

Porosity, bulk density, particle density, air filled porosity, and free air space are common terms cited in the composting literature to describe the physical nature of the composting matrix (Alburquerque et al. 2008). All of these factors influence the efficiency of composting by altering aeration. Adequate porosity in compost is necessary to prevent oxygen depletion and the maintenance of aerobic conditions. Since microbes grow primarily on the surface of compost particles (Nakasaki et al. 1986), the availability of substrate for microbial growth is dependent on the surface area of particles. Consequently, the larger surface area of small particles usually accelerates the composting process. However, smaller particle size can reduce the degree of porosity, leading to anaerobic conditions and failure of the composting process (Agnew and Leonard 2003). For optimum performance of the composting process, the free air space should account for 20-30% of the total volume of compost (Kutzner 2000) and particle size should range

6

from 3 to 50 mm (Rynk 1992). In practice, compost porosity can be controlled by adding raw materials or by grinding.

Materials added to adjust the porosity are referred to as bulking agents. Bulking agents can correct deficient physical properties, enhance aeration and improve composting performance (Haug 1993; Chang and Chen 2010; Gea et al. 2007; Adhikari et al. 2008). This is because most waste materials such as sewage sludge, food waste and animal manure, have moisture contents that are too high or C/N ratios that are too low for optimal composting, and bulking agent can also serve to add carbon.

Compost porosity varies with location within a pile or windrow. Generally, samples from the bottom of the pile are more compressed and have higher bulk densities (Schaub-Szabo and Leonard 1999; Mu and Leonard 1999). During the course of composting, porosity is influenced by the compressibility of initial materials and the loss of organic matter (Randle and Flegg 1985; Van Ginkle et al. 1999). Van Ginkle et al. (1999) suggested that over time, compaction has a greater influence on bulk density than organic matter degradation.

1.1.2.5 Nutrients and C/N ratio

Carbon and nitrogen are the primary nutrients required by the microbes involved in composting. Carbon is provided to the microbes from decomposing organic matter. Generally, the microbes digest carbon as an energy source and utilize carbon for cellular growth via aerobic respiration (Epstein 1997). Most animal manure has high levels of nitrogen, but low levels of carbon depending on the amount and type of bedding material used. Softwood shavings, sawdust and straw are good sources of carbon (Larney et al. 2008). Other inexpensive sources of carbon include municipal waste and shredded newsprint or cardboard (Rynk 1992).

Microbes need nitrogen for protein synthesis. Bacteria may contain 7% to 11% nitrogen (dry weight basis) and fungi from 4% to 6% (Anderson 1956). As cells die, their stored nitrogen becomes available to living cells (Bishop and Godfrey 1983). Composting materials blended to provide a C/N ratio of 25:1 to 30:1 are ideal for active composting as microbes required 20 to 25 times more carbon than nitrogen to sustain active growth. If the C/N ratio is too high, nitrogen limits microbial cellular growth, reducing the decomposition of plant carbohydrates such as hemicellulose and cellulose (Eiland et al. 2001).

Low C/N ratios in the compost under alkaline conditions can result in the excess nitrogen volatilization in the form of ammonia (Epstein 1997). The loss of nitrogen reduces the value of compost as a fertilizer for land application. Meanwhile, the excess ammonium may produce alkaline conditions that inhibit the production of ligninolytic enzymes and further diminish the amount of carbon available for utilization by microbes (Eiland et al. 2001).

1.1.2.6 pH

The preferred pH for composting is in the range of 6.5-8.0 (Rynk 1992). However, composting may proceed effectively over a range of pH without limiting the process because of its natural buffering capacity. Compost pH affects the growth of microorganisms with bacterial growth often being optimal near neutral pH. De Bertoldi et al. (1983) showed that fungi typically grow better in a mildly acidic environment, although they can often tolerate a wide range of pH (Tuomela et al. 2000). Most actinobacteria tolerate a higher pH than fungi with their optimal growth occurring at a pH between 7 and 8 (Fermor et al. 1979).

The pH does not remain constant during the composting process. The pH is influenced by the decomposition of substrates as well as other factors such as aeration. Anaerobic conditions can produce fermentation products, such as volatile fatty acids (VFA) that can lower compost pH (Beck-Friis et al. 2000; Eklind et al. 1997). The formation and decomposition of VFA strongly affects the pH in the compost and slurries (Beck-Friis et al. 2003; Paul and Beauchamp 1989). At the beginning of the mesophilic composting stage, pH may decrease slightly due to the formation of VFA even in a well aerated condition (Kutzner 2000). This may be followed by an increase in pH caused by the decomposition of proteins and the liberation of vFA due to the high temperature. During the latter stage of composting, the volatilization of NH₃ and nitrification may again result in a decline in compost pH.

1.1.2.7 Electrical conductivity

Electrical conductivity (EC) gives an indication of the total salt (or electrolyte) content of the compost and, consequently, is of interest to end users from a plant nutrient perspective (Wilson 1983; Epstein 1997). Ringer (1997) showed that EC of the water extract from manure compost was in the range of 0.7 to 1.5 mS cm⁻¹ and had no phytotoxic effects on plants grown in a compost-soil mixture. Epstein (1997) suggests that EC levels in excess of 5 mS cm⁻¹ may lead to phytotoxicity.

Raviv et al. (1987) and Inbar et al. (1993) observed a drop in EC early in the composting process, but a steady increase as composting proceeded. They explained that the initial drop was due to the fixing of ammonia and other nutrient ions by the microbial population, while the subsequent increase in EC was attributed to the increase of mineral concentration as organic matter continued to be decomposed. Increase of compost EC value is widely reported in the literature and was found to be highly correlated with time of composting (Larney and Olson 2006; Grebus et al. 1994). Therefore, EC could be one of the parameters potentially used as an indicator of compost maturity.

1.1.3 Dynamics of organic matter degradation

Organic matter has been defined as seven major elements, including carbohydrates and sugar, protein, fats, hemicellulose, cellulose, lignin and mineral matter (MacCarthy et al. 1990). The rate of microbial decomposition of organic matters varies among these sources (Stentiford 1993). Usually, sugars, starch, lipids, amino acids and nucleic acids are readily biodegraded. Hemicellulose, cellulose, and chitin degrade at a slower rate. The third group is much more resistant to biodegradation, consisting of lignin and lignocellulose.

The composition of organic matter in the compost depends considerably on the source of substrate selected for the composting process. For example, composition of livestock manure depends on the type of livestock and the diet they are fed (Gray et al. 1971). Similarly, composition of degradable carbon in plant materials depends on the source (e.g., straw vs. wood) or age (fresh vs. old) (Larney et al. 2008). Knowledge of the composition of these materials to be composted is important for the composting design. For example, mixing high protein materials with cellulolytic materials adjusts the C/N ratio to a value that is more favorable for the microbial growth.

1.1.4 Gas emissions during composting

Aerobic decomposition from well managed composting results in the emission of CO_2 and H_2O . The emission of CO_2 from the compost is a result of the microbial respiration. Measuring either CO_2 evolution or O_2 depletion has been used to estimate the degree of microbial activity in compost (Manios and Balis 1983; Nakasaki et al. 1985) and are positively correlated with organic matter decomposition (Ntougias et al. 2006). However, measurement of the fluxes of these gases does not provide the information on specific enzyme activities or the taxonomic nature of microbial communities in compost.

Another carbon compound gas emitted from compost is CH_4 . The net CH_4 emission is determined by the activities of methanogen and methanotroph communities in the compost (Thummes et al. 2007; Halet et al. 2006). Due to the heterogeneous nature of a compost pile, CH_4 can be generated by methanogens in anaerobic microniches within the compost pile (Brown and Subler 2007). However, studies have shown that the majority of the CH_4 is oxidized to CO_2 by methanotrophs in aerobic regions near the surface of the compost pile, resulting in negligible CH_4 emissions (Zeman et al. 2002; Brown and Leonard 2004). However, this claim is refuted by Amlinger et al. (2008), who reported considerable CH_4 emission in a laboratory-scale composter. In windrow composting systems, Hellmann et al. (1997) and Hao et al. (2001) also observed high CH_4 emission in the first 20 days with negligible emissions occurring after 30 days.

Ammonia emission is the main form of nitrogen loss during composting (Hellebrand and Kalk 2001). During composting, organic nitrogen is mineralized and released as soluble NH_4^+ . The soluble NH_4^+ is volatile as NH_3 during the first few days or weeks of composting, when compost pH and temperature are high (Hao and Benke 2008). Bishop and Godfrey (1983) observed that about 50 to 90% of all NH₃ losses occurred during the first few weeks of sludge composting. Under aerobic conditions, NH_4^+ can be oxidized to NO_2^- and subsequently to $NO_3^$ by a nitrification process. Some evidence indicated that ammonia-oxidizing microbial communities are responsible for this process in compost (Jarvis et al. 2009). However, high temperature and elevated NH_3 level inhibit the growth of ammonia-oxidizing microbial communities during the early composting, leading to a low concentration of NO_3^- (Bustamante et al. 2008). When temperature drops at the latter composting, the increase of nitrification enhances NO₃⁻ and lowers NH_4^+ (Tiquia et al. 2002). Under aerobic conditions, NO_3^- is stable, but under anaerobic conditions, NO₃⁻ is denitrified by denitrifier community to N₂O and N₂ (Maeda et al. 2010). However, N loss in the form of N_2O is much lower than NH_3 (Parkinson et al. 2004).

1.2 Microbiology of composting

1.2.1 Dynamics of microbial communities during composting

Microbial communities in compost evolve during the composting process as determined by the selective pressures of temperature, moisture, nutrient supply and substrate characteristics. Efficiency of the composting process depends on the activity of diverse microbial communities, such as bacteria and fungi (Kutzner 2000; Haug 1993). Microbial diversity and the succession of populations is a prerequisite to ensure adequate degradation of organic matter (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). Generally, at the start of mesophilic composting stage, diverse populations of mesophilic and/or thermotolerant bacteria and fungi are predominant and primarily responsible for the degradation of soluble and easily degradable carbon sources. Subsequently, elevated temperature and increase of pH caused by ammonification are favourable for bacteria that out-compete fungi within a few hours or days. During this composting stage, bacteria have a competitive advantage over fungi to generate a board range of enzymes to degrade a variety of organic matter (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). Consequently, mesophilic bacteria are responsible for most of initial metabolic activity that contributes to initial temperature increase. When the temperature increases above 40° C, thermophilic bacteria begin to dominate in the compost. The higher temperature accelerates the decomposition of organic matter and creates an environment that is unsuitable for the survival of most human and plant pathogens (Kutzner 2000). However, overall bacterial diversity decreases during the thermophilic stage (Fogarty and Tuovinen 1991). As the composting process nears completion, microbial activity is reduced

and less heat is generated. Mesophilic microbes start to re-colonise remaining substrates and continue the composting process until curing. Some diverse bacteria and fungi favour the lower water content and are responsible for the degradation of recalcitrate substrates, such as lignocellulose (Ryckeboer et al. 2003).

1.2.2 Current techniques for studying microbial ecology in compost

Research on compost microbiology has employed traditional approaches of microbial cultivation including quantitative estimation and isolation of the microbes using selective media and growing conditions. Isolates obtained have been subject to both morphological and biochemical characterization in an effort to understand their role within the microbial ecosystem responsible for composting (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). However, traditional microbiological techniques are limited in that the identification and classification of microbes using this procedure can be expensive and time consuming. Furthermore, a large proportion of the microbes in compost are unculturable in the laboratory due to lack information on the culture conditions required to facilitate their isolation (Amann et al. 1995). Therefore, alternative culture-independent approaches have been used to gain a better understanding of the diversity of microbes involved in the composting process.

1.2.2.1 Phospholipid fatty acid analysis

One method of investigating the changes of the microbial community during composting is phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) analysis, and it is regarded as a sensitive and reliable method to qualitatively and quantitatively assess the changes of biomass and microbial diversity (Zelles 1999; Ramsey et al. 2006). The rationale of this method is that phospholipids within the membranes of most microorganisms rapidly turn over and different microbial communities differ in their phospholipid fatty acid composition (Petersen and Klug 1994; Lei and VanderGheynst 2000). Therefore, total PLFA in environmental samples can be used to estimate the quantity of microbial biomass, and to gain an understanding of the major groups of microorganisms (i.e., fungi, actinobacteria, Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria) present in compost. However, the technique has a limited ability to differentiate microbes at the species level (Klamer and Bååth 1998; Bolta et al. 2003). In addition, PLFA analysis also provides a statistically powerful method to demonstrate the impact of various composting treatments on the changes in the microbial community (Ramsey et al. 2006).

Phospholipid fatty acid analysis has been used to monitor shifts in microbial communities during composting. For example, a study by Amir et al. (2008) utilized PLFA analysis as an indicator to characterize microbial communities (i.e., Gram positive bacteria, Gram negative bacteria, and fungi) during composting of sewage sludge and straw. They found that Gram negative bacteria decreased during the thermophilic composting phase, and that fungi as opposed to bacteria were responsible for the majority of organic matter decomposition during the maturation mesophilic composting phase. Kato and Miura (2008) employed PLFA analysis to observe the succession of bacterial communities in a windrow composting system was accelerated after inoculation of 4-moth matured cattle

15

manure compost, and indicated that PLFA analysis can be an indicator for evaluating the maturity of cattle manure compost.

1.2.2.2 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis

The development of molecular fingerprinting techniques provides a pattern or profile of the genetic diversity in a microbial community on the basis of the physical separation of unique nucleic acid sequences (Muyzer and Smalla 1998). The general strategy for this technique consists of (a) the extraction of nucleic acids, (b) the amplification of target genes by polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and (c) the analysis of PCR products by molecular fingerprinting techniques, such as denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE).

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) separates DNA fragments of identical length, but with different nucleotide sequences (Pedro et al. 2001). Separation of DNA fragments in DGGE is based on the decreased electrophoresis mobility of partially melted double-stranded DNA molecules in polyacrylamide gels containing a linear gradient of DNA denaturants. The DNA fragments with different sequences may have different melting behaviour and therefore stop migrating at different positions in a gradient gel. Excision and sequencing of the DGGE bands further provides information on the microbial species present in the community of interest (Muyzer 1999). Muyzer et al. (1993) revealed that the DGGE process can detect microbial members that account for as little as 1% of the total community. Despite the high sensitive detection for DGGE, Buchholz-Cleven et al. (1997) demonstrated that DGGE is not always possible to separate the DNA sequences differing in two to three nucleotides under the electrophoretic conditions they used, probably leading to multiple sequences in a single DGGE band. Furthermore, short DNA fragments (up to 500 bp) may lack the sequence variability needed to differentiate members of the microbial community at the species level (Muyzer and Smalla 1998). Other factors such as the presence of multiple *rrN* operons within a single species may contribute to multiple bands in the DGGE display, overestimating community diversity (Nübel et al. 1996).

In practice, DGGE is being employed increasingly in the field of compost microbiology to provide rapid and reliable results, despite the above limitations. The succession of the main microbial communities (i.e., bacteria and fungi) by targeting ribosomal genes during composting have been revealed and identified by DGGE (Steger et al. 2007; Novinscak et al. 2009). Also, DGGE can be used for targeting non-ribosomal genes in compost and detecting the presence of microbial populations of biochemical interest. For instance, Maeda et al. (2010) monitored the emissions of N₂O in composted cattle manure and linked the dynamics of denitrifying microbial communities using the gene coding for N₂O reductase. Cahyani et al. (2009) employed DGGE to examine T4-type bacteriophage communities by targeting the capsid gene (g23) in a rice straw compost pile and evaluated the effect of bacterial succession on bacteriophage communities during composting.

1.2.2.3 Quantitative PCR

The application of PCR in combination with the extraction of nucleic acids (DNA or RNA) from environmental matrices has been central to the development of culture-independent approaches in microbial ecology. Quantitative PCR (qPCR

or real-time PCR) combines the detection of target genes in the environment with quantification by using fluorescence to estimate the amplification rate of a PCR product and relating it to a standard curve constructed from known amounts of the target gene (Smith 2005). Quantitative PCR has been shown to be a robust, highly reproducible and sensitive method to quantitatively track the changes of the phylogenetic and functional gene or the levels of gene expression across temporal and spatial scales within the environment (Smith and Osborn 2009).

However, some biological and methodological factors can affect the quantification of genes from environmental samples. The method used for nucleic acid extraction and extraction efficiencies can be a major determinant on the final quantification of the target (Martin-Laurent et al. 2001). Various extraction protocols used for different environmental samples and within different laboratories make direct comparison of absolute gene numbers between studies extremely problematic. Therefore, the generation and comparison of absolute gene numbers can only be considered within a single reaction and using the same standard curve (Smith et al. 2006). Also, the numbers from environmental samples can not be converted to cell numbers as the copy number of genes may vary among microbial species (Klappenbach et al. 2000). Furthermore, the presence of PCR inhibitors in extracted DNA may affect subsequent qPCR as the gene isolated from the environment and the target gene used to generate the standard curve may not have equivalent amplification efficiencies (Stults et al. 2001).

Most applications of qPCR in compost have been for the quantification of pathogens, such as *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Clostridium perfringens*, and *Salmonella spp.*, during the composting process (Inglis et al. 2010; Karpowicz et al. 2010; De Clercq et al. 2007). In addition, qPCR has been employed to detect the abundance and/or the activity of the microbial communities in the compost. For example, Halet et al. (2006) used qPCR to observe that the activity of the methanotroph population declined during the thermophilic stage, subsequently increased to the maximum and finally declined during the mature stage in a 200 L lab-scale composter, by quantifying the copy numbers of reverse transcribed methanotroph 16S rRNA. Although qPCR has shown great promise in evaluating the microbial ecology of complex environmental samples (Smith and Osborn 2009), this technique has not been widely employed to study composting microbiology.

1.3 Specified risk material and prions

1.3.1 Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy

Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE) is a fatal neurodegenerative disease that includes scrapie in sheep and goats, chronic wasting disease (CWD) in deer and elk, bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in cattle, and Creutzfeldt-Jackob disease (CJD) in humans. The cause of TSE is a protein conformational change in which a normal prion protein found in the body (PrP^C) transforms into an infectious prion protein (PrP^{TSE}) (Prusiner 1998).

1.3.2 PrP^C and PrP^{TSE}

Normal prion protein (PrP^C) is attached to the outer surface of the plasma membrane by a glycosylphosphatidyl inositol anchor. It is readily released from the cell surface by cleavage with phosphatidyl inositol-specific phospholipase C and is highly susceptible to proteinase K (PK) digestion (Weissmann 2004). Infectiou prion protein (PrP^{TSE}) was originally defined as a form of prion protein that was largely resistant to PK digestion under conditions in which PrP^C and most other proteins were readily degraded (Meyer et al. 1986). Importantly, digestion of PrP^{TSE} by PK causes cleavage at residues 87 to 91 (the exact position depends on the prion strain) of the mature prion protein sequence, leading to a characteristic electrophoretic mobility shift of the three bands that correspond to di-, mono- and unglycosylated species (Weissmann 2004). Normal prion protein, PrP^{C} , can be converted into PrP^{TSE} through a process whereby a portion of its α helical and coil structure is refolded into a β -sheet (Prusiner 1998). Pan et al. (1993) showed that PrP^{C} contains about 40% α -helix and little β -sheet, whereas PrP^{TSE} is composed of about 30% α -helix and 45% β -sheet. Nevertheless, these two prion proteins have the same amino acid sequence (Prusiner 1998). This structural transition is accompanied by profound changes in the physicochemical properties. All the prion proteins discussed in this thesis are designated in List of Abbreviations (Prefatory pages).

Two models have been hypothesized for the conversion of PrP^{C} to PrP^{TSE} as reviewed by Weissmann (2004). One is known as a virus model, postulating that the infectious agent consists of a TSE-specific nucleic acid associated with or packaged in PrP^{TSE}. The other one is a protein model, which postulates that exogenous PrP^{TSE} causes catalytic conversion of PrP^C to PrP^{TSE}, either at the cell surface or after internalization. More evidence has provided the support for the protein model, as PrP^{TSE} is devoid of nucleic acid and resistant to the conventional virus inactivation (Prusiner 1998). However, the precise structure of PrP^{TSE} is not yet known, nor are the mechanisms of infection, conformational conversion and pathogenesis understood.

1.3.3 Bovine spongiform encephalopathy in Canada

As of January 2012, 19 cases of BSE had been confirmed in Canada (Dudas et al. 2010; CFIA 2012). Considering the findings in the UK and the rest of Europe, the consumption of BSE contaminated meat and bone meal was the most likely cause of the first case of BSE in Canada. Other possible causes of BSE have been proposed for a number of years including: spontaneous mutation of PrP^C to PrP^{BSE}, or exposure to another PrP^{TSE}, such as PrP^{Sc} and PrP^{CWD}. However, there is little scientific evidence or data to support these theories.

Classical or typical BSE cases (C- type) that occurred as part of outbreaks in the UK, Europe and Japan were believed to be caused by the consumption of contaminated feeds (Nicholson et al. 2008). Atypical BSE (H- and L-type) refer to cases of BSE that do not fit the typical C type pattern of the disease as documented by differences in histology, site of accumulation and molecular weight (Yamakawa et al. 2003; Béringue et al. 2006; Capobianco et al. 2007). Up to date, atypical types of BSE have been identified in Europe, Japan, the United States and Canada (Terry et al. 2007; Hagiwara et al. 2007; Richt et al. 2007;
Dudas et al. 2010). The origins of atypical BSE are unknown. However, it has been speculated that atypical BSE may be sporadic or genetically caused, and indeed, strong evidence for a causative role of genetic mutations has been found in at least one case (Richt and Hall 2008).

In Canada, only two BSE cases exhibited molecular weight and glycoform profiles similar to those of previously reported for atypical cases described from Europe, Japan and the USA, one corresponding to H-type BSE and the other to Ltype BSE. All other cases were classified as C-type (Dudas et al. 2010). Thus, BSE prevalence in Canada follows the trend with low occurrence of atypical BSE cases, reflecting that most cases of BSE in Canada have arisen from the consumption of contaminated feed (Dudas et al. 2010).

1.3.4 Specified risk material

As a consequence of the occurrence of BSE, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) introduced a feed ban in 1997 that outlawed feeding of meat and bone meal derived from ruminants back to ruminants. Subsequent to this feed ban, CFIA introduced regulations in 2003 for the removal of specified risk material (SRM) from entering the food chain. Specified risk material refers to specific body tissues known to be at risk of harbouring PrP^{BSE}, including the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine tonsils, spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia of cattle aged 30 months or older, as well as the distal ileum of cattle of all ages (CFIA 2010). On July 12, 2007, CFIA implemented an enhanced feed ban that bans SRM from all animal feeds, pet foods and fertilizers.

1.3.5 Current methods for specified risk material disposal

It is estimated that there are approximately 250,000 tonnes of SRM generated in Canada annually (Gilroyed et al. 2010). Alberta is estimated to produce 74,000 tonnes per year of SRM, including dead stock (Alberta Agricultural Research Institute 2005). Proper disposal of carcasses and SRM is important both to prevent livestock disease transmission, and to protect air and water quality. Currently, the majority of SRM are rendered and then disposed of in landfills, which is both uneconomical and a poor environmental practice (Ayalon et al. 2001; Ma et al. 2007). Consequently, alternative and safe methods of SRM disposal are needed in an attempt to derive value from SRM generated within Canada.

1.3.6 Current and potential methods for PrP^{TSE} inactivation

However, the disposal of SRM infected with PrP^{TSE} are challenging, as the infectivity of PrP^{TSE} exhibits resistance to inactivation by a wide range of physicochemical methods, commonly used for microorganisms, nucleic acids, and proteins, including strong alkali solutions, chaotrophic salts, alcohols, oxidizing agents, radiation, and heat (Ernst and Race 1993; Taylor 2000). This may be because PrP^{TSE} typically exist as large aggregates, a self-protecting arrangement that may be particularly resistant to chemical inactivation (Hörnlimann et al. 2007).

Currently, there are several effective methods for the inactivation of PrP^{TSE} in the laboratories (Table 1-1). Among the chemical disinfectants that are effective at inactivating PrP^{TSE}, a 1-hour disinfection with 2 N sodium hydroxide is best suited for surfaces and materials that can not be autoclaved, but can resist alkaline

treatment in the lab. Another current practice for PrP^{TSE} inactivation is autoclaving. Although the thermostability of PrP^{TSE} has been recognized (Hunter and Millson 1964), autoclaving of PrP^{TSE} -contaminated material in saturated steam at 132°C for a period of 60 minutes is sufficient to inactivate PrP^{TSE} (Hörnlimann et al. 2007). Incineration of PrP^{TSE} -contaminated material is considered the most effective method, as combustion at 1,000°C can destroy the infectivity of PrP^{TSE} . However, low infectivity remains after treatment at 600°C (Brown et al. 2004).

In Canada, several methods have been approved by CFIA for the disposal of SRM infected with PrP^{TSE}, including incineration, gasification, combustion in a cement kiln, thermal hydrolysis, and alkaline hydrolysis (Table 1-2). Incineration is the primary method of SRM disposal in Europe (Paisley and Hostrup-Pedersen 2005). Gasification is a process through which solid and liquid carbonaceous materials are converted to a combustible product gas. These gases can be combusted to provide energy or can be used for a variety of industrial applications, as SRM contains 60% to 75% of the energy content of coal (Fedorowicz et al. 2007). Thermal hydrolysis refers to a process in which biological materials are treated with high temperature (150-180°C) and high pressure (3-12 atmospheres) steam (Schieder et al. 2000). Similar to thermal hydrolysis, alkaline hydrolysis combines sodium hydroxide or potassium hydroxide with temperature $(150^{\circ}C)$ and pressure (5 atmospheres) to catalyze the hydrolysis of biological material into a sterile aqueous solution consisting of small peptides, amino acids and sugars (Murphy et al. 2009). Currently, alkaline

hydrolysis has been employed for laboratory-scale disposal of SRM in Alberta, Canada.

Recently, some evidence suggests that PrP^{TSE} may be degraded by a variety of other potential methods, such as ultraviolet-ozone and hydrogen peroxide (Table 1-3). In addition, several purified biological enzymes (Table 1-3) also have exhibited the ability to degrade recalcitrant PrP^{TSE} (Dickinson et al. 2009; Yoshioka et al. 2007; McLeod et al. 2004). However, only studies from McLeod et al. (2004) and Dickinson et al. (2009) examined the infectivity of PrP^{TSE} after enzyme digestion in mouse bioassays.

1.4 Composting of specified risk material and PrP^{TSE}

1.4.1 Application of composting for specified risk material disposal

The use of on-farm composting for the disposal of SRM is of interest because it is a relatively simple procedure, environmentally sound, and economical. Composting uses materials and equipment that are often readily available on farms. Moreover, composting is particular attractive as the temperature obtained during the process (> 55°C) is sufficient to inactive the pathogens, such as bacterial species of *Salmonella* (De Clercq et al. 2007), *Campylobacter* (Inglis et al. 2010), *Listeria* (Erickson et al. 2009), *Escherichia coli* (Xu et al. 2009a), *Clostridium* (Karpowicz et al. 2010), and zoonotic parasites, such as *Giardia* cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts (Van Herk et al. 2004), and viruses such as those responsible for foot and mouth disease (Guan et al. 2010), avian influenza and Newcastle disease (Guan et al. 2009).

Under proper management, composting appears to be a viable method of carcass disposal. Composting of carcasses using windrows, static piles, and bins or vessels has been investigated for poultry, swine, sheep and cattle (Lawson and Keeling 1999; Murray et al. 2007; Stanford et al. 2000; Xu et al. 2009a). Stanford et al. (2000) reported that sheep carcasses including keratinized wool were completely degraded in composting systems in which temperature of over 60°C was maintained for a period of 41 days. Using a ratio of five parts manure to one part cattle mortalities in a windrow composting trial, Stanford et al. (2009) demonstrated that < 1% of residual bone from cattle remained in the cured compost. Xu et al. (2009a) reported that more than 90% dry matter of bovine brain disappeared after 7 days and 80 % dry matter of bovine hoof decomposed after 56 days in a biosecure composting system. Also, in the same composting system, Xu et al. (2009b) demonstrated a 99% reduction in genomic DNA of composted bovine tissue and > 93% reduction of bovine mitochondrial DNA to prove almost complete decomposition of carcass soft tissue after 147 days of composting.

Therefore, composting, when done correctly with proper attention to the design, layout, monitoring, maintenance and environmental impacts of the system, may be considered as potentially efficient and safe method of disposing of SRM in Canada.

1.4.2 Projected fate of PrP^{TSE} during composting

Composting might be an attractive alternative for the disposal of SRM or animal mortalities infected with PrP^{TSE}, as methods currently used are impractical

on farm. Recent evidence has indicated that several microbial proteinases exhibit the ability to degrade recalcitrant PrP^{TSE} (Table 1-3). The source for those enzymes has been previously found in compost microbial species (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). The optimal conditions (alkaline pH and 50-60°C) for enzymes with the ability of high degradation of PrP^{TSE} are feasible in the composting process. Also, the period of time that PrP^{TSE} would be exposed to enzymatic activity during composting was far more than the duration of exposure of PrP^{TSE} to these proteases required for degradation (i.e., weeks to months vs. minutes to hours). Generally, the more complex the substrate, the more extensive and comprehensive is the enzyme system required to achieve degradation (Tuomela et al. 2000; Golueke 1992). Therefore, compost could be an effective ecosystem for the inactivation of PrP^{TSE} as a wide range of enzymes are produced by complex microbial consortia. Up to date, only Huang et al. (2007) reported that PrP^{Sc} was near or below the Western blotting detection limit by directly testing scrapieinfected tissues left after 108-148 days of composting.

1.4.3 Characteristics of PrP^{TSE} in the environment

Infectious prion protein (PrP^{TSE}) may enter the environment through a number of routes. First, PrP^{TSE} may enter through shedding from infected hosts. It has been shown that PrP^{Sc} and PrP^{CWD} can be shed in urine (Seeger et al. 2005), feces (Safar et al. 2008), saliva and blood (Mathiason et al. 2006). A second route of entry is through animal mortalities, including those of farmed sheep, goats and cervids as well as of free-ranging cervids. For example, during the early years of the BSE outbreak in the United Kingdom (1988–1991), it is estimated that 6,000

carcasses that were suspected of having BSE were disposed of in 59 landfill sites (Saunders et al. 2008a). Another potential route of entry may be via solid or liquid waste generated in rendering plants and slaughterhouses that are unknowingly processing infected carcasses (Hinckley et al. 2008).

Generally, various proteins have been observed to be strong, fast and irreversible adsorption to a wide range of particle surfaces (Brash and Horbett. 1995). As with other proteins, PrP^{TSE} adsorption is most likely a function of electrostatic attractions and repulsions and hydrophobic interactions. Because the N-terminal domain is known to be flexibly-disordered and contain a high number of positively-charged amino acids, it may play a significant role in electrostatic attraction to negatively-charged mineral surfaces (Revault et al. 2005). It is known that PrP^{TSE} is highly insoluble and aggregated. The hydrophobic interactions could therefore also play a larger role in PrP^{TSE} adsorption (Saunders et al. 2008a). However, since the three-dimensional structure of PrP^{TSE} remains unknown, it is a challenge to model the specific mechanisms that are responsible for PrP^{TSE} adsorption.

Infectious prion protein (PrP^{TSE}) enters the environment concurrently with the adsorption to the organic matter from the host. For example, in the wastewater system, PrP^{TSE} are unlikely to be transported long distances in surface water as it has been shown that both hamster PrP^{TME} and PrP^{BSE} tend to strongly associate with the sludge solids (Hinckley et al. 2008; Kirchmayr et al. 2006). In the soil, PrP^{Sc} and PrP^{263K} have been known to remain infectious for years (Seidel et al. 2007; Brown and Gajdusek 1991). Similarly, the strong adsorption of PrP^{TSE} to

soil particles may also result in the limited PrP^{TSE} mobility in soil (Cooke and Shaw 2007). To date, the persistence of various types of PrP^{TSE} is being explored. By incubating infectious brain homogenate at 37°C for up to 1 month, PrP^{CWD} was shown to be greater resistant to degradation than hamster PrP^{TME} as observed by Western blotting (Saunders et al. 2008b). After the exposure to SDS (sodium dodecyl sulphate), PrP^{BSE} was 10- and 10⁶-fold more resistant to inactivation than PrP^{CJD} and hamster-adapted PrP^{Sc} via an infectivity titer in transgenic mouse (Giles et al. 2008). In anaerobic sludge, the stability of PrP^{BSE} was observed to be higher than mouse-adapted PrP^{Sc} under 55°C for 12 days as indicated by Western blotting (Kirchmayr et al. 2006). All these stable characteristics of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} in the environment may directly impact or promote TSE transmissibility and pathogenesis. However, the consequences of PrP^{TSE} adsorption in the environment, including the conformational changes that may impact TSE infectivity, altered bioavailability or uptake by animal, and protection from enzymatic, chemical or physical degradation, are poorly understood (Saunders et al. 2008a).

1.4.4 Potential methods for PrP^{TSE} detection in compost

Highly-sensitive and accurate detection of PrP^{TSE} quantification and infectivity in compost environments present a significant challenge. This is because the compost environment is an exceedingly complex system, owning to higher temperatures, complex enzymes activities and dynamic changes in microbial communities. Once PrP^{TSE} enter the compost environment, they are exposed to or involved in a wide variety of biological, chemical and physical mechanisms that can influence PrP^{TSE} existence. For example, solution pH, ionic concentration and humic acids have been reported to influence PrP^{TSE} adsorption (Ma et al. 2007; Polano et al. 2008). The factors can be largely altered during composting and possibly impede the detection of PrP^{TSE} in compost. Moreover, PrP^{TSE} adsorption in the environment is irreversible and not readily mobilized. Sarkosyl (sodium-laurylsarcosinate) and SDS have the ability to release PrP^{TSE} bound to soil (Cooke et al. 2007; Seidel et al. 2007). Therefore, most common methods for the measurement of PrP^{TSE} associated with infected tissues may not be directly suitable for detection of PrP^{TSE} in complex matrices such as compost.

Several methods have been applied to detect PrP^{TSE} in complex environments, such as soil. These methods could be potentially used for detection of PrP^{TSE} in compost. Methods for PrP^{TSE} extraction from soil have been focused on using detergents and boiling to dissociate PrP^{TSE} into solution where they are detected by immunoblotting techniques, such as Western blotting and ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay) (Cooke et al. 2007; Johnson et al. 2006). Soil bound PrP^{TSE} are usually first separated from dissociated PrP^{TSE} by lowspeed centrifugation (Johnson et al. 2006; Genovesi et al. 2007; Leita et al. 2006). Dissociated PrP^{TSE} can be then be detected by standard immunoblotting procedures. Although immunoblotting techniques are rapid and specific for PrP^{TSE}, detergent and boiling extraction methods typically have very low recoveries of bound PrP^{TSE}, presumably due to the strong and near-irreversible binding of PrP^{TSE} to soil particles. Recoveries have been reported to be 61 – 67% in wastewater sludge (Hinckley et al. 2008) and 5 - 40% for sandy and clay soils (Cooke et al. 2007; Cooke and Shaw 2007).

Reuter et al. (2009a) describe a simple and robust assay for the quantitative detection of PrP^{Sc} using immuno-quantitative real-time PCR (iQ-RT-PCR) made possible by a direct conjugate of a PrP^{Sc} -specific antibody (ICSM35) and a synthetic 99-bp DNA tail. The DNA tail was engineered to include a single ScrFI restriction site, which enabled subsequent quantification of restricted DNA tails using real-time PCR. This iQ-RT-PCR assay had a detection limit corresponding to $2.32 \times 10^2 PrP^{Sc}$ epitopes, which represented a 1000-fold increase in detection sensitivity over the commercial assay and the same sensitivity as the bioassay in transgenic mice. However, a number of substances with humic acids being the most predominant within compost are known to inhibit subsequent enzyme-based analysis of DNA, such as PCR (Reuter et al. 2009b). The high concentrations of humic acids in the compost may impede this iQ-RT-PCR analysis of PrP^{TSE} throughout composting.

Protein misfolding cyclic amplification (PMCA), in which small amounts of PrP^{TSE} can be amplified by incubating and sonicating PrP^{TSE}-containing brain homogenate diluted in normal brain homogenate (Saá et al. 2006), has generated much interest for use as a promising environmental detection method. Up to date, PMCA has been used with PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{263K} extracted from soil with SDS (Seidel et al. 2007; Kurt et al. 2007), but not with PrP^{BSE}. Recently, Nagaoka et al. (2010) developed a direct detection of PrP^{Sc} in soil to avoid the effects of inefficient extraction, which used soil-bound PrP^{Sc} to seed PMCA and provided 10^3 - 10^4 higher sensitivity than the extraction methods followed by Western blotting. However, further development of PMCA is needed for the detection of PrP^{TSE} in the compost.

Infectivity of PrP^{TSE} may be still present in the absence of detectable PrP^{TSE} (Barron et al. 2007). Thus, animal bioassay represents the golden standard for assessing TSE infectivity and involves injecting PrP^{TSE} materials into the brain of a host animal and observing for visual signs of infection. Although ruminants were used in early animal bioassays, such as sheep and goats (Cuille and Chelle 1938), animal bioassays for research were subsequently improved with the introduction of rodent-adapted PrP^{Sc} and their titration by intracranial inoculation of mice and hamsters (Marsh and Kimberlin 1975). A further breakthrough of animal bioassays was achieved by the genetic engineering of transgenic mice (Raeber et al. 1998), sensitively expressing high level of heterologous PrP^{C} (e.g., human or bovine). The results of animal bioassays are expressed in terms of infectious units (IU₅₀). One IU₅₀ represent the amount of PrP^{TSE} required to infect half the populations of test animals used in a study. Quantification is gained by either end-point titration or on the basis of the incubation period time (Prusiner et al. 1980). Animal bioassays have been applied in soil samples to test the infectivity of soil-bound PrP^{TSE}. For example, Seidel et al. (2007) used either the mixtures of soil and PrP^{263K} or the aqueous extract from those mixtures for the oral application into the hamsters to demonstrate PrP^{263K} can remain infectious in soil at least over 29 months. Furthermore, Johnson et al. (2007) observed that the hamster PrP^{TME} bound to soils increased oral transmission relative to that unbound

32

agent, by orally dosing the mixture of hamster PrP^{TME} and soil into hamster. Although the practical limitations of animal bioassay include the long incubation periods and the high expense of maintaining large numbers of animals (Klohn et al. 2003), those applications of animal bioassay in soil hold promise for the use in the future studies of PrP^{TSE} in compost as any PrP^{TSE} inactivation procedures must be validated by animal bioassay.

1.5 Conclusions

Composting may be an attractive alternative for disposal of carcases or SRM infected with PrP^{TSE}, because it combines multiple advantages, such as high temperature (> 55°C), fluctuation of pH (5.5-10), and wide range of proteolytic enzymes produced by dynamic microbial communities. The previous fundamental knowledge about the understanding of composting process, composting microbiology and composting of animal carcasses leads to a hypothesis that composting may be effective to inactive recalcitrant PrP^{TSE}.

However, the study of PrP^{TSE} in compost is highly challenging, as no other environmental pathogens have the complex structure and also the complex and dynamic characteristics owned by composting itself. Moreover, the fact that PrP^{TSE} structure is not well known and that many PrP^{TSE} analytical methods could not be well-developed adds to these challenges (Saunders et al. 2008a). To answer the questions about composting as an alternative method for disposal of SRM infected with PrP^{TSE}, it is necessary to first assess the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE} in compost at the laboratory-scale, which helps to determine whether it can be employed at full-scale. In practice, more critical importance is the ability to study PrP^{TSE} in complex composting process as determined in three aspects: (1) developing a suitable composting model enabling this approach to compost PrP^{TSE} under laboratory biocontainment conditions; (2) building a practical and reliable method to analyze the compost-associated PrP^{TSE} in compost; (3) quantifying any degree of PrP^{TSE} degradation (i.e., logarithmic reduction), and ultimately the reduction in infectivity.

1.6 Objectives of thesis

The research work discussed in this thesis aimed to address the aforementioned issues. The objectives set for this thesis were:

(1) To assess the degradation of SRM and characterize the microbial communities responsible for SRM degradation in laboratory-scale composters.

(2) To utilize the laboratory-scale composters from Objective (1) to investigate the degradation of PrP^{Sc}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} in compost under biocontainment conditions.

1.7 Outline of thesis

This thesis is presented in a paper format. The figures and tables are grouped at the end of each chapter before the bibliography. Chapter 1 provides a general literature review for this work. Chapter 2 assesses the degradation of SRM and investigates the microbial communities during composting of SRM in the laboratory-scale composters; Chapters 3 and 5 further characterize the bacterial, actinobacterial, and fungal species that could be responsible for SRM degradation in compost; In Chapter 4, a method for the detection of compost-bound PrP^{TSE} is described and applied to assess the fate of PrP^{Sc} in compost; The possible degradation of PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} in compost is further explored in Chapter 6. Results are summarized and discussed in Chapter 7, together with directions for future work.

Destruction	Required conditions	References	
methods			
Sodium hydroxide	2 N concentration at least for 1 hour	Hörnlimann et al. (2007)	
Autoclaving	134°C for 60 minutes	Hörnlimann et al. (2007)	
Incineration	1,000°C	Brown et al. (2004)	

Table 1-1 Currently recommended methods for PrP^{TSE} inactivation

Destruction methods	Required conditions	References
Incineration, gasification, combustion	1,000°C	Brown et al. (2004)
Thermal hydrolysis	180°C and 12 atmospheres	Schieder et al. (2000)
Alkaline hydrolysis	pH 14, 150°C and up to 5 atmospheres	Murphy et al. (2009)

Table 1-2 Currently approved methods for the disposal of specified risk material infected with PrP^{TSE} in Canada

Methods	Source enzymes	Source microbes	Reaction conditions	Infectivity reduction	References
Ultraviolet- ozone	N/A	N/A	8 weeks	\geq 5 log	Johnson et al. (2009)
Ozone	N/A	N/A	20°C, pH 4	$\geq 4 \log$	Ding et al. (2012)
Hydrogen peroxide	N/A	N/A	90%, 53°C	\geq 5-6 log	Rogez-Kreuz et al. (2009)
Biological enzymes	Alkaline serine proteinase	Streptomyces sp.	60°C, pH 11	N/A	Hui et al. (2004)
	MSK 103 serine proteinase	Bacillus licheniformis	50°C, pH 9	N/A	Yoshioka et al. (2007)
	Properase, protease M, Purafect Ox, Purafect	Bacillus sp.	60°C, pH 12	1-3 log	McLeod et al. (2004)
Pı K M	Protease E, Protease F	<i>Thermus</i> sp.	80°C, pH 7	N/A	McLeod et al. (2004)
	Keratinolytic protease	Thermoanaer -obacter subsp.	60°C, pH 7	N/A	Tsiroulnikov et al. (2004)
	Keratinolytic enzyme	<i>Thermosipho</i> subsp.	80°C, pH 7	N/A	Tsiroulnikov et al. (2004)
	MC3 alkaline protease	Bacillus lentus	60°C, pH 10	> 7 log	Dickinson et al. (2009)
	Proteinase K	Tritirachium album	50°C, pH 7	N/A	Langeveld et al. (2003)
	PWD-1 keratinase	Bacillus licheniformis	50°C, pH 7- 8	N/A	Langeveld et al. (2003)
	Keratinolytic protease	Nocardiopsis sp.	60°C, pH>10	N/A	Mitsuiki et al. (2006)

Table 1-3 Potentially effective methods for PrP^{TSE} inactivation

N/A, not applicable



Figure 1-1 Schematic of typical compost temperature vs. time curve.

- Adhikari, B.K., Barrington, S., Martinez, J. and King, S. 2008. Characterization of food wastes and bulking agents for composting. *Waste Manage.*, 28(5): 795-804.
- Agnew, J.M. and Leonard, J.J. 2003. The physical properties of compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 11(3): 238-264.
- Alberta Agricultural Research Institute. 2005. Strategic R&D priorities: TSE inactivation and management of bovine Specified Risk Material.
 Govenment of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada. Available at www.assembly.ab.ca/lao/library/egovdocs/2005/ala/150232.pdf. Accessed 11 March, 2012.
- Alburquerque, J.A., McCartney, D., Yu, S., Brown, L. and Leonard, J.J. 2008. Air space in composting research: a literature review. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 16(3): 159-170.
- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W. and Schleiffer, K.H. 1995. Phylogenetic identification and *in situ* detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol. Rev.*, 59: 143-169.
- Amir, S., Merlina, G., Pinelli, E., Winterton, P., Revel, J.C. and Hafidi, M. 2008.
 Microbial community dynamics during composting of sewage sludge and straw studied through phospholipids and neutral lipid analysis. *J. Haz. Mat.*, 159: 593-601.

- Amlinger, F., Peyr, S. and Cuhls, C. 2008. Greenhouse gas emissions from composting and mechanical biological treatment. *Was. Man. Res.*, 26: 47-60.
- Anderson, M.S. 1956. Compost as a means of garbage disposal. *The Soil and Crop Sci. Soc. of Florida Proc.*, 16: 134-144.
- Atkinson, C.F., Jones, D.D. and Gauthier, J.J. 1996. Putative anaerobic activity in aerated composts. *J. Ind. Microbiol.*, 16: 182-188.
- Ayalon, O., Avnimelech, Y. and Shechter, M. 2001. Solid waste treatment as a high-priority and low-cost alternative for greenhouse gas mitigation. *Environ. Manage.*, 27(5): 697-704.
- Barron, R.M., Campbell, S.L., King, D., Bellon, A., Chapman, K.E., Williamson,
 R.A. and Manson, J.C. 2007. High titers of transmissible spongiform
 encephalopathy infectivity associated with extremely low levels of PrP^{Sc} in
 vivo. *J. Bio. Chem.*, 282: 35878-86.
- Beck-Friis, B., Pell, M., Sonesson, U., Jönsson, H. and Kirchmann, H. 2000.
 Formation and emission of N₂O and CH₄ from compost heaps of organic household waste. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 62: 317-331.
- Beck-Friis, B., Smårs, S., Jönsson, H., Eklind, Y. and Kirchmann, H. 2003.
 Composting of source-separated household organics at different oxygen levels: gaining and understanding of the emission dynamics. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 11(1): 41-50.
- Béringue, V., Bencsik, A., Le Dur, A., Reine, F., Lai, T.L., Chenais, N., Tilly, G.,Biacabe, A.G., Baron, T., Vilotte, J.L. and Laude, H. 2006. Isolation from

cattle of a prion strain distinct from that causing bovine spongiform encephalopathy. *PLoS Pathog.*, 2: e112.

- Bishop, P.L. and Godfrey, C. 1983. Nitrogen transformations during sludge composting. *BioCycle*, 24(4): 34-39.
- Bolta, S.V., Mihelic, R., Lobnik, F. and Lestan, D. 2003. Microbial community structure during composting with and without mass inocula. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 11(1): 6-15.
- Brash, J.L. and Horbett, T.A. 1995. Proteins at interfaces: an overview. Brash,J.L. and Horbett, T.A. (Eds.). Proteins at Interfaces II: Fundamentals andApplications. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp. 11-21.
- Brown, S. and Leonard, P. 2004. Biosolids and global warming: evaluating the management impacts. *BioCycle*, 45: 54-61.
- Brown, P. and Gajdusk, D.C. 1991. Survival of scrapie virus after 3 years' interment. *Lancet*, 337: 269-270.
- Brown, P., Rau, E.H., Lemieux, P., Johnson, B.K., Bacote, A.E. and Gajdusek,
 D.C. 2004. Infectivity studies of both ash and air emissions from simulated incineration of scrapie-contaminated tissues. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 38: 6155-60.
- Brown, S. and Subler, S. 2007. Composting and greenhouse gas emissions: a producer's perspective. *BioCycle*, 48: 37-41.
- Buchholz-Cleven, B.E.E., Rattunde, B. and Straub, K.L. 1997. Screening for genetic diversity of isolates of anaerobic Fe(II)-oxidizing bacteria using
 DGGE and whole-cell hybridization. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.*, 20: 301-309.

- Bustamanute, M.A., Paredes, C., Marhuenda-Egea, F.C., Pérez-Espinosa, A., Bernal, M.P. and Moral, R. 2008. Co-composting of distillery wastes with livestock manures: Carbon and nitrogen transformations in the evaluation of compost stability. *Chemosphere*, 72: 551-557.
- Cahyani, V.R., Murase, J., Asakawa, S. and Kimura, M. 2009. Change in T4-type bacteriophage communities during the composting process of rice straw:
 Estimation from the major capsid gene (*g23*) sequences. *Soil Sci. Plant Nitr.*, 55: 468-477.
- Capobianco, R., Casalone, C., Suardi, S., Mangieri, M., Miccolo, C., Limido, L.,
 Catania, M., Rossi, G., Di Fede, G., Giaccone, G., Bruzzone, M.G., Minati,
 L., Corona, C., Acutis, P., Gelmetti, D., Lombardi, G., Groschup, M.H.,
 Buschmann, A., Zanusso, G., Monaco, S., Caramelli, M. and Tagliavini, F.
 2007. Conversion of the BASE prion strain into the BSE strain: the origin of
 BSE? *PLoS Pathog.*, 3: e31.
- CCME. 2005. Guidelines for compost quality. Available at http://www.ccme.ca/ourwork/waste.html?category_id=132. Accessed 2 May, 2012.
- CFIA. 2010. Meat hygiene manual of procedures. Chapter 17: Ante and Postmortem Procedures, Dispositions, Monitoring and Controls - Red Meat Species, Ostriches, Rheas and Emus - Annex D [online]. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/fssa/meavia/man/ch17/annexde.shtml#a 1. Accessed 20 July, 2011.

- CFIA. 2012. BSE Enhanced Surveillance Program. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/animals/terrestrialanimals/diseases/reportable/bse/enhancedsurveillance/eng/1323992647051/1323992718670. Accessed 11 March, 2012.
- Chang, J.I. and Chen, Y.J. 2010. Effects of bulking agents on food waste composting. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101: 5917-5924.
- Chen, Y., Chefetz, B. and Hadar, Y. 1996. Formation and properties of humic substance originating from composts. Bertoldi, M., Sequi, P., Lemmes, B. and Papi, T. (Eds.). The science of composting. Blackie Academic & Professional, Bishopbriggs, Glasgow, pp. 382-393.
- Civilini, M., Domenis, C., de Bertoldi, M. and Sebastianutto, N. 1996.
 Composting and selected microorganisms for bioremediation of contaminated materials. Bertoldi, M., Sequi, P., Lemmes, B. and Papi, T. (Eds.). The science of composting. Blackie Academic & Professional, Bishopbriggs, Glasgow, pp. 884-891.
- Cooke, C.M., Rodger, J., Smith, A., Fernie, K., Shaw, G. and Somerville, R.A.2007. Fate of prions in soil: detergent extraction of PrP from soils. *Environ.Sci. Technol.*, 41: 811-817.
- Cooke, C.M. and Shaw, G. 2007. Fate of prions in soil: longevity and migration of recPrP in soil columns. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 39: 1181-1191.
- Cuille, J. and Chelle, P.L. 1938. La tremblante du mouton est bien inoculable. *CR Seances Acad. Sci.*, 206: 78-79.

- De Bertoldi, M., Vallini, M.G. and Pera, A. 1982. Comparison of three windrow composting systems. *BioCycle*, 23(2): 45-50.
- De Bertoldi, M., Vallini, G. and Pera, A. 1983. The biology of composting: a review. *Waste Manage. Res.*, 1: 157-176.
- De Clercq, D., Ceustermans, A., Heyndrickx, M., Coosemans, J. and Ryckeboer,
 J. 2007. A rapid monitoring assay for the detection of *Salmonella spp.* and *Salmonella Senftenberg* strain W775 in composts. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 103:
 2102-2112.
- Diaz, L.F., Savage, G.M. and Golucke, C.G. 1996. Stabilization of hazardous wastes through biotreatment. Bertoldi, M., Sequi, P., Lemmes, B. and Papi T. (Eds.). The science of composting. Blackie Academic & Professional, Bishopbriggs, Glasgow, pp. 849-862.
- Dickinson, J., Murdoch, H., Dennis, M.J., Hall, G.A., Bott, R., Crabb, W.D.,
 Penet, C., Sutton, J.M. and Raven, N.D.H. 2009. Decontamination of prion
 protein (BSE301V) using a genetically engineered protease. *J. Hosp. Infect.*,
 72: 65-70.
- Ding, N., Neumann, N.F., Price, L.M., Braithwaite, S.L., Balachandran, A.,
 Belosevic, M. and El-Din, M.G. 2012. Inactivation of template-directed
 misfolding of infectious prion protein by ozone. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*,
 78(3): 613-620.
- Dudas, S., Yang, J., Graham, C., Czub, M., McAllister, T.A., Coulthart, M.B. and Czub, S. 2010. Molecular, biochemical and genetic characteristics of BSE in Canada. *PLoS One*, 5(5): e10638.

- Eiland, F., Klamber, M, Lind, A.M., Leth, M. and Bååth, E. 2001. Influence of initial C/N ratio on chemical and microbial composition during long term composting of straw. *Microb. Ecol.*, 41: 272-280.
- Eklind, Y., Beck-Friis, B., Bengtsson, S., Ejlertsson, J., Kirchmann, H., Mathisen,
 B., Nordkvist, E., Sonesson, U., Svensson, B.H. and Torstensson, L. 1997.
 Chemical characterization of source-separated organic household wastes. *Swed. J. Agric. Res.*, 27: 167-178.
- Epstein, E. (Ed.). 1997. The science of composting. CRC press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Ernst, D.R. and Race, R.E. 1993. Comparative analysis of scrapie agent inactivation methods. *J. Virol. Methods.*, 41: 193-201.
- Erickson, M.C., Liao, J., Ma, L., Jiang, X.P. and Doyle, M.P. 2009. Pathogen inactivation in cow manure compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 17(4): 229-236.
- Fauci, M.F., Bezdicek, D.F., Caldwell, D. and Finch, R. 1999. End-product quality and agronomic performance of compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 1(2): 17-29.
- Fedorowicz, E.M., Miller, S.F. and Miller, B.G. 2007. Biomass gasification as a means of carcass and specified risk materials disposal and energy production in the beef rendering and meatpacking industries. *Energy Fuels*, 21: 3225-3232.
- Fermor, T.R., Smith, J.F. and Spencer, D.M. 1979. The microflora of experimental mushroom composts. J. Hortic. Sci., 54: 137-147.

- Fogarty, A.M. and Tuovinen, O.H. 1991. Microbial degradation of pesticides in yard waste composting. *Microbiol. Rev.*, 55(2): 225-233.
- Gea, T., Barrena, R., Artola, A. and Sanchez, A. 2007. Optimal bulking agent particle size and usage for heat retention and disinfection in domestic wastewater sludge composting. *Waste Manage.*, 27(9): 1108-1116.
- Genovesi, S., Lieta, L., Sequi, P., Andrighetto, I., Sorgato, M.C. and Bertoli, A. 2007. Direct detection of soil-bound prions. *PLoS One*, 2: 1069.
- Giles, K., Glidden, D.V., Beckwith, R., Seoanes, R., Peretz, D., DeArmond, S.J. and Prusiner, S.B. 2008. Resistance of bovine spongiform encephalopathy prions to inactivation. *PLoS Pathog.*, 4(11): e1000206.
- Gilroyed, B.H., Reuter, T., Chu, A., Hao, X., Xu, W. and McAllister, T. 2010. Anaerobic digestion of specified risk materials with cattle manure for biogas production. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101(15): 5780-5785.

Golueke, C.G. 1992. Bacteriology of composting. *BioCycle*, 33: 55–57.

- Goyal, S., Dhull, S.K. and Kapoor, K.K. 2005. Chemical and biological changes during composting of different organic waste and assessment of compost maturity. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 96: 1584-1591.
- Gray, K.R., Sherman, K. and Biddlestone, A.J. 1971. A review of composting-Part 1. *Process Biochemistry.*, 6(6): 32-36.
- Grebus, M.E., Watson, M.E. and Hoitink, H.A.J. 1994. Biological, chemical and physical properties of composted yard trimmings as indicators of maturity and plant disease suppression. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 2(1): 57-71.

- Guan, J., Chan, M., Grenier, C., Wilkie, D.C., Brooks, B.W. and Spencer, J.L.
 2009. Survival of avian influenza and Newcastle disease viruses in compost and at ambient temperatures based on virus isolation and real-time reverse transcriptase PCR. *Avian Dis.*, 53(1): 26-33.
- Guan, J., Chan, M., Grenier, C., Wilkie, D.C., Brooks, B.W., Spencer, J.L.,
 Kranendonk, C., Copps, J. and Clavijo, A. 2010. Degradation of foot-and-mouth disease virus during composting of infected pig carcasses. *Can. J. Vet. Res.*, 74(1): 40-44.
- Hagiwara, K., Yamakawa, Y., Sato, Y., Nakamura, Y., Tobiume, M., Shinagawai,
 M. and Sata, T. 2007. Accumulation of monoglycosylated form-rich,
 plaque-forming PrP^{Sc} in the second atypical bovine spongiform
 encephalopathy case in Japan. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis.*, 60: 305–308.
- Halet, D., Boon, N. and Verstraete, W. 2006. Community dynamics of methanotrophic bacteria during composting of organic matter. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 101(4): 297-302.
- Hao, X. and Benke, M.B. 2008. Nitrogen transformation and losses during compositing and mitigation stragtegies. Hao, X. (Ed.). Compost I. Dynamic Soil, Dynamic Plant 2 (Special Issue 1). Global Science Books, London, UK, pp. 8-18.
- Hao, X., Chang, C., Larney, F.J. and Travis, G.R. 2001. Greenhouse gas emissions during cattle feedlot manure composting. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 30: 376-386.

- Haug, R.T. (Ed.). 1993. The Practical Handbook of Compost Engineering. Lewis Publications, Ann Arbor, MI, USA.
- Hellebrand, H.J. and Kalk, W.D. 2001. Emission of methane, nitrous oxide, and ammonia from dung windrow. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 60: 83-87.
- Hellmann, B., Zelles, L., Palojarvi, A. and Bai, Q. 1997. Emission of climaterelevant trace gases and succession of microbial communities during openwindow composting. *Appl. Microbiol.*, 63: 1011-1018.
- Hinckley, G.T., Johnson, C.J., Jacobson, K.T., Bartholomay, C., McMahon, K.D.,
 McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2008. Persistence of
 pathogenic prion protein during simulated wastewater treatment processes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42: 5254-5259.
- Hörnlimann, B., Schulz-Schaeffer, J.W., Roth, K., Yan, Z., Müller, H., Oberthür,
 R.C. and Riesner, D. 2007. Chemical disinfection and inactivation of prions.
 Hörnlimann, B., Riesner, D. and Kretzschmar, H. (Eds.). Prions in humans
 and animals. Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin, Germany, pp. 504-523.
- Huang, H., Spencer, J.L., Soutyrine, A., Guan, J., Rendulich, J. and Balachandran,A. 2007. Evidence for degradation of abnormal prion protein in tissues from sheep with scrapie during composting. *Can. J. Vet. Res.*, 71: 34-40.
- Hui, Z., Doi, H., Kanouchi, H., Matsuura, Y., Mohri, S., Nonomura, Y. and Oka,
 T. 2004. Alkaline serine protease produced by *Streptomyces* sp. degrades
 PrP(Sc). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 321: 45-50.

- Hunter, G.D. and Millson, G.C. 1964. Studies on the heat stability and chromatographic behaviour of the scrapie agent. J. Gen. Microbiol., 37: 251-258.
- Inbar, Y., Hadar, Y. and Chen, Y. 1993. Recycling of cattle manure: The composting process and characterization of maturity. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 22: 857-863.
- Inglis, G.D., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F.J. and Top, E. 2010. Prolonged survival of Campylobacter species in bovine manure compost. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 76(4): 1110-1119.
- Jarvis, A., Sundberg, C., Milenkovski, S., Pell, M., Smårs, S., Lindgren, P.E. and Hallin, S. 2009. Activity and composition of ammonia oxidizing bacterial communities and emission dynamics of NH₃ and N₂O in a compost reactor treating organic household waste. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 106: 1502-1511.
- Johnson, C.J., Gilbert, P., McKenzie, D., Pedersen, J.A. and Aiken, J.M. 2009. Ultraviolet-ozone treatment reduces levels of disease-associated prion protein and prion infectivity. *BMC Res. Notes*, 2: 121.
- Johnson, C.J., Pedersen, J.A., Chappell, R.J., McKenzie, D. and Aiken, J.M. 2007. Oral transmissibility of prion disease is enhanced by binding to soil particles. *PLoS Pathog.*, 3(7): e93.
- Johnson, C.J., Phillips, K.E., Schramm, P.T., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2006. Prions adhere to soil minerals and remain infectious. *PLoS Pathog.*, 2: 296-302.

- Karpowicz, E., Novinscak, A., Bärlocher, F. and Filion, M. 2010. qPCR quantification and genetic characterization of *Clostridium perfringens* populations in biosolids composted for 2 years. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 108: 571-581.
- Kato, K. and Miura, N. 2008. Effect of matured compost as a bulking and inoculating agent on the microbial community and maturity of cattle manure compost. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 99: 3372-3380.
- Keener, H.M., Marugg, C., Hansen, R.C. and Hoitink, H.A.J. 1993. Optimizing the efficiency of the composting process. Hoitink, H.A.J. and Keener, H.M. (Eds.). Science and Engineering of Composting. Renaissance Publications, Worthington, OH, pp. 55-94.
- Kirchmayr, R., Reichi, H.E., Schildorfer, H., Braun, R. and Somerville, R.A.
 2006. Prion protein: detection in 'spiked' anaerobic sludge and degradation experiments under anaerobic conditions. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 53: 91-98.
- Klamer, M. and Bååth, E. 1998. Microbial community dynamics during composting of straw material studied using phospholipid fatty acid analysis. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 27: 9-20.
- Klappenbach, J.A., Dunbar, J.M. and Schmidt, T.M. 2000. rRNA operon copy number reflects ecological strategies of bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbol.*, 66: 1328–1333.
- Klohn, P.C., Stoltze, L., Flechsig, E., Enari, M. and Weissmann, C. 2003. A quantitative, highly sensitive cell-based infectivity assay for mouse scrapie prions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 100: 11666-11671.

- Kurt, T.D., Perrott, M.R., Wilusz, C.J., Wilusz, J., Supattapone, S., Telling, G.C.,Zabel, M.D. and Hoover, E.A. 2007. Efficient in vitro amplification ofchronic wasting disease PrPres. J. Virol., 81: 9605-9608.
- Kutzner, H.J. 2000. Microbiology of composting. Klein, J. and Winter, J. (Eds.).Biotechnology: a multi-volume comprehensive treatise (Volume 11c, 2nd ed). WILEY-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 35-91.
- Langeveld, J.P.M., Wang, J.J., Van de Wiel, D.F.M., Shih, G.C., Garssen, G.J.,Bossers, A. and Shih, J.C.H. 2003. Enzymatic degradation of prion proteinin brain stem from infected cattle and sheep. *J. Infect. Dis.*, 188: 1782-1789.
- Larney, F.J. and Olson, A.F. 2006. Windrow temperature and chemical properties during active and passive aeration composting of beef cattle feedlot manure. *Can. Soil Sci.*, 86(5): 783-797.
- Larney, F.J., Olson, A.F., Miller, J.J., DeMaere, P.R., Zvomuya, F. and
 McAllister, T.A. 2008. Physical and chemical changes during composting of
 wood chip-bedded and straw bedded beef cattle feedlot manure. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 37: 725-735.
- Lawson, M.J. and Keeling, A.A. 1999. Production and physical characteristics of composted poultry carcasses. *Br. Poul. Sci.*, 40: 706-708.
- Lei, F. and VanderGheynst, J.S. 2000. The effect of microbial inoculation and pH on microbial community structure changes during composting. *Process Biochem.*, 35: 923-929.
- Leita, L., Fornasier, F., Nobili, M.D., Bertoli, A., Genovesi, S. and Sequi, P. 2006. Interactions of prion proteins with Soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 38: 1638-1644.

- Leonard, J.J., Mu, R. and McGill, W. 1997. Compositng of industrial biooxidation sludge. Proceeding of the 7th Annual Composting Council Conference, Sherbrooke, QC.
- Ma, X., Benson, C.H., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2007.
 Adsorption of pathogenic prion protein to quartz sand. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41(7): 2324-2330.
- MacCarthy, P., Malcolm, R.L., Clapp, C.E. and Bloom, P.R. 1990. An introduction to soil humic substances. MacCarthy, P., Clapp, C.E., Malcolm, R.L. and Bloom, P.R. (Eds.). Humic Substances in Soil and Crop Sciences: Selected readings. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, pp. 1-12.
- Maeda, K., Morioka, R., Hanajima, D. and Osada, T. 2010. The impact of using mature compost on nitrous oxide emsission and the denitrifier community in the cattle manure composting process. *Microb. Ecol.*, 59: 25-36.
- Manios, V. and Balis, C. 1983. Respirometry to determine optimum conditions for the biodegradation of extracted olive press-cake. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 15: 75-83.
- Marsh, R.E. and Kimberlin, R.H. 1975. Comparison of scrapie and transmissible mink encephalopathy in hamsters. II. Clinical signs, pathology, and pathogenesis. *J. Infect. Dis.*, 131: 104-110.
- Martin-Laurent, F., Philippot, L., Hallet, S., Chaussod, R., Germon, J.C., Soulas,
 G. and Catroux, G. 2001. DNA extraction from soils: old bias for new
 microbial diversity analysis methods. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 67: 2354–2359.

- Mathiason, C.K., Powers, J.G., Dahmes, S.J., Osborn, D.A., Miller, K.V., Warren,
 R.J., Mason, G.L., Hays, S.A., Hayes-Klug, J., Seelig, D.M., Wild, M.A.,
 Wolfe, L.L., Spraker, T.R., Miller, M.W., Sigurdson, C.J., Telling, G.C. and
 Hoover, E.A. 2006. Infectious prions in the saliva and blood of deer with
 chronic wasting disease. *Science*, 314(5796): 133-135.
- McLeod, A.H., Murdoch, H., Dickinson, J., Dennis, M.J., Hall, G.H., Buswell, C.M., Carr, J., Taylor, D.M., Sutton, J.M. and Raven, N.D.H. 2004.
 Proteolytic inactivation of the bovine spongiform encephalopathy agent. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 317: 1165-1170.
- Meyer, R.K., McKinley, M.P., Bowman, K.A., Braunfeld, M.B., Barry, R.A. and Prusiner, S.B. 1986. Separation and properties of cellular and scrapie prion proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 83(8): 2310-2314.
- Miller, F.C. 1996. Composting of municipal solid waste and its components.Palmisano, A.C. and Barlaz, M.A. (Eds.). Microbiology of Solid Waste.CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. 115–154.
- Mitsuiki, S., Hui, Z., Matsumoto, D., Sakai, M., Moriyama, Y., Furukawa, K., Kanouchi, H. and Oka, T. 2006. Degradation of PrPSc by keratinolytic protease from *Nocardiopsis* sp. TOA-1. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, 70(5): 1246-1248.
- Mu, R. and Leonard, J.J. 1999. Measurement of air flow through MSW-sewage sluge compost. *Can. Agric. Eng.*, 41(2): 93-97.
- Murphy, R.G.L., Scanga, J.A., Powers, B.E., Pilon, J.L., VerCauteren, K.C., Nash, P.B., Smith, G.C. and Belk, K.E. 2009. Alkaline hydrolysis of mouse-

adapted scrapie for inactivation and disposal prion-positive material. *J. Anim. Sci.*, 87: 1787-1793.

- Murray, D., Meidinger, R.G., Golovan, S.P., Phillips, J.P., O'Halloran, I.P., Fan,
 M.Z., Hacker, R.R. and Forsberg, C.W. 2007. Transgene and mitochondrial
 DNA are indicators of efficient composting of transgenic pig carcasses. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 98(9): 1795-1804.
- Muyzer, G. 1999. DGGE/TGGE a method for identifying genes from natural ecosystems. *Current Opin. Microbiol.*, 2: 317-322.
- Muyzer, G., de Waal, E.C. and Uitterlinden, A.G. 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of polymerase chain reaction genes encoding for 16S rRNA. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 59: 695-700.
- Muyzer, G. and Smalla, K. 1998. Application of denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE) in microbial ecology. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, 73: 127-141.
- Nagaoka, K., Yoshioka, M., Shimozaki, N., Yamamura, T., Murayama, Y., Yokoyama, T. and Mohri, S. 2010. Sensitive detection of scrapie prion protein in soil. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 397: 626-630.
- Nakasaki, K., Kato, K., Akiyama, T. and Kubota, H. 1987. A new composting model and assessment of optimum operation for effective drying of composting materials. *J. Ferment. Technol.*, 65(4): 441-447.

- Nakasaki, K., Sasaki, M., Shoda, M. and Kubota, H. 1985. Change in microbial numbers during thermophilic composting of sewage sludge with reference to CO₂ evolution rate. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 49: 37-41.
- Nakasaki, K., Shoda, M. and Kubota, H. 1986. Effects of a bulking agent on the reaction rate of thermophilic sewage sludge composting. *J. Ferment. Technol.*, 64(6): 539-544.
- Nicholson, E.M., Brunelle, B.W., Richt, J.A., Kehrli, M.E. and Greenlee, J.J.
 2008. Identification of a Heritable Polymorphism in Bovine PRNP
 Associated with Genetic Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy:
 Evidence of Heritable BSE. *PLoS One*, 3: e2912.
- Novinscak, A., DeCoste, N.J., Surette, C. and Filion, M. 2009. Characterization of bacterial and fungal communities in composted biosolids over a 2 year period using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 55: 375-387.
- Ntougias, S., Ehaliotis, C., Papadopoulou, K.K. and Zervakis, G. 2006. Application of respiration and FDA hydrolysis measurements for estimating microbial activity during composting processes. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 42: 330-337.
- Nübel, U., Engelen, B., Fleske, A., Snadir, J., Wieshuber, A., Amann, R., Ludwig,
 W. and Backhaus, H. 1996. Sequence heterogeneities of genes encoding 16S
 rRNAs in *paenibacillus polymyxa* detected by temperature gradient gel
 electrophoresis. *J. Bacteriol.*, 178: 5636-5643.

- Oppenheimer, J., Martin, A.G. and Walker, L.P. 1997. Measurements of air-filled porosity in unsaturated organic matrices using a pycnometer. *Bioresour*. *Technol.*, 59: 241-247.
- Pan, K.M., Baldwin, M., Nguyen, J., Gasset, M., Serban, A., Groth, D., Mehlhorn, I., Huang, Z., Fletterick, R.J., Cohen, F.E. and Prusiner, S.B. 1993.
 Conversion of alpha-helices into beta-sheets features in the formation of the scrapie prion proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 90: 10962–10966.
- Paisley, L.G. and Hostrup-Pedersen, J. 2005. A quantitative assessment of the BSE risk associated with fly ash and slag from the incineration of meat and bone meal in a gas-fired power plant in Denmark. *Prev. Vet. Med.*, 68: 263– 275.
- Parkinson, R., Gibbs, P., Burchett, S. and Misselbrook, T. 2004. Effect of turning regime and seasonal weather conditions on nitrogen and phosphorus losses during aerobic composting of cattle manure. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 91: 171-178.
- Paul, J.W. and Beauchamp, E.G. 1989. Relationship between volatile fatty acids, total ammonia, and pH in manure slurries. *Biol. Wastes*, 29: 313-318.
- Pedro, M.S., Haruta, S., Hazaka, M., Shimada, R., Yoshida, C., Hiura, K., Ishii, M and Igarashi, Y. 2001. Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of microbial community from field-scale composter. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 91(2): 159-165.
- Petersen, S.O. and Klug, M. 1994. Effects of sieving, storage, and incubation temperature on the phospholipid fatty acid profile of a soil microbial community. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 60(7): 2421-2430.
- Polano, M., Anselmi, C., Leita, L., Negro, A. and De Nobili, M. Organic polyanions act as complexants of prion protein in soil. 2008. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 367: 323-329.
- Prusiner, S.B. Prions. 1998. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 95: 13363-13383.
- Prusiner, S.B., Groth, D.F., Cochran, S.P., Masiarz, F.R., McKinley, M.P. and Martinez, H.M. 1980. Molecular properties, partial purification, and assay by incubation period measurements of the hamster scrapie agent. *Biochemistry*, 19: 4883-4891.
- Raeber, A.J., Brandner, S., Klein, M.A., Benninger, Y., Musahl, C., Frigg, R.,
 Roeckl, C., Fischer, M.B., Weissmann, C. and Aguzzi, A. 1998. Transgenic
 and knockout mice in research on prion diseases. *Brain Pathol.*, 8: 715-733.
- Ramsey, P.W., Rillig, M.C., Feris, K.P., Holben, W.E. and Gannon, J.E. 2006. Choice of methods for soil microbial community analysis: PLFA maximizes power compared to CLPP and PCR-based approaches. *Pedobiologia*, 50: 275-280.
- Randle, P.E. and Flegg, P.B. 1985. The effect of duration of composting on compost density and yield of mushrooms. *Sci. Hortic.*, 27: 21–31.
- Raviv, M., Tarre, S., Geler, Z. and Shelef, G. 1987. Changes in some physical and chemical properties of fibrous solids from cow manure and digested cow manure during composting. *Biol. Wastes*, 19(4): 309-318.

- Reuter, T., Gilroyed, B.H., Alexander, T.W., Mitchell, G., Balachandran, A., Czub, S. and McAllister, T.A. 2009a. Prion protein detection via direct immuno-quantitative real-time PCR. J. Microbiol. Meth., 78: 307-311.
- Reuter, T., Xu, W., Alexander, T.W., Stanford, K., Xu, Y. and McAllister, T.A.
 2009b. Purification of polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-amplifiable DNA
 from compost piles containing bovine mortalities. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100:
 3343-3349.
- Revault, M., Quiquampoix, H., Baron, M.H. and Noinville, S. 2005. Fate of prions in soil: Trapped conformation of full-length ovine prion protein induced by adsorption on clays. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 1724: 367-74.
- Rogez-Kreuz, C., Yousfi, R., Soufflet, C., Quadrio, I., Yan, Z.X., Huyot, V.,
 Aubenque, C., Destrez, P., Roth, K., Roberts, C., Favero, M. and Clayette,
 P. 2009. Inactivation of animal and human prions by hydrogen peroxide gas
 plasma sterilization. *Infect. Control Hop. Epidemiol.*, 30(8): 770-777.
- Richard, T.L., Hamelers, H.V.M., Veeken, A. and Silva, T. 2002. Moisture relationship in composting process. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 10(4): 286-302.
- Richt, J.A. and Hall, S.M. 2008. BSE case associated with prion protein gene mutation. *PLoS Pathog.*, 4(9): e1000156.

Richt, J.A., Kunkle, R.A., Alt, D., Nicholson, E.M., Hamir, A.N., Czub, S.,
Kluge, J., Davis, A.J. and Hall, S.M. 2007. Identification and
characterization of two bovine spongiform encephalopathy cases diagnosed
in the United States. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest.*, 19: 142–154.

- Ringer, C.E. 1997. Suppression of seedling damping-off disease in potting mix containing animal manure composts. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 5(2): 6-15.
- Ryckeboer, J., Mergaert, J., Vaes, K., Klammer, S., De Clercq, D., Coosemans, J.,
 Insam, H. and Swings, J. 2003. A survey of bacteria and fungi occurring
 during composting and self-heating processes. *Annals Microbiol.*, 53(4):
 349-410.
- Rynk, R. (Ed.). 1992. On-farm Composting Handbook, NRAES-54. Northeast Regional Agricultural Engineering Service, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- Saá, P., Castilla, J. and Soto, C. 2006. Ultra-efficient replication of infectious prions by automated protein misfolding cyclic amplification. *J. Bio. Chem.*, 281: 35245-35252.
- Safar, J.G., Lessard, P., Tamguney, G., Freyman, Y., Deering, C., Letessier, F., DeArmond, S.J. and Prusiner, S.B. 2008. Transmission and detection of prions in feces. J. Infect. Dis., 198: 80-89.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartelt-Hunt, S. and Bartz, J.C. 2008a. Prions in the environment: occurrence, fate and mitigation. *Prion*, 2(4): 162-169.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartz, J.C., Telling, G. and Bartelt-Hunt, S.L. 2008b.
 Environmentally-relevant forms of the prion protein. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 43: 6573-6579.
- Schieder, D., Schneider, R. and Bischof, F. 2000. Thermal hydrolysis (TDH) as a pretreament method for the digestion of organic waste. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 41(3): 128-187.

- Schaub-Szabo, S.M. and Leonard, J.J. 1999. Characterizing the bulk density of compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 7(4): 15-24.
- Seeger, H., Heikenwalder, M., Zeller, N., Kranich, J., Schwarz, P., Gaspert, A., Seifert, B., Miele, G. and Aguzzi, A. 2005. Coincident scrapie infection and nephritis lead to urinary prion excretion. *Science*, 310 (5746): 324-326.
- Seidel, B., Thomzig, A., Buschmann, A., Groschup, M.H., Peters, R., Beekes, M. and Terytze, K. 2007. Scrapie agent (strain 263K) can transmit disease via the oral route after persistence in soil over years. *PLoS One*, 3: 435.
- Smith, C.J. 2005. Quantative real-time PCR. Osborn, A.M. and Smith, C.J. (Eds.). Molecular microbial ecology. Taylor and Francis Group, Abingdon, OX, pp.152-166.
- Smith, C.J., Nedwell, D.B., Dong, L.F. and Osborn, A.M. 2006. Evaluation of quantitative polymerase chain reaction-based approaches for determining gene copy and gene transcript numbers in environmental samples. *Environ. Microbiol.*, 8: 804–815.
- Smith, C.J. and Osborn, A.M. 2009. Advantages and limitations of quantitative PCR (Q-PCR)-based approaches in microbial ecology. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 67: 6-20.
- Stanford, K., Hao, X., Xu, S., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F. and Leonard, J.J. 2009. Effects of age of cattle, turning technology and compost environment on disappearance of bone from cattle mortality compost. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100: 4417-4422.

- Stanford, K., Larney, F.J., Olson, A.F., Yanke, L.J. and McKenzie, R.H. 2000.
 Composting as a means of disposal of sheep mortalities. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 8: 135-146.
- Steger, K., Jarvis, Å., Vasara, T., Romantschuk, M. and Sundh, I. 2007. Effects of differing temperature management on development of Actinobacteria populations during composting. *Res. Microbiol.*, 158: 617-624.
- Stentiford, E.I. 1993. Diversity of composting systems. Hoitink, H.A.J. and
 Keener, H.M. (Eds.). Science and Engineering of Composting: Design,
 Environmental, Microbiological and Utilization Aspects. Renaissance Pub.,
 Worthington, OH, pp. 95-110.
- Strom, P.F., Morris, M.L. and Finstein, M.S. 1980. Leaf composting through appropriate, low level, technology. *Compost Sci./Land Util.*, 21(6): 44-48.
- Stults, J.R., Snoeyenbos-West, O., Methe, B., Lovley, D.R. and Chandler, D.P.
 2001. Application of the 50 fluorogenic exonuclease assay (TaqMan) for quantitative ribosomal DNA and rRNA analysis in sediments. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 67: 2781-2789.
- Suler, D.J. and Finstein, M.S. 1977. Effect of temperature, aeration, and moisture on CO₂ formation on bench-scale, continuously thermophilic composting of solid waste. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 33(2): 345-350.
- Taylor, D.M. 2000. Inactivation of transmissible degenerative encephalopathy agent: A review. *Vet. J.*, 159: 10-17.

- Terry, L.A., Jenkins, R., Thorne, L., Everest, S.J., Chaplin, M.J., Davis, L.A. and Stack, M.J. 2007. First case of H-type bovine spongiform encephalopathy identified in Great Britain. *Vet. Rec.*, 160: 873–874.
- Thummes, K., Kampfer, P. and Jackel, U. 2007. Temporal changes of composition and potential activity of the thermophilic archaeal community during the compsting of organic material. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.*, 30: 418-429.
- Tiquia, S.M., Wan, J.H.C. and Tam, N.F.Y. 2002. Dynamics of yard trimmings composting as determined by dehydrogennase activity, ATP content, arginine ammonification, and nitrification potential. *Process Biochem.*, 37: 1057-1065.
- Tsiroulnikov, K., Rezai, H., Bonch-Osmolovskaya, E., Nedkov, P., Gousterova,
 A., Cueff, V., Godfroy, A., Barbier, G., Metro, F., Chobert, J.M., Clayette,
 P., Dormont, D., Grosclaude, J. and Haertle, T. 2004. Hydrolysis of the
 amyloid prion protein and nonpathogenic meat and bone meal by anaerobic
 thermophilic prokaryotes and streptomyces subspecies. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 52: 6353–6360.
- Tuomela, M., Vikman, M., Hatakka, A. and Itävaara, M. 2000. Biodegradation of lignin in a compost environment: A review. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 72(2): 169-183.
- Turner, C., Williams, A., White, R. and Tillett, R. 2004. Inferring pathogen inactivation from the surface temperatures of compost heaps. *Bioresour*. *Technol.*, 96: 521–529.

- USEPA. Chapter 7 of EPA's decision-maker's guide to solid waste management. Available at http://www.epa.gov/wastes/conserve/rrr/composting/science.htm. Accessed 2 May, 2012.
- Van Ginkel, J.T., Raats, P.A.C. and Van Haneghem, I.A. 1999. Bulk density and porosity distributions in a compost pile. *Neth. J. Agric. Sci.*, 47: 105-121.
- Van Herk, F.H., Cockwill, C.L., Guselle, N., Larney, F.J., Olson, M.E. and McAllister, T.A. 2004. Elimination of Giardia cysts and Cryptosporidium oocysts in beef feedlot manure compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 12: 235-241.

Weissmann, C. 2004. The state of the prion. Nat. Rev. Microbiol., 2: 861-871.

- Wiley, J.S. and Pierce, G.W. 1955. A preliminary study of high rate composting. Proc. Am. Soc. Civil Eng., 81: 1-28.
- Wilson, G.C.S. 1983. The physico-chemical and physical properties of horticultural substrates. *Acta Hortic.*, 150: 19-32.
- Xu, W., Reuter, T., Inglis, G.D., Larney, F.J., Alexander, T.W., Guan, J., Stanford, K., Xu, Y. and McAllister, T.A. 2009a. A biosecure composting system for disposal of cattle carcasses and manure following infectious disease outbreak. J. Environ. Qual., 38: 437-450.
- Xu, W., Reuter, T., Xu, Y., Alexander, T., Gilroyed, B., Jin, L., Stanford, K.,
 Larney, F. and McAllister, T. 2009b. Use of quantitative and conventional
 PCR to assess biodegradation of bovine and plant DNA during cattle
 mortality composting. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 43: 6248-6255.

- Yamakawa, Y., Hagiwara, K., Nohtomi, K., Nakamura, Y., Nishijima, M.,
 Higuchi, Y., Sato, Y. and Sata, T. 2003. Atypical proteinase K-resistant
 prion protein (PrP^{res}) observed in an apparently healthy 23-month old
 Holstein steer. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis.*, 56: 221–222.
- Yoshioka, M., Miwa, T., Horii, H., Takata, M., Yokoyama, T., Nishizawa, K.,
 Watanabe, M., Shinagawa, M. and Murayama, Y. 2007. Characterization of a proteolytic enzyme derived from a *Bacillus* strain that effectively degrades prion protein. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 102: 509-515.
- Yu, S., Clark, O.G. and Leonard, J.J. 2008. A statistical method for the analysis of nonlinear temperature time series from compost. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 99: 1886-1895.
- Zelles, L. 1999. Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterization of microbial communities in soil: a review. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 29: 111-129.
- Zeman, C., Depken, D. and Rich, M., 2002. Literature review research on how the composting process impacts greenhouse gas emissions and global warming. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 10: 72-86.

Chapter 2 Assessment of microbial communities in decomposition of specified risk material using a passively aerated laboratoryscale composter^{*}

2.1 Introduction

Transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE) are fatal neurodegenerative diseases that include scrapie in sheep and goats, chronic wasting disease (CWD) in deer and elk, bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in cattle, and Creutzfeldt-Jackob disease (CJD) in humans. Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy's result when the normal prion protein (PrP^{C}) undergoes a conformational change to form a misfolded infectious prion protein (PrP^{TSE}) that leads to neurodegenerative disease (Prusiner 1998). Interaction of PrP^{TSE} with PrP^C leads to the generation of more misfolded prion proteins. As a consequence of the occurrence of BSE in Canada in 2003, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) introduced regulations in 2007 to prevent the introduction of specified risk material (SRM) into the food chain (CFIA 2008). Specified risk material refers to specific body tissues known to be at risk of harbouring infectious prion protein, including the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine tonsils, spinal cord and the dorsal root ganglia of cattle aged 30 months or older, as well as the distal ileum of cattle of all ages (CFIA 2008). A similar regulation is presently being considered in the United States (Dewell et al. 2008).

^{*}A version of this chapter has been published. Xu, S., McAllister, T.A., Leonard, J.J., Clark, O.G. and Belosevic M. 2010. Compost Science & Utilization. 18(4): 255-265.

A variety of approaches are being used for the disposal of SRM from abattoirs and on-farm cattle mortalities. In Canada, rendering followed by deposition of the resultant meat and bone meal in landfills is the main method of SRM disposal. Thermal hydrolysis and gasification technologies are also being assessed for the disposal of SRM (Kalbasi-Ashtari et al. 2008; Fedorowicz et al. 2007). However, both of these approaches require considerable capital investment and energy expenditure for SRM disposal. Currently, incineration is the primary method of SRM disposal in Europe (Paisley and Hostrup-Pedersen 2005), but this process derives little to no value from SRM, is energetically costly and raises concerns over air quality. Furthermore, the geographically vast nature of Canadian beef production makes incineration impractical as a disposal method throughout Canada. Burial of SRM is another option, but Canadian winters and ground water conditions often limit the utility of this disposal method in many regions of Canada.

Composting has been long considered as an environmentally acceptable method for treating industrial and agriculture wastes. Because temperatures within the compost typically exceed 60°C, this high temperature accelerates the decomposition of organic matter and creates an environment that is unsuitable for the survival of microbial pathogens (Van Herk et al. 2004; Ceustermans et al. 2007). Composting of cattle carcasses under proper management appears to be a potentially attractive option and a well-established pathogen reduction technology (Stanford et al. 2007; Xu et al. 2009). However, little information exists about the utility of composting as a disposal method of SRM or about the microbial populations that may be involved in the decomposition of this material during composting.

The objective of the current study was to develop a passively aerated laboratory-scale composting system to investigate the decomposition of SRM and to use phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) profiling to assess changes in the microbial community. The model was developed with the intention of eventually assessing the potential degradation of PrP^{TSE} under laboratory containment conditions.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Laboratory-scale composter design

Six 110-L cylindrical polyethylene vessels (1601M, Eagle, Wellsburg, West Virginia, USA), 0.7 m high and 0.45 m diameter were used to construct laboratory-scale composters (Figure 2-1). To reduce the dissipation of heat through the composter wall, the surface of the composter was sealed with a 50-mm layer of polyurethane foam with a density of 32 kg m⁻³ and a thermal resistance value of 1.2 K m² W⁻¹. For the purpose of passive aeration, an air plenum (0.1 m height) was created at the bottom of the composter using a supporting rigid polyethylene panel (5 mm thickness, Model 2615, Sissiboo Farm Supplies, Weymouth, Nova Scotia, Canada) perforated with 10-mm diameter holes. An inlet air hole and outlet air hole of the same diameter (25 mm) were drilled at the bottom and the top of the composter to enable passive ventilation. Any leachate formed during composting was collected through a 15 mm drain in the bottom of each composter.

2.2.2 Composting setup and sampling

Fresh feedlot beef manure and two different bulking agents (i.e., barley straw or wood shavings) were used as the composting matrix for SRM. Fresh cattle brain tissue from non-infectious cattle mortalities under 30 months of age were obtained from a nearby slaughterhouse and used as a representative component of SRM. Each composter contained a mixture of 35 ± 0.1 kg fresh feedlot beef manure (74.1% water content) and 3.5 ± 0.1 kg of full length barley straw or wood shavings with an average particle size of 10 mm × 5 mm. The manure and the bulking agents were thoroughly mixed by hand and placed in three replicate composters per treatment. In their respective treatments, 20 mm of straw or wood shavings were placed in the bottom of each composter prior to introduction of the mixed matrix. During filling, triplicate samples of SRM, fresh manure, barley straw, wood shavings and the complete mixture were collected for later analysis.

Specified risk material was placed in each composter using the procedure illustrated in Figure 2-2. Fresh cattle brain tissues $(150 \pm 0.1 \text{ g})$ were weighed and sealed in nylon bags $(140 \times 90 \text{ mm}; 25 \ \mu\text{m}$ pore size). The nylon bag, along with 400 g of mixed compost, was then placed into a larger polyester mesh bag (200 mm × 200 mm; 5-mm pore size) with attached polyester twine to enable recovery during composting. When the compost vessels were filled, six mesh bags were placed at each of three depths, 0.45 m (bottom) 0.3 m (middle) and 0.15 m (top) resulting in a total of eighteen mesh bags in each composter. Sample bags were collected on days 5, 9 and 15. At each sampling time, two mesh bags were from each composter. Composting was terminated on day 15. After sampling, subsamples of compost (150-200 g) were collected from the mesh bags and stored at 4°C for up to 12 h before chemical and physical analysis, while the remaining compost in the mesh bags was freeze-dried in a freeze dryer (Series $24D \times 48$, Virtis, Gardiner, New York, USA) and vacuum-packed in a plastic bag using a vacuum sealer (Model T000-3502-300, FoodSaver, Ontario, Canada), and frozen at -80°C until PLFA analysis.

2.2.3 Specified risk material decomposition and compost properties

Decomposition of SRM was estimated on the basis of dry matter disappearance from the nylon bags during the composting process. Upon removal from the mesh bags, nylon bags containing cattle brain tissue were immediately rinsed with cold tap water, then placed in a glass beaker and gravimetrically measured after oven drying at 105°C for 3 days.

Compost and ambient temperatures were measured every hour using thermocouples attached to a data logger (CR10X, Campbell Scientific, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada). Temperature was measured at the same three depths that SRM were implanted in each composter. Oxygen concentrations at each depth were also measured twice daily using a compost oxygen monitor (Model OT-21, Demista Instruments, Arlington Heights, Illinois, USA).

Water content of a 100-g sample of each compost matrix was determined by difference after drying for 5 days at 60°C. Dried samples were then coarsely ground through a 2-mm screen with additional subsamples (5 g) being ground to size <150 μ m for analysis of total carbon (TC) and total nitrogen (TN) using an

automated CNS analyzer (NA2100, Carlo Erba Strumentazione, Rodano, Milan, Italy). For SRM, TC and TN contents were measured in similar procedures using freeze dried samples after being finely ground using a ball mill (MM200, Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany).

Compost pH was determined after mixing 25 g of compost with 50 ml of distilled water and shaking for 1 h. After this, the bottles were centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 15 min and the extract was used to measure electrical conductivity (EC) using an EC meter (Model 125, Orion, Beverly, Massachusetts, USA). Mineral N (NH₄⁺ and NO_x⁻ [NO₂⁻ & NO₃⁻]) was measured using a Bran + Luebbe AutoAnalyzer III (Bran + Luebbe GmbH, Norderstedt, Germany). Barley straw and wood shavings samples were analyzed in a manner similar to the manure and compost, except that a 1:10 ratio of bulking agent to distilled water was used. Bulk density was measured under unloaded conditions without compressive forces in a 10 L cylindrical bucket as described by Raichura and McCartney (2006).

2.2.4 Phospholipid fatty acid analysis

The procedure for PLFA analysis was modified from Lei and VanderGheynst (2000). Briefly, the whole freeze-dried compost (4 g) collected from within the vicinity of the SRM was weighed into a centrifuge tube and 33 ml of a one-phase mixture of chloroform, methanol and citric buffer (pH 4.0) in a ratio of 1:2:0.8 were added. After two hours of shaking for fatty acid extraction, the mixture was centrifuged at $2100 \times g$ for 20 min and the supernatant was decanted into a test tube. Compost samples were re-extracted with 23 ml of one-phase mixture for

another 30 min and the supernatant from the second extraction was also added to the same tube with citric buffer and chloroform resulting in a final chloroform, citric buffer and methanol mixture of 1:0.9:1. After shaking for 2 min, the mixture was allowed to stand overnight for phase separation. The lower organic phase containing the lipids was collected into another test tube and evaporated to dryness under N₂ at 32°C in a water bath. At this point, dried extracts were kept at -20°C until further analysis. Phospholipids were separated from neutral and glycolipids using a solid phase extraction silica gel column. The columns were conditioned with chloroform and lipids were then transferred to the column in chloroform. Neutral lipids, glycolipids and phospholipids (polar lipids) were fractionated and eluted with a series of organic solvents of 5 ml chloroform, 10 ml acetone, and 5 ml methanol respectively. Subsequently, the phospholipids in methanol were evaporated under N2 at 32°C in a water bath and stored dry at -20°C until methylated. Fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were formed by methylation in a 1 ml 1:1 mixture of methanol and toluene along with 1 ml of 0.2 M KOH at 37°C for 10 min. The FAME was extracted with 2 ml hexane, 2 ml distilled water and 0.3 ml of 1.0 M acetic acid, and the hexane fraction was collected. Another 2 ml of hexane was used for further extraction of the sample. The hexane samples containing the FAME were combined and washed with 4 ml of 0.03 M NaOH and then dried under N₂ at room temperature. The dried FAME were dissolved into 500 µl hexane with C19:0 as an internal standard and analyzed using a Hewlett Packard 5890 gas chromatograph with a 25-m Ultra 2 (5% phenyl) methylpolysiloxane column (J&W Scientific, Folsom, California,

USA) and a flame ionization detector. Peaks were identified using fatty acid standards and associated identification software (MIDI Inc., Newark, Delaware, USA).

In fatty acid nomenclature, the basic form was used in 'A:B ω C', where A is the total number of carbon, B is the number of double bonds, and C is the position of the double bond from the methyl end of the molecule. The suffixes 'c' and 't' stand for *cis* and *trans* configurations of double bonds. The prefixes 'i' and 'a' refer to *iso* and *anteiso* branching fatty acids. The number followed by 'Me' indicates the position of the methyl group from the carboxyl end of the chain. The prefix 'cy' refers to cyclopropyl rings (Zelles 1999).

The concentration of total PLFAs was determined by summing all PLFAs in the sample and expressed as nmol of total PLFAs per gram (dry weight) of compost, a value that was used as an indicator of total microbial biomass as PLFA are present in the membranes of most microorganisms (Klamer and Bååth 1998; Zelles et al. 1995).

The sum of the following fatty acids was considered to represent bacteria: i14:0, i15:0, a15:0, 15:0, i16:0, 16:0, 16:1 ω 7c, 16:1 ω 9c, i17:0, a17:0, cy17:0, 17:0, 10Me18:0, 18:1 ω 7 and cy19:0 (Bååth 2003; Bolta et al. 2003). Gram-positive bacteria were represented by the sum of i15:0, a15:0, i17:0, a17:0 and i16:0 (Klamer and Bååth 1998) and Gram-negative bacteria by cy17:0, cy19:0, 16:1 ω 7c, 16:1 ω 5c and 18:1 ω 7c (Klamer and Bååth 1998). Fungi were represented by 18:2 ω 6, 9c and 18:1 ω 9c (Bååth 2003) and actinomycetes by 10Me 18:0 (Klamer and Bååth 1998). All branched fatty acids were considered as

73

representative of thermophiles, and anteiso-branched and unsaturated fatty acids of nonthermophiles (Bolta et al. 2003).

The microbial community in compost was presented in the particular microbial groups as described above and determined as a molar percentage (mol%) against total identified PLFAs. In this context, the development of different groups of microorganisms during composting was inferred from the changes in PLFAs (mol%). Although this approach could not be used to determine absolute amounts of the biomass associated with specific communities, it has been used as an indicator of possible shifts in the composition of soil microbial communities (Hill et al. 2000; Ramsey et al. 2006).

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

The initial compost properties were analyzed as a factorial design using Proc GLM and Tukey's significant difference test (< 0.05 probability level) in SAS (SAS Institute 2001). The analysis of variances on the decomposition of SRM and the compost chemical properties was performed using the Mixed procedure of SAS with time and compost depth treated as repeated measures in the model (< 0.05 probability level). Principal component (PC) analysis was used to analyze the changes in the composition of PLFA over the composting period. For PC analysis, the PLFA data set was transformed by removing the fatty acids that accounted for less than 1% of the profile (Herrmann and Shann 1997; Steger et al. 2003) leaving 31 individual PLFAs for PC analysis.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Characteristics of initial compost materials

The chemical and physical properties of the materials used to formulate the composting matrix are shown in Table 2-1. With regard to the characteristics of the two bulking agents, barley straw had higher (P < 0.05) water content, TN, pH, EC, NH₄⁺, and NO_x⁻ (NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻), and lower (P < 0.05) TC, C/N ratio, and bulk density as compared to wood shavings. Although the two bulking agents were chemically different, once mixed with manure the mixture exhibited similar TN, C/N ratio, pH, EC and mineral N (NH₄⁺, NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻). The wood shavings compost did exhibit higher (P < 0.05) water content, TC and bulk density, and lower (P < 0.05) EC than the straw compost. Specified risk material had higher (P < 0.05) water content, TC and TN content as compared to barley straw and wood shavings.

2.3.2 Specified risk material decomposition

The effect of the compost matrix or depth on SRM decomposition was not significantly different (P > 0.05), but SRM decomposition exhibited a three-way interaction among compost matrix, depth and time. Decomposition of SRM was notably lower in the top layer of the straw compost on day 5 (9.2% vs. 25.0% and 37.2% at the middle and bottom depths), but was similar to that of other depths after day 9 (Table 2-2). Composting matrix exerted no major effect on rate of decomposition of SRM except that at day 5, degradation was more (P < 0.05) extensive with wood shavings than with straw (37.1% vs. 9.2%) at the top depths in the composters. SRM decomposition increased with composting time (P < 0.05)

0.05), but reached a plateau after 9 days at the middle and bottom compost depths. At the top compost depth, however, decomposition of SRM continued beyond 9 days of composting and degradation was more extensive (P < 0.05) after 15 days than after 9 days, irrespective of the type of compost matrix (Table 2-2).

2.3.3 Temperature and oxygen profiles

At day 3, temperature peaked in both straw and wood shavings compost at 59°C and 67°C, respectively (Figure 2-3a). Temperature increased more rapidly in the straw compost than the wood shavings compost. After day 3, the temperature in all composters began to steadily decline, but remained above 50°C until day 10. Temperatures were generally higher in the wood shavings compost than the straw compost at all compost depths. Temperature also exhibited a gradient from low to high between the bottom and top depths. Oxygen concentrations were initially 18% in all composters on day 0 and after two days of composting decreased to 16% in the straw compost and to 5% in the wood shavings compost (Figure 2-3b). Oxygen concentration remained at 5% for two days in the wood shavings compost at which point it subsequently returned to 18% and remained at this level for the remainder of the composting period. Oxygen concentration in the straw compost remained relatively constant throughout the composting period.

2.3.4 Changes in chemical properties

Both the straw and wood shavings compost had high water content (~70%) at the start of the experiment (Figure 2-4). With subsequent composting, water contents of both compost types declined, with this decline occurring more rapidly

in the straw compost than the wood shavings compost after day 9. After 15 days of composting, the water contents in the straw compost was lower (P < 0.05) than that in the wood shavings compost at all depths. The wood shavings compost initially had a higher (P < 0.05) TC content (42.0%) than the straw compost (40.4%). During composting, TC content declined gradually in both compost types. Although TC content in the wood shavings compost remained higher (P <0.05) than in the straw compost, the straw compost exhibited a more rapid TC loss than the wood shavings compost during the initial composting period. Prior to composting, the TN content was 1.9% in the straw compost and 2.0% in the wood shavings compost, with TN increasing in both the straw and wood shavings compost over the composting period. Although initial C/N ratios were similar between the matrices prepared with straw and wood shavings, the C/N ratio was lower (P < 0.05) with straw than with wood shavings during composting. The C/N ratios in both compost types declined as the experiment progressed, from 22 initially to a range of 13 to 18 at day 15.

Both the straw and wood shavings compost had the similar initial pH (i.e., 7.7). Subsequently, the pH in the both composts increased and tended to be higher in wood shavings compost than in straw compost. By day 15, the compost pH in both compost types had declined slightly and was lower (P < 0.05) at the bottom than at other depths. Compost EC declined during the first 5 days of composting and thereafter increased in both types of compost at all depths. The straw compost exhibited a higher (P < 0.05) EC than the wood shavings compost throughout the composting period. Over the composting period, NH₄⁺-N declined from 2275

mg kg⁻¹ to 470 mg kg⁻¹ in the straw compost and from 2975 mg kg⁻¹ to 587 mg kg⁻¹ in the wood shavings compost. Levels of $(NO_3^- + NO_2^-)$ -N were low in both compost types until day 5, but peaked after 9 days, reaching a maximum of 363 mg kg⁻¹ at the bottom depth in the straw compost and 4 mg kg⁻¹ at the top depth in the wood shavings compost. At day 15, concentrations of $(NO_3^- + NO_2^-)$ -N had declined back to pre-composting levels, with the exception of the bottom depth in the straw compost.

2.3.5 Phospholipid fatty acid analysis

The concentration of total PLFAs mirrored changes in temperature, increasing at most locations until day 5 and declining thereafter (Figure 2-5). Similarly, the proportions of PLFA associated with thermophilic and Gram-positive bacteria also tended to increase from day 0 to day 5 and declined as the temperature dropped below 40°C. Levels of PLFA associated with Gram negative bacteria decreased at day 5 and showed a small increase on the final sampling day. The proportions of PLFAs associated with fungi declined as temperature exceeded 55°C at day 5, and with the exception of straw compost on day 15, did not appear to recover during the remainder of the composting period. For actinomycetes on day 5, the proportions of PLFAs indicative of this group microorganism slightly increased in the straw compost, but declined in the wood shavings compost. However, after 15 days of composting, the proportion of actinomycetes increased in both compost types at most depths. In contrast to the thermophiles, the proportions of PLFAs associated with non-thermophiles declined sharply after 5 days of composting and continued to be low until the end of the experiment on day 15.

Principal component analysis of the PLFA concentrations measured in the samples collected on days 0, 5 and 15 revealed localizations on the left, middle and right of the score plot, respectively (Figure 2-6), indicating a shift in PLFA composition with time that corresponded to the changing temperature phases associated with composting. However, PC analysis of the PLFA data did not show any spatial separation with compost type or sampling depth (Figure 2-6).

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Temperature and oxygen profiles

Most composting models reported to date employ forced aeration during composting. However, forced aeration is not desirable in laboratory experiments involving human pathogens because of concern over generation of aerosols. The 110-L passively aerated, laboratory-scale composter used in this trial reached temperatures above 55°C after 3 days and remained above 40°C for a period of 15 days, indicating successful establishment of the composing process. Relatively higher temperatures in the upper layers of compost are consistent with results reported by Yu et al. (2005) for a 200-L composter. The lower initial bulk density in the straw compost may have allowed for greater air flow through the compost, leading to a higher oxygen concentration during the early stages of composting. However, oxygen levels above 16% in both the straw and wood shavings composts in the later stages of composting indicated that oxygen was not limiting the composting process.

2.4.2 Changes in chemical properties

Water content remaining higher in the wood shavings compost than in the straw compost may reflect the greater porosity of wood shavings compared with straw, as well as the greater decomposition and loss of physical integrity during composting exhibited by straw in comparison with wood (Michel et al. 2004). Water contents in both compost types were within a range considered adequate for efficient composting (Richard et al. 2002; Ahn et al. 2008).

The higher TC content in wood shavings than in barley straw contributed to the consistently higher TC during composting of wood shavings compared with straw. Although cellulose and hemicellulose contents are similar between barley straw and wood shavings, the wood shavings contain more carbon in the form of lignin (Larney et al. 2008). The more rapid and extensive TC loss in the straw compost than in the wood shavings compost during the thermophilic composting stage was likely attributable to the lignification having impaired the degradability of the carbohydrates in wood shavings (Hao et al. 2004; Ward et al. 2000).

The observed increase of TN content in both compost types over the 15 days contrasts with the decreased TN typically reported (Peigné and Girardin 2004). This may be attributable to the release of a large amount of protein N into the surrounding compost from SRM as it decomposed. This conclusion is supported by the observation that at day 15, TN content was greater in compost collected from inside of the mesh bags than in compost from outside of the bags (Table 2-3). Xu et al. (2007) also recorded a higher TN content in a compost pile containing cattle mortalities, after 310 days of composting, as compared to a compost pile that did not contain bovine carcasses.

Volatile fatty acids (VFA) are present in fresh manure waste and are produced during the initial mesophilic stages of composting even with adequate aeration (Beck-Friis et al. 2003) and can potentially affect compost pH. The increase in compost pH over the initial 5 days of this study was likely due to rapid decomposition of accumulated VFA during the transition to thermophilic conditions. The elevated pH and high temperature during early composting also likely promoted volatilization of NH₃ (Curtis et al. 2005; Larney and Olson 2006), which may have contributed to the decline in pH between days 9 and 15. The nitrification evident at day 9 (i.e., increased NO_x-N) may also have reduced pH during later stages of composting (Tiquia et al. 1998). The tendency of pH to be higher in the top than in the bottom sampling depths at day 15 may reflect the upward movement and sequestration of volatilized NH₃ in the upper regions of the composters. The increase in EC as composting progressed is consistent with other reports (Wang et al. 2004; Rasapoor et al. 2009). Consistently greater EC in the straw compost than in wood shavings compost reflected the lower soluble salts content in wood chips compared with straw (Allison and Anderson, 1951).

2.4.3 Specified risk material decomposition and phospholipid fatty acid analysis

The SRM decomposition pattern in this study (50% gone within 15 days; majority of that within 5 days; Table 2-2) is consistent with a report by Smårs et al. (2002), that 60% of initial compost substrate was degraded within 14 days in a

200-L composter when the temperature (controllable) was maintained at 55°C. Xu et al. (2009) also found that SRM was rapidly decomposed (> 90%) during the first 7 days of passive windrow composting. This present period of most rapid SRM decomposition corresponded with the early increase in microbial biomass revealed by PLFA analysis.

Gram-positive bacteria dominated the microbial community involved in SRM decomposition during the period of elevated temperature, consistent with reports from earlier studies (Strom 1985; Herrmann and Shann 1997; Bolta et al. 2003; Takaku et al. 2006; Amir et al. 2008). Gram-negative bacteria tended to decline as temperature increased during the active phase of composting, as has been indicated both by PLFA analysis (Klamer and Bååth 1998; Bolta et al. 2003) and by traditional culture techniques (Lafond et al. 2002). It has been confirmed that pathogenic Gram-negative bacteria associated with animal feces, such as *Escherichia coli, Salmonella* and *Shigella* spp., are killed by thermophilic composting (Hassen et al. 2001; Ceustermans et al. 2007).

Similar to other studies (Klamer and Bååth 1998; Steger et al. 2003), my data suggest that the relative proportion of fungi declined as temperatures increased. A slight recovery of fungal populations appeared to take place in the straw compost during the later stages of composting. This recovery may have been due to the lower compost temperature in the straw compost (35°C) as compared to the wood shavings compost (40°C) at this time.

Some thermotolerant actinomycetes, including *Nocardia*, *Streptomyces*, *Thermoactinomyces* and *Micromonospora*, are commonly isolated from compost

during periods of elevated temperature (Strom 1985). In this study, however, actinomycetes declined in the wood shavings compost over the first 5 days, probably because temperatures were above 60°C and few species of actinomycetes are tolerant of this temperature. The marked recovery of actinomycete populations during the later stages of composting is consistent with reports by others that actinoycetes are frequently visible on the surface of mature compost (Herrmann and Shann 1997; Tuomela et al. 2000; Bolta et al. 2003). Although actinomycetes lack the cellulose- and lignin-degrading activities exhibited by fungi (Crawford 1983; Godden et al. 1992), they do play an important role in organic matter degradation (Lacey 1997). Previous work has shown that actinomycetes can be highly proteolytic (Puhl et al. 2009) and consequently may play an important role in the decomposition of protein rich substrates such as SRM. Therefore, further identification of these species in the compost is merited although PLFA analysis suggests that multiple microbial communities may be involved in SRM decomposition.

2.5 Conclusions

Passively aerated laboratory-scale composters were constructed to enable study of manure composting under containment conditions. The composters were loaded with non-infectious specified risk material (SRM) to test whether this high-moisture substrate could be disposed of by composting in conjunction with typical livestock production substrates (manure and bedding). Physicochemical analyses conducted over 15 days confirmed that composting was proceeding typically, i.e., that the composter design was appropriate for representative testcomposting. Decomposition of SRM was relatively rapid (50% within 15 days), and PLFA profiling revealed time/temperature-dependent shifts in the populations within the compost microbial ecosystem. Further research will include specific study of prion protein degradation within these test composters.

	Starting materials				Mixture at day 0	
Property*	Beef manure	Barley straw	Wood shavings	Specified risk material	Straw	Wood shavings
Water content (%)	74.1 ± 0.6	$12.1\pm0.1b$	$7.7 \pm 0.0c$	$81.0 \pm 0.7a$	$68.2\pm0.5B$	$69.9\pm0.3A$
Total C (%)	40.2 ± 0.3	$45.4\pm0.1c$	$51.1 \pm 1.1 b$	$56.7 \pm 1.2a$	$40.4\pm0.6B$	$42.0\pm0.2A$
Total N (%)	2.5 ± 0.0	$1.1\pm0.0b$	$0.1 \pm 0.0c$	$7.4 \pm 0.4a$	$1.9\pm0.1A$	$2.0\pm0.1A$
C/N	16.1 ± 0.1	$40.2\pm0.8b$	$492.1\pm31.5a$	$7.7 \pm 0.6c$	$21.1\pm0.5A$	$21.6\pm0.8A$
pН	7.6 ± 0.1	$6.0 \pm 0.0a$	$4.2\pm0.0b$	NM	$7.6\pm0.0A$	$7.7 \pm 0.1 \mathrm{A}$
EC (ds m^{-1})	8.8 ± 0.4	$7.0 \pm 0.4a$	$0.1\pm0.0b$	NM	$9.3\pm0.1A$	$8.1\pm0.2B$
$\frac{\rm NH_4-N}{\rm (mg~kg^{-1})}$	3095 ± 1032	$158 \pm 2a$	$12 \pm 2b$	NM	$2275\pm278A$	$2975 \pm 458 A$
$NO_x - N$ (mg kg ⁻¹)	< 0.5	$3746 \pm 67a$	$5\pm0b$	NM	< 0.5A	< 0.5A
Bulk density (kg m ⁻³)	871 ± 13	$39\pm0b$	117 ± 1a	NM	$330 \pm 3B$	394 ± 1A

Table 2-1 Characteristics of the materials and initial mixtures used for composting

*All characteristics except water content are expressed on a dry weight basis (wt wt⁻¹). Water content is expressed on a wet weight basis. EC: Electrical Conductivity.

a-c: Within a row, values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) among bulking materials. A,B: Within a row values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) between mixture types. NM: not measured.

Sampling time	Compost types and depths						
	Straw compost			Wood shavings compost			
	Тор	Middle	Bottom	Тор	Middle	Bottom	
Day 5	9.2aAX	25.0aBX	37.2aCX	37.1bABX	26.6aAX	35.7aBX	
Day 9	37.6aAY	37.6aAY	33.6aAX	43.2aAY	39.0aAY	45.4aAY	
Day 15	47.8aBZ	36.6aABY	37.3aAX	49.2aAZ	40.9aAY	48.3aAY	

 Table 2-2 Decomposition of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) during composting in laboratory-scale composters

a,b: Within a row and compost depth, values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) between compost types.

A-C: Within a row and compost type, values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) among compost depths.

X-Z: Within a column, values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) among sampling days.

Sampling location	Compost types and depths						
	Straw compost			Wood s	Wood shavings compost		
	Тор	Middle	Bottom	Тор	Middle	Bottom	
Inside	2.77a	2.92a	3.15a	2.33a	2.26a	2.73a	
Outside	2.59a	2.40b	2.66b	2.18b	2.17a	2.20b	

Table 2-3 Total nitrogen content (%) of compost materials collected inside andoutside of mesh bags at day 15 in laboratory-scale composters

a,b: Within a column and compost depth, values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) between sampling location.



Figure 2-1 Schematic of the 110 L passively aerated laboratory-scale composter developed for work in containment.



Figure 2-2 Schematic of the technique used to implant specified risk material (SRM) into the laboratory composter. SRM was placed into nylon bags with a pore size of 25 μ m, which was subsequently surrounded by a mesh bag containing either a straw or wood shavings mixed with beef manure. The entire structure was removed from the composter at each sampling time via the polyester twine.



Figure 2-3 Temperature (a) and O_2 concentration (b) changes during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter. BS (-T, -M and –B) and WS (-T, -M, and –B) indicate barley straw or wood shavings compost, sampled at top, middle or bottom depths, respectively.



Figure 2-4 Chemical properties during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter. BS (-T, -M and –B) and WS (-T, -M, and –B) indicate barley straw or wood shavings compost, sampled at top, middle or bottom depths, respectively.

91



Figure 2-5 Relative proportions of microbes during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter. Populations are defined based on phospholipid fatty acid profiles as described in the materials and methods. BS (-T, -M and –B) and WS (-T, -M, and –B) indicate barley straw or wood shavings compost, sampled at top, middle or bottom depths, respectively.



Figure 2-6 Principal component analysis of phospholipid fatty acids during composting of specified risk material in a laboratory-scale composter. (a) Score plot by sampling time (0, 5, 15: days 0, 5 and 15); (b) Score plot by compost matrix (S: straw compost; W: wood shavings compost); (c) Score plot by compost depth (T: top; M: middle; B: bottom).
2.6 References

- Ahn, H.K., Richard, T.L. and Glanville, T.D. 2008. Optimum moisture levels for biodegradation of mortality composting envelope materials. *Waste Manage.*, 28: 1411-1416.
- Allison, F.E. and Anderson, M.S. (Eds.). 1951. The use of sawdust for mulches and soil improvement. Circ. 891. USDA, Washington, DC.
- Amir, S., Merlina, G., Pinelli, E., Winterton, P., Revel, J.-C. and Hafidi, M. 2008.
 Microbial community dynamics during composting of sewage sludge and straw studied through phospholipids and neutral lipid analysis. *J. Haz. Mat.*, 159: 593-601.
- Bååth, E. 2003. The use of neutral lipid fatty acid to indicate the physiological conditions of soil fungi. *Microb. Ecol.*, 45: 373-383.
- Beck-Friis, B., Smårs, S., Jönsson, H., Eklind, Y. and Kirchmann, H. 2003.
 Composting of source-separated household organics at different oxygen levels: gaining an understanding of the emission dynamics. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 11(1): 41-50.
- Beffa, T., Blanc, M., Lyon, P.F., Vogt, G., Marchiani, M., Fischer, J.L. and Aragno, M. 1996. Isolation of *Thermus* strains from hot composts (60 to 80 degrees C). *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 62: 1723-1727.
- Bolta, S.V., Mihelic, R., Lobnik, F. and Lestan, D. 2003. Microbial community structure during composting with and without mass inocula. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 11(1): 6-15.

- Ceustermans, A., De Cercq, D., Aertsen, A., Michiels, C., Coosemans, J. and Ryckeboer, J. 2007. Inactivation of *Salmonella* Senftenberg strain W775 during composting of biowastes and garden wastes. *J. Appli. Microbiol.*, 103: 53-64.
- CFIA 2008. Meat Hygiene Manual of Procedures. Chapter 4: Inspection Procedures, Dispositions, Monitoring and Controls - Annex N, Removal of specified risk materials (SRM) from cattle slaughtered in establishments inspected under the meat inspection regulations, 1990. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/fssa/meavia/man/ch4/annexne.shtml. Accessed 25 August, 2008.
- Crawford, J.H. 1983. Composting of agriculture wastes a review. *Process Biochem.*, 18: 14-18.
- Curtis, M.J., Kleiner, W.A., Claassen, V.P. and Dahlgren, R.A. 2005. Differences in a composted animal waste and straw mixtures as a function of three compost methods. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 13(2): 98-107.
- Dewell, R.D., Hoffman, T.W., Woerner, D.R., Belk, K.E., Whalen, L.R., Fails, A.D., Scanga, J.A., Smith, G.C. and Salman, M.D. 2008. Estimated compliance for removal of specified risk materials from 18 U.S. beef packing plants. *J. Food Prot.*, 71(3): 573-577.
- Fedorowicz, E.M., Miller, S.F. and Miller, B.G. 2007. Biomass gasification as a means of carcass and specified risk materials disposal and energy production in the beef rendering and meatpacking industries. *Energy Fuels.*, 21: 3225-3232.

- Godden, B., Ball, A.S., Helvenstein, P., McCarthy, A.J. and Penninckx, M.J.
 1992. Towards elucidation of the lignin degradation pathway in actinomycetes. *J. Gen. Microbial.*, 138: 2441-2448.
- Hao, X., Chang, C. and Larney, F.J. 2004. Carbon, nitrogen balanced and greenhouse gas emission during cattle feedlot manure composting. J. *Environ. Qual.*, 33: 37-44.
- Hassen, A., Belguith, K., Jedidi, N., Cherif, A., Cherif, M. and Boudabous, A. 2001. Microbial characterization during composting of municipal solid waste. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 80: 217-225.
- Herrmann, R.F. and Shann, J.F. 1997. Microbial community changes during the composting of municipal solid waste. *Micro. Ecol.*, 33: 78-85.
- Hill, G.T., Mitkowski, N.A., Aldrich-Wolfe, L., Emele, L.R., Jurkonie, D.D.,
 Ficke, A., Maldonado-Ramirez, S., Lynch, S.T. and Nelson, E.B. 2000.
 Methods for assessing the composition and diversity of soil microbial communities. *Appl. Soil Ecol.*, 15: 25-36.
- Kalbasi-Ashtari, A., Schutz, M.M. and Auvermann, B.W. 2008. Carcass rendering systems for farm mortalities: A review. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.*, 7:199-211.
- Klamer, M. and Bååth, E. 1998. Microbial community dynamics during composting of straw material studied using phospholipid fatty acid analysis. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 27: 9-20.
- Lacey, J. 1997. Actinomycetes in composts. Ann. Agric. Environ. Med., 4: 113-121.

- Lafond, S., Paré, T., Dinel, H., Schnitzer, M., Chambers, J.R. and Jaouich, A.
 2002. Composting duck excreta enriched wood shavings: C and N
 transformations and bacterial pathogen reductions. *J. Environ. Sci. Health*,
 B37(2): 173-186.
- Larney, F.J. and Olson, A.F. 2006. Windrow temperature and chemical properties during active and passive aeration composting of beef cattle feedlot manure. *Can. Soil Sci.*, 86(5): 783-797.
- Larney, F.J., Olson, A.F., Miller J.J., DeMaere P.R., Zvomuya F. and McAllister
 T.A. 2008. Physical and chemical changes during composting of wood chipbedded and straw bedded beef cattle feedlot manure. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 37: 725-735.
- Lei, F. and VanderGheynst, J.S. 2000. The effect of microbial inoculation and pH on microbial community structure changes during composting. *Process Biochem.*, 35: 923-929.
- Michel, F.C., Pecchia, J.A., Rigot, J. and Keener, H.M. 2004. Mass and nutrient losses during the composting of dairy manure amended with sawdust or straw. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 12(4): 323-334.
- Paisley, L.G. and Hostrup-Pedersen, J. 2005. A quantitative assessment of the BSE risk associated with fly ash and slag from the incineration of meat and bone meal in a gas-fired power plant in Denmark. *Prev. Vet. Med.*, 68: 263-275.

Prusiner, S.B. 1998. Prions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 95: 13363-13383.

- Puhl, A.A., Selinger, L.B., McAllister, T.A. and Inglis, G.D. 2009. Actinomadura keratinilytica sp. nov., a keratin-degrading actinobacterium isolated from bovine maure compost. Int. J. Sys. Evol. Microbiol., 59: 828-834.
- Raichura, A. and McCartney, D. 2006. Composting of municipal biosolids: effect of bulking agent particle size on operating performance. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.*, 5: 235-241.
- Ramsey, P.W., Rillig, M.C., Feris, K.P., Holben, W.E. and Gannon, J.E. 2006. Choice of methods for soil microbial community analysis: PLFA maximizes power compared to CLPP and PCR-based approaches. *Pedobiologia*, 50: 275-280.
- Rasapoor, M., Nasrabadi, T., Kamali, M. and Hoveidi, H. 2009. The effect of aeration rate on generated compost quality, using aerated static pile method. *Waste Manage.*, 29: 570-573.
- Richard, T.L., Hamelers, H.V.M., Veeken, A. and Silva, T. 2002. Moisture relationships in composting processes. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 10(4): 286-302.
- SAS Institute. 2001. SAS/STAT user's guide. Version 8. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Smårs, S., Gustafsson, L., Beck-Friis, B. and Jönsson, H. 2002. Improvement of the composting time for household waste during an initial low pH phase by mesophilic temperature control. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 84: 237-241.
- Stanford, K., Nelson, V., Sexton, B., McAllister, T.A., Hao, X. and Larney, F.J. 2007. Open-air windrows for winter disposal of frozen cattle mortalities:

effects of ambient temperature and mortality layering. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 15:257–266.

- Steger, K., Jarvis, Å., Smårs, S. and Sundh, I. 2003. Comparison of signature lipid methods to determine microbial community structure in compost. J. *Microbiol. Methods*, 55: 371-382.
- Strom, P.F. Identification of thermophilic bacteria in solid waste composting. 1985. Appl. Environ. Microbial., 50: 906-913.
- Takaku, H., Kodaira, S., Kimoto, A., Nashimoto, M. and Takagi, M. 2006.
 Microbial communities in the garbage compsting with rice hull as an amendment revealed by culture-dependent and –independent approaches. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 101: 42-50.
- Tiquia, S.M., Tam, N.F.Y. and Hodgkiss, I.J. 1998. Changes in chemical properties during composting of spent pig littler at different moisture contents. *Agri. Ecosys. Environ.*, 67: 79-89.
- Tuomela, M., Vikman, M., Hatakka, A. and Itävaara, M. 2000. Biodegradation of lignin in a compost environment: a review. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 72: 169-183.
- Van Herk, F.H., Cockwill, C.L., Guselle, N., Larney, F.J., Olson, M.E. and McAllister, T.A. 2004. Elimination of Giardia cysts and Cryptosporidium oocysts in beef feedlot manure compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 12: 235-241.
- Ward, P.L., Wohlt, J.E., Zajac, P.K. and Cooper, K.R. 2000. Chemical and physical properties of processed newspaper compared to wheat straw and wood shavings as animal bedding. *J. Dairy Sci.*, 83: 359-367.

- Xu, S., Hao, X., Stanford, K., McAllister, T., Larney, F.J. and Wang, J. 2007.
 Greenhouse gas emissions during co-composting of cattle mortalities with manure. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 78: 177-187.
- Xu, W., Reuter, T., Inglis, G.D., Larney, F.J., Alexander, T.W., Guan, J.,
 Stanford, K., Xu, Y. and McAllister, T.A. 2009. A biosecure composting system for disposal of cattle carcasses and manure following infectious disease outbreak. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 38: 437-450.
- Yu, S., Clark, G. and Leonard, J. 2005. Airflow measurement in passively aerated compst. *Can. Biosys. Eng.*, 47: 39-45.
- Zelles, L. 1999. Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterization of microbial communities in soil: a review. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 29: 111-129.
- Zelles, L., Bai, Q.Y., Backwitz, R., Chadwick, D. and Beese, F. 1995.
 Determination of phospholipids- and lipopolysaccharide-derived fatty acids as an estimate of microbial biomass and community structures in soils. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 19: 115-123.

Chapter 3 Biodegradation of specified risk material and characterization of actinobacterial communities in laboratoryscale composters[†]

3.1 Introduction

As a consequence of the occurrence of bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in Canada in 2003, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) imposed an enhanced feed ban in July of 2007 to prevent the introduction of specified risk material (SRM) into the food chain (CFIA 2008). Specified risk material refers to specific body tissues known to be at risk of harbouring infectious prion proteins (PrP^{TSE}), including the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine tonsils, spinal cord and the dorsal root ganglia of cattle aged 30 months or older, as well as the distal ileum of cattle of all ages (CFIA 2008). Currently, rendering followed by deposition of the resultant meat and bone meal in landfills is the main method of SRM disposal in Canada. The enhanced feed ban has prompted renderers to impose fees for SRM disposal and consequently there is a desire to develop economical on-farm disposal methods for SRM. One economically feasible option may be composting as this has been shown to reduce pathogens (Van Herk et al. 2004; Xu et al. 2009) while producing a valuable fertilizer for agriculture crops (Ros et al. 2006; Ceustermans et al. 2007).

[†] A version of this chapter has been published. Xu, S., Inglis, G.D., Reuter, T., Clark, O.G., Belosevic, M., Leonard J.J. and McAllister, T.A. 2011. Biodegradation. 22(5): 1029-1043.

Effective composting of SRM requires that animal tissues are fully biodegraded and that precautions are taken to minimize the risk of pathogen transmission or the generation of odours or effluent (Berge et al. 2009; Xu et al. 2009). To inactivate human pathogens, guidelines from CCME (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment) and USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) both suggest that all materials are exposed to temperatures of at least 55°C for at least 3 consecutive days. During the composting process, degradation of organic matter occurs more rapidly under thermophilic than under mesophilic conditions (Ekinci et al. 2004; Qdais and Hamoda 2004). Achieving elevated temperatures for a prolonged duration might be the key to establishing composting conditions that kill pathogens and biodegrade SRM (Kalbasi et al. 2005; Wilkinson 2007; Stanford et al. 2009).

Self-heating laboratory-scale composters rely solely on microbial heat production to obtain process temperatures, as well as on heat retention by external insulation (Campbell et al. 1990a). However, self-heating composters can have large heat losses resulting in a short thermophilic phase, even when well-insulated (Mason and Mike 2005). In contrast, actively-heated laboratory-scale composters sustain temperatures through active aeration with moist hot air (Smårs et al. 2001), placement in a heated water bath (Qdais and Hamoda 2004) or circulation of warm water through a jacket (Campbell et al. 1990b; Huang et al. 2000). Actively-heated laboratory-scale systems may increase the degree of SRM degradation.

The biodegradation of SRM in compost depends on the complex microbial consortia that are naturally present in this environment (Chapter 2; Berge et al. 2009). Although composting of cattle carcasses on-farm has been evaluated (Stanford et al. 2007; Xu et al. 2009), information on the microbes participating in this process is lacking. Actinobacteria are a group of Gram-positive bacteria (Class Actinobacteria) characterized by a high G + C content (Strom 1985). Actinobacteria play an important role in degradation of organic matter in compost, such as cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin and chitin (Lacey 1997). Some actinobacteria isolated from soil, in particular Amycolatopsis and Saccharomonospora, have exhibited activity against recalcitrant proteins, such as keratin (Al-Zarban et al. 2002; Al-Musallam et al. 2003). A novel keratinolytic actinobacteria has also previously isolated from a composting environment (Puhl et al. 2009). In addition, Hui et al. (2004) isolated as a PrP^{TSE}-degrading enzyme from culture medium of *Streptomyces* sp. and an alkaliphilic actinobacterial isolate capable of degrading PrP^{TSE} has recently been described (Mitsuiki et al. 2010).

In the current study, two types of composters, ambient and actively heated, were constructed to assess the extent of SRM biodegradation during composting. The nature of actinobacterial communities were also examined using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) due to the potential important role that these bacteria may play in the degradation of recalcitrant proteins. The overall objective was to develop a laboratory scale composting system that would be suitable for examining the biodegradation of PrP^{BSE} under level III containment conditions.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Laboratory-scale composting apparatus design

Six laboratory-composters were used in the present experiment with three of these composters being actively heated via a circulating water jacket. Ambient composters were constructed in the same manner as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.1). For actively-heated composters (Figure 3-1a), the vessels were surrounded with 15 m of polyvinyl chloride hoses (20 mm diameter; K3150; Kuriyama, Schaumburg, IL). The hoses were connected to a water circulation system (Figure 3-1b) in which heated water ($60 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) was continuously circulated from an electric water heater (JW50SDE130; GSW Water Heating, Fergus, ON) using a nonsubmersible pump (UPS15-35SFC; GRUNDFOS, Oakville, ON).

3.2.2 Composting setup and sampling procedure

Fresh feedlot beef manure $(35 \pm 0.1 \text{ kg})$ and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) wood shavings $(3.5 \pm 0.1 \text{ kg})$ were thoroughly mixed by hand to form a matrix with a moisture content of $76.0 \pm 0.3\%$. Before filling, 20 mm layers of wood shavings were placed in the bottom of each composter. Duplicate samples of fresh manure, wood shavings and the mixed matrix were collected from each replicate composter and stored at 4°C for physical and chemical analysis. The basic properties of the compost ingredients are provided in Table 3-1. The remaining mixed matrix were freeze-dried in a freeze dryer (Series 24D × 48; Virtis, Gardiner, NY) and frozen at -40°C for later extraction of DNA for use in DGGE. Fresh bovine brain tissue (i.e. cerebrum, cerebellum and brain stem) from mortalities under 30 months of age were obtained from a nearby slaughterhouse and used as a model for SRM. Brain tissue $(100 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}; \text{ wet basis})$ was weighed and sealed in $140 \times 90 \text{ mm}$ nylon bags (25 µm pore size; Sefar BDH Inc., Chicoutimi, QC) and the bags along with 400 g of freshly mixed compost matrix were placed in larger polyester mesh bags ($200 \times 200 \text{ mm}; 5 \text{ mm}$ pore size). Polyester twine was attached to each bag to enable easy recovery of the material during composting.

As each compost vessel was filled, six mesh bags were placed at three depths, 0.45 m (bottom) 0.3 m (middle) and 0.15 m (top) resulting in a total of eighteen mesh bags in each composter. Mesh bags were collected after 5, 10 and 15 days of composting. A total of six mesh bags were removed at each sampling time with two bags being collected from each of the three depths per replicate composter. After collecting the mesh bags on day 15, compost materials in each composter were dumped and mixed using a shovel and returned to the composter from which they originated for a second heating cycle. As the composters were filled, mesh bags containing a mixture of fresh brain tissue (100 ± 0.1 g; wet basis) and compost were placed in the composter in the same manner as for the first composting cycle. In the second composting cycle, mesh bags were collected after 20, 25 and 30 days. After each sampling, compost samples (150-200 g) were collected from the mesh bags and stored at 4°C for further physicochemical analysis, while the remaining compost in the mesh bags was freeze-dried and frozen at -40°C for later DNA extraction.

3.2.3 Biodegradation of specified risk material and compost properties

The degradation of SRM was estimated on the basis of dry matter disappearance from the nylon bags during the composting process in the same manner as detailed in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3).

Compost temperatures and oxygen concentration (%) were measured at the same three depths as the mesh bags were implanted using the methods from Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3). Fresh manure, wood shavings and the mixed matrix used for composting setup and compost samples retrieved from mesh bags were analyzed for moisture, total carbon (TC), total nitrogen (TN), pH, electrical conductivity (EC), and mineral N (NH₄⁺ and NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻) as previously described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3).

3.2.4 DNA extraction

Prior to DNA extraction, all freeze-dried compost samples were ground using a Ball Mill (MM200; Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany) and pooled by replicates to decrease the variability of replicates within the given treatments (Philips et al. 2006). For the samples collected prior to composting, an equal amount of compost matrix collected in duplicate from the six composters was pooled. Duplicate samples collected after composting originated from mesh bags implanted at the middle depth with equal amounts being pooled from the three replicate composters within each treatment. Samples were thoroughly mixed prior to DNA extraction. Subsequently, DNA was extracted from 100 mg of pooled sample by QIAamp DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON). Extracted DNA was quantified using a Nanodrop 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Extracted DNA was stored at -20°C prior to further analysis.

As positive controls for PCR and DGGE analysis, *Thermobifida fusca*, *Streptomyces thermovulgaris*, *Saccharomonospora viridis*, *Actinomadura hallensis*, *Streptomyces thermophilis* and *Nocardiopsis sp*. were isolated from a cattle mortality composting system developed by Xu et al. (2009). Isolates were identified on the basis of morphological characteristics and 16S rRNA gene sequence. The DNA from control isolates was isolated using a DNeasy tissue kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) following the manufacturer's protocol for Gram positive bacteria.

3.2.5 PCR-DGGE and sequencing analysis

For all extracted DNA, fragments of actinobacterial 16S rRNA gene were amplified using a nested PCR approach from Heuer et al. (1997). In the firstround PCR, the primers F243 and R1378 (Heuer et al. 1997) were used to specifically amplify actinobacterial 16S rRNA gene. The products from the firstround PCR were then used as a template for the second-round PCR with the primers F984GC (Nübel et al. 1996) and R1378 (Heuer et al. 1997) to amplify bacterial 16S rRNA gene, which obtained a suitable length fragment (~400 bp) for the analysis of DGGE. In the first-round PCR, the total reaction volume was 50 µl with each reaction containing 40 ng template DNA, $1 \times$ HotStarTaq *Plus* DNA Master Mix (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON), 0.2 µM of each primer as well as 0.1 µg/µL bovine serum albumin (New England Biolabs, Pickering, ON). Amplification was conducted using a thermal cycler (Mastercycler epgradient; Eppendorf, Hamberg, Germany), with conditions of 94°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 1 min at 62°C, 2 min at 72°C, and finally 10 min at 72 °C. PCR products were visualized on a 1.5% (w v⁻¹) agarose gel and purified using a QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON). The purified PCR product was used as templates in the second-round PCR, which was conducted in the same manner as described above.

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis using the DCodeTM Universal Mutation System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) was performed by loading PCR products (500 ng) onto a polyacrylamide gel containing 6% (v v⁻¹) acrylamidebisacrylamide, 0.09% tetramethylenediamine (v v⁻¹), and 0.09% ammonium persulfate (w v⁻¹). A linear gradient of denaturant from the top (30%) to the bottom (60%) of the gel was applied with the 100% denaturant containing 7 M urea and 40% (v v⁻¹) formamide. Gels were run at a constant voltage of 150 V and a temperature of 60°C in 1 × TAE buffer for 6 h. Gels were stained with SYBR Gold, 10⁻⁴ dilution (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR) for at least 30 min and the migration patterns were visualized using a UV transilluminator (Biospectrum 800 imaging system; UVP, LLC, Upland, CA).

All dominant DGGE bands and emergence appearance or disappearance DGGE bands were excised for sequencing and placed in 50 µl of elution TE buffer (pH=7.4) overnight. The eluted DNA fragments were re-amplified with F984 and R1378 primers as described above for the second-round PCR. The PCR products were purified with EXOSAP-IT enzyme (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA) and sequenced at a commercial sequencing centre (Macrogen Inc., Rockville, MD).

For phylogenetic analyses, nucleotide sequences were aligned using Sequence Scanner Software v1.0 (Applied Biosystems 2005). The trimmed clean and high quality 16S rDNA sequences were compared with actinobacterial sequences from the GeneBank database (NCBI, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) using BLASTN. The phylogenetic tree was constructed by the Neighbour joining method. TREEVIEW (Page 2001) was used to generate a rooted phylogenetic tree. The reliability of the phylogenetic estimates was evaluated with the DNADIST, NEIGHBOR, SEQBOOT and CONSENSE programs in the PHYLIP package (Felsenstein 2005) based on 1000 replications. *Rubrobacter radiotolerans* (GenBank accession no. U65647) used as an outgroup from the NCBI database was included. The nucleotide sequences reported in this study were deposited in NCBI nucleotide sequence databases with the accession numbers HQ911331 to HQ911358.

3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the DGGE bands was conducted with BioNumerics software (Applied Maths Inc. 2007) according to the provider's instructions. Calculation of the pair-wise similarities of relative abundance-based densitometric profile was performed using Pearson's correlation coefficients. Cluster analysis based on this similarity matrix was done by the unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average (UPGMA) to form a complete linkage dendrogram. For each time point, duplicate data from two mesh bags collected at each depth per composter were averaged as the mean of each replicate within treatment before statistical analysis. Physicochemical parameters of the compost as well as SRM degradation were analyzed using the Mixed procedure of SAS (SAS Institute 2001) with time and compost depth treated as repeated measures in the model. Differences between ambient and actively heated compost were reported at the < 0.05 probability level. The comparisons between two composting cycles for SRM degradation at the middle depth and compost temperatures at three depths were respectively analysed using the Mixed procedure of SAS with time as the only repeated measure in the model.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Temperature and oxygen profiles

In the first composting cycle, temperature peaked at 54°C on day 3 in ambient compost and at 56°C on day 2 in actively-heated compost (Figure 3-2a). Subsequently, temperatures steadily declined, but remained above 50°C for 2 days in ambient compost and for 7 days in actively-heated compost. Temperatures in actively-heated compost remained higher (P < 0.05) than that in ambient compost for 7 days (days 0, 1, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 15) at the top depth, for 2 days (days 1 and 7) at the middle depth, and for 6 days (days 0, 1, 5, 6, 7, and 8) at the bottom depth.

Upon mixing, temperatures rapidly increased in actively-heated compost at day 15, but continued to decline in ambient compost before it once again increased on day 16 (Figure 3-2a). During the second cycle, peak temperatures occurred on day 19 (47°C) in ambient compost and on day 17 (52°C) in actively-

110

heated compost. A greater divergence in temperatures was observed between the two types of composters. Temperatures did not exceed 50°C in ambient compost, but did remain above this level for 4 days in actively-heated compost. In contrast to the first composting cycle, temperatures in the second cycle were lower (P < 0.05) for 7 and 4 days of the 15 days at all three depths in ambient and actively-heated compost, respectively.

Oxygen concentrations were 17% in ambient compost and 12% in activelyheated compost at day 0 (Figure 3-2b). In the early composting period, oxygen concentration in ambient compost declined to 2% after 1 day, but had returned to 19% by day 3. A decline in oxygen concentration was not observed for activelyheated compost as it steadily increased to 19% by day 3. Oxygen concentration remained at this level in both ambient and actively-heated compost for the remainder of composting period.

3.3.2 Changes of physicochemical properties

Moisture contents remained relatively constant during the initial composting cycle, but declined in both compost types during the second composting cycle, with the decline being more rapid in actively-heated compost (Figure 3-3). By day 30, moisture contents in actively-heated compost ranged from 17.6% to 31.6% at all compost depths and were lower (P < 0.05) at all depths than those in ambient compost. Levels of TC gradually declined (P < 0.05) over the entire composting period and did not differ between ambient or actively-heated compost. Similarly, composting method did not influence TN content which gradually increased over

the composting period. Compost C/N ratio declined from an initial ratio of around 22 to a range between 15 and 18 upon completion of the experiment.

Initial compost pH was 8.2, a level that increased over the first 5 days of composting and thereafter declined over the remainder of composting period in both compost types. Compost EC increased over the initial composting cycle, but declined in ambient compost and increased in actively-heated compost after mixing in the second cycle. By day 30, actively-heated compost exhibited a higher (P < 0.05) EC than ambient compost.

The concentrations of NH_4^+ -N in the lower and upper depths peaked at days 5 and 10, respectively, and thereafter declined until day 30. During the decline, ambient compost had a higher NH_4^+ -N (P < 0.05) than actively-heated compost, but no differences in NH_4^+ -N were observed between two compost types at the end of composting. Low levels of ($NO_2^- + NO_3^-$)-N (< 3 mg kg⁻¹) were observed over the majority of the composting period with a greater (P < 0.05) value in ambient than in actively-heated compost at the final day of composting.

3.3.3 Biodegradation of specified risk material

In the first composting cycle, the loss of SRM dry matter depended on three factors (i.e. the exposure time, depth of placement, and ambient or active heating), as a three way interaction (P < 0.05) among these factors occurred (Table 3-2). The extent of SRM degradation was almost completed after 10 days at three depths in both composters with only about 50% of SRM dry matter remaining in the implanted bags. The exception was at bottom depth in actively-heated compost, with this level of SRM being degraded after 5 days (Figure 3-4a).

Although the overall degradation of SRM did not differ between ambient and actively- heated compost, there was a greater (P < 0.05) dry matter loss in ambient than in actively-heated compost at top depth on day 5.

In the second composting cycle, 46.6% and 41.1% of SRM were degraded in ambient and actively-heated compost but still did not differ as a result of an additional 15 days of composting (Figure 3-4b). The extent of SRM degradation also did not statistically differ between the first and second composting cycle.

3.3.4 PCR-DGGE and sequencing analysis

Preliminary experiments using three replicate PCR products from the compost samples showed the consistent band patterns of DGGE profile among the replicate samples (Figures 3-5 and 3-6). Thus, it demonstrated the low variability of the PCR amplification and the good repeatability of DGGE results.

Considerably different actinobacterial DNA banding profiles were produced as a result of DGGE depending on sampling time and if the compost was actively heated or not (Figure 3-7a). In general, the average number of DGGE bands tended to increase from 9 at day 0 to 19 at day 15 during the first composting cycle and decrease from 23 at day 20 to 13 at day 30 during the second composting cycle. The UPGMA analysis revealed that the DGGE profiles clustered on the basis of time of sampling in first composting cycle (Figure 3-7b) and on if they originated from ambient or actively-heated compost during the second cycle.

In general, the average numbers of bands observed were 14 in ambient compost and 18 in actively-heated compost in the first cycle. However, the band number became more numerous in ambient compost in the second cycle with 19 and 16 in ambient and actively-heated compost, respectively. In the second cycle, the pooled samples from ambient and actively-heated compost clustered separately at each sampling day. A divergence was especially obvious in activelyheated compost samples from day 30, which exhibited only a 65% similarity with other samples collected in the second composting cycle (Figure 3-7b).

Sequencing all of the dominant bands generated the Neighbor joining tree in Figure 3-8. Sequences from bands 1, 2, 3, and 4 at day 0 were closely affiliated to *Corynebacterium*. Similarly, sequence from bands 5, 6, and 7 in ambient compost and from band 8 in actively-heated compost at day 5 formed a robust clade with *Corynebacterium*. On day 5, a faint band (band 9) derived from actively-heated compost at day 5 was distantly associated with *Promicromonospora sp*. Subsequently, a pronounced band (band 10), closely associated with band 9, appeared in ambient compost on day 10. At day 15, sequencing bands formed a non-robust clade with *Pseudonocardia* (band 15) and a robust clad with *Thermobifida* (band 16). After mixing the compost, band sequences (bands 17, 18, and 19), derived from day 20 in both compost types, were associated with *Corynebacterium*, whereas sequences associated with *Mycobacterium* (bands 21, 24, 27, and 28) and *Nocardia* (bands 20 and 23) were found at day 25 and with *Saccharomonospora* (bands 22 and 25) and *Streptomyces* (band 26) on day 30.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Temperature and oxygen profiles

Production of heat in the compost is associated with the microbial degradation of organic matter. The temperature of compost is a reflection of the balance between heat-production and heat-dissipation, a factor that is influenced by the nature of the composting matrix, aeration and the insulative value of the compost container (Krogmann and Körner 2000; Berge et al. 2009). In this study, ambient compost experienced two days of temperature above 50° C in the primary composting cycle. However, use of a simple water jacket prolonged the period of thermophilic composting for 5 of 15 days in the primary cycle, with temperature above 50°C occurring 2 days earlier and continuing 3 days longer than in the nonheated system. This suggests that the high temperature ($60^{\circ}C$) inside the water jacket decreased heat loss reducing the rate of temperature decline after peak values were obtained. Additionally, the system likely radiated heat to the composters, accelerating the rise in temperature during the early stages of composting. Before mixing, the average temperature in actively-heated compost were 3.8°C, 2.4°C and 4.3°C higher than ambient compost at the top, middle and bottom depths, respectively.

Mixing of the compost promoted a renewed heating cycle with both types of composters developing a lower temperature profile, but a pattern that was similar to that observed the first composting cycle. Periodic turning of compost is used in windrows and in-vessel systems, as it breaks up aggregates, redistributes moisture and exposes substrate surfaces, promoting microbial activity and prolonging the period of thermophilic biodegradation during composting (Manios et al. 2006; Stanford et al. 2009). Ambient compost exhibited a typical decline in compost oxygen concentration at the start of composting, indicating that oxygen was being consumed by the microbes via aerobic respiration. A similar phenomenon has been observed in a previous study using a same composting system (Chapter 2; Figure 2-3b). However, active-heating resulted in oxygen concentrations similar to atmospheric concentrations, a result that has been confirmed by others using actively heated composter (Hogan et al. 1989). Active heating may have initially enhanced passive airflow in the composter, improving aeration and oxygen diffusion during the early stages of composting. After five days of composting oxygen levels remained above 19% indicating that oxygen availability did not limit the composting process.

3.4.2 Changes of physicochemical properties

Initial moisture levels of the compost (70% wet basis) were within a range considered optimal for effective composting (Rynk 1992). Active-heating resulted in a greater loss of moisture than ambient compost, a response that was accelerated after the compost was mixed after the first cycle. Upon completion of the experiment, moisture content was reduced to approximate 30%, a level that is not optimal for organic matter degradation (Ahn et al. 2008). The average TC loss (2.4%) in the first composting cycle was slightly higher than the 1.3% loss observed in a previous trial using the same laboratory-scale composters (Chapter 2; Figure 2-4). This slight difference likely arises from differences in the composition of the feedlot manure between the two studies. The increase in TN content observed in this study supports the hypothesis put forward by Xu et al.

(2007) that the degradation of SRM releases a large amount of free nitrogen into compost that surround the nylon bags.

Compost EC is generally measured as an indicator of the sum of soluble ions in compost extract (Inbar et al. 1993). An increase of compost EC in my results was similar to Larney and Olson (2006), a result that has been attributed to the loss of organic matter and a resultant increase in the relative concentration of soluble salts in the remaining substrate. The lower water content in activelyheated compost, likely concentrated the soluble salts in the compost resulting in a higher EC at day 30 as compared to ambient compost.

Patterns in compost pH were consistent with the changes in NH_4^+ -N concentration during composting. Compost pH increased at day 5 likely due to NH_4^+ -N arising from the deamination of amino acids released from the hydrolysis of protein in SRM. The decline in pH in the second composting period likely reflects the volatilization of NH₃ (McCrory and Hobbs 2002). Loss of NH₃ appeared to be accelerated in actively-heated compost and in some instances development of conditions conducive for nitrification have accounted for N losses during the latter stages of composting (Hao et al. 2001).

3.4.3 Biodegradation of specified risk material

Close to 50% of SRM dry matter disappeared within 15 days of composting, similar to that observed in Chapter 2. Schwarzlose et al. (2008) reported that insulation of composters improved heat retention and accelerated the biodegradation of poultry carcasses during a 30 day composting period. In this study, actively-heated compost prolonged thermophilic composting (50-60°C),

but only for a relatively short period of 5 days. This extent of heat transfer may not have been sufficient to significantly increase the activity of thermophilic microbes involved in the degradation of SRM at all depths. Degradation of SRM was accelerated at the bottom depth in actively-heated compost, but tended to be decreased at the top depth in the first 5 days. This suggests that active-heating may have accelerated the development of mesophilic microbial communities leading to increased degradation of SRM, but that a longer thermophilic phase actually reduced SRM decomposition. Beck-Friis et al. (2001) observed a similar phenomenon where extension of the thermophilc composting period using an external heat source inhibited the degradation of organic matter in a 200 L actively-aerated composter.

After mixing, addition of fresh SRM revealed that extent of degradation of SRM was similar to that achieved during the first composting cycle. Similarly, the decline in TC was off a comparable magnitude. Optimum moisture level is crucial for biodegradation of animal carcasses during composting (Ahn et al. 2008). The lower moisture content of actively-heated compost during the second composting cycle may have numerically reduced the decomposition of SRM as compared to ambient compost during this period. Turning of compost has been shown to enhance the breakdown of bones from cattle carcasses during windrow composting (Stanford et al. 2009). Therefore, mixing of compost in order to generate multiple heating cycles is likely to further increase the extent of SRM degradation, providing moisture levels remain optimal for composting.

3.4.5 PCR-DGGE and sequencing analysis

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis can provide detailed insight into temporal and environmentally-mediated changes in bacterial community structure (Boon et al. 2002; Siddique et al. 2005). The analysis of UPGMA on DGGE band patterns revealed a temporal increase in the diversity of actinobacteria as the composting process proceeded in the first composting cycle. As temperature increases during composting, actinobacteria play an active role in the degradation of organic matter after bacteria and fungi have consumed easily degradable substrates available at initiation of composting (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). A similar result was also confirmed in Chapter 2 in which phospholipids fatty acid profiling was used to assess the development of actinobacteria populations. However, a temporal decrease in the level of actinobacterial diversity was recorded in the second composting cycle. This may be because of the more recalcitrant nutrient components left in the compost at this stage, requiring the development of other bacterial populations that were more specific to the degradation of these substrates. Steger et al. (2007a) found that temperature was an important factor in the development of actinobacteria populations. In the second composting cycle, DGGE band patterns in ambient and actively-heated compost clustered separately at each time point, a result that may be attributed to the greater temperature differences associated with actively-heated compost. Actinobacteria develop poorly in compost that is either too wet or too dry (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). In the second composting cycle, moisture content of the actively-heated compost declined to less than 35% at all depths, a level that may have altered both the diversity and activity of actinobacteria at days 25 and 30.

In this study, the sequences of the DGGE bands were closely related to *Corynebacterium*, both at the initiation of composting as well as during the early thermophilic stage of composting. Steger et al. (2007b) observed that *Corynebacterium* was largely eliminated when thermophilic temperatures were achieved during field-scale composting of organic household waste. The relatively short duration of thermophilic composting in the laboratory-scale composters may not have been sufficient to completely suppress Corynebacterium during composting. The sequences of thermotolerant species, like Promicromonospora sp., Pseudonocardia sp., and Thermobifida sp. were largely obtained on days 10 and 15 in the first composting cycle. However, one band (band 9) associated with *Promicromonospora* sp. was only found at day 5 in actively-heated compost, a result that may have reflected the rapid increase in temperature that occurred in this system. Species of Corynebacterium were detected at day 20, suggesting that mixing created conditions that were conducive for this genus. Mesophilic Mycobacterium and moderately thermophilic Saccharomonospora, Nocardia and Streptomyces were founded on days 25 and 30 in the second composting cycle. Vasileva-Tonkova et al. (2009) reported thermophilic actinobacteria possessed highly active proteases that were capable of rapid hydrolysis of recalcitrant proteins such as the keratin contained in feathers. In the present study, although predominant bands related to thermophilic actinobacteria appeared earlier in actively-heated compost, this did not result in an increase in the extent of degradation of SRM.

3.5 Conclusions

It can be concluded that active heating of laboratory-scale composters constructed in this study did not substantially increase the degradation of SRM. However, mixing of compost can be used as a means of increasing the duration of thermophilic composting and multiple composting cycles may increase the extent of SRM degradation. Temporal changes of actinobacterial communities present in the compost were revealed by PCR-DGGE analysis. Actively-heated composters largely influenced the development of actinobacterial communities in the second composting cycle. Although actinobacteria characterized in this study were not directly shown to be involved in the degradation of SRM, some of actinobacteria identified were closely related to genera that may possess this capacity. The characterization of bacterial communities involved in SRM degradation is currently being conducted. The present laboratory-scale composting system is being employed under level III containment conditions to explore the possible role of actinobacteria in the degradation prions including the biodegradation of PrP^{BSE}.

Materials	Water content (%)	Total carbon (%)	Total nitrogen (%)	C/N ratio	pН	$\frac{\text{EC}}{(\text{ds m}^{-1})}$	NH_4-N (mg kg ⁻¹)	$\frac{NO_2 + NO_3 - N}{(mg kg^{-1})}$
Beef manure	76.0	35.3	2.3	15	8.2	6.1	1036	1
Wood shavings	7.1	51.3	0.1	666	4.3	0.1	1	1
SRM ^a	81.0	56.7	7.4	8	NM	NM	NM	NM

Table 3-1 Characteristics of initial materials used for composting

All values are expressed on a dry weight basis except water content, which is on a wet weight basis ^a Values are cited from Chapter 2 (Table 2-1). NM, not measured

Effects	Numerator degree of freedom	Denominator degree of freedom	F value	<i>P</i> value ^a
Compost type	1	5.77	6.07	0.0505
Compost depth	2	5.34	1.82	0.2498
Compost time	2	10.5	67.88	< 0.0001
Compost type*depth	2	5.34	1.97	0.2286
Compost type*time	2	10.5	3.54	0.0669
Compost depth*time	4	9.41	3.83	0.0416
Compost type*depth*time	4	9.41	4.34	0.0295

Table 3-2 ANOVA (analysis of variance) table for effects of compost type,

 compost depth and compost time on the biodegradation of specified risk material

^aSignificant at P < 0.05



Figure 3-1 (a) Schematics of a 110-L actively-heated laboratory-scale composter and (b) the water circulation system.



Figure 3-2 (a) Temperature and (b) O_2 concentration during composting of specified risk material in ambient (A) and actively-heated (AH) laboratory-scale composters. T = top depth; M = middle depth; B = bottom depth. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed.



Figure 3-3 Physicochemical changes during composting of specified risk material in ambient (A) and actively-heated (AH) laboratory-scale composters. T = top depth; M = middle depth; B = bottom depth. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed.

126



Figure 3-4 (a) Degradation of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) during the first composting cycle in laboratory-scale composters. A-T=top depth of ambient compost; A-M=middle depth of ambient compost; A-B=bottom depth of actively-heated compost; AH-T=top depth of actively-heated compost; AH-M=middle depth of actively-heated compost; (b) Degradation of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) in the first and second composting cycles, respectively, at the middle depth in laboratory-scale composters (fresh specified risk material was added to the composters after mixing on day 15).



Figure 3-5 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis separation of 16S rRNA gene fragments after three replicate PCR amplifications on the same DNA template from different compost types and time using actinobacteria-specific primers F243-R1378 and F984GC-R1378. A=ambient compost; AH=actively-heated compost; R1-R3: three replicate PCR products; Pool: pooled PCR products from R1-R3.





Figure 3-6 Analyses of denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis on the same PCR products amplified by actinobacteria-specific primers F243-R1378 and F984GC-R1378 from different compost types and time using duplicate gels (gels 1 and 2). A=ambient compost; AH=actively-heated compost; M=marker.




Figure 3-7 (a) Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis separation of 16S rRNA gene fragments after PCR with actinobacteria-specific primers F243-R1378 and F984GC-R1378 from different types of composter and composting time and (b) corresponding dendrogram using Pearson's correlation index and unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average. Marked bands were excised and sequenced with sequence results being listed in Figure 3-8. A=ambient compost; AH=actively-heated compost; M=marker. Sequences of bands in the marker from top to the bottom of the gel were affiliated with the following actinobacteria species: *Saccharomonospora viridis, Actinomadura hallensis, Streptomyces thermophilus, Streptomyces thermovulgaris, Nocardiopsis* sp., and *Thermobifida fusca*.

130





Figure 3-8 A Neighbour joining tree of phylogenetic relationships between DNA sequences obtained (see Figure 3-7a) during composting of specified risk material and species within the class *Actinobacteria* (accession numbers of the sequences retrieved from the database are enclosed in parentheses). The scale bar indicates 10% nucleotide substitutions and bootstrap values at 50-100% are displayed at the nodes. The sequences obtained in this study are bold-typed and names indicated Composter Type (A=ambient compost; AH=actively-heated compost)-Sampling Day (Days 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30)-Band Number (1-30). *Rubrobacter radiotolerans* served as an outgroup.

- Ahn, H.K., Richard, T.L. and Glanville, T.D. 2008. Optimum moisture levels for biodegradation of mortality composting envelope materials. *Waste Manage.*, 28: 1411-1416.
- Al-Musallam, A.A., Al-Zarban, S.S., Fasasi, Y.A., Kroppenstedt, R.M. and Stackebrandt, E. 2003. *Amycolatopsis keratiniphila* sp. nov., a novel keratinolytic soil actinomycete from Kuwait. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, 53: 871-874.
- Al-Zarban, S.S., Al-Musallam, A.A., Abbas, I., Stackebrandt, E. and
 Kroppenstedt, R.M. 2002. *Saccharomonospora halophila* sp. nov., a novel halophilic actinomycete isolated from marsh soil in Kuwait. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, 52: 555-558.
- Applied Biosystems 2005. Applied Biosystems Sequence Scanner Software v1.0 Read Me. Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA. Available at http://www.appliedbiosystems.com/support/software/sequencescanner/Read Me.htm. Accessed 14 September, 2011.
- Applied Maths Inc. 2007. BioNumerics QuickGuide version 5.1. Applied Maths Inc., Austin, USA.
- Beck-Friis, B., Smårs, S., Jönsson, H. and Kirchmann, H. 2001. Gaseous emissions of carbon dioxide, ammonia and nitrous oxide from organic household waste in a compost reactor under different temperature regimes. *J. Agric. Engng. Res.*, 78(4): 423-430.

- Berge, A.B., Glanville, T.D., Millner, P.D. and Klingborg, D.J. 2009. Methods and microbial risks associated with composting of animal carcasses in the United States. *JAVMA*, 234: 47-56.
- Boon, N.W., De Windt, W., Verstraete, W. and Top, E.M. 2002. Evaluation of nested PCR-DGGE (denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis) with groupspecific 16S rRNA primers for the analysis of bacterial communities from different wastewater treatment plants. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 39: 101-102.
- Campbell, C.D., Darbyshire, J.F. and Anderson, J.G. 1990a. The composting of tree bark in small reactors: self-heating experiments. *Biol. Wastes*, 31: 145-161.
- Campbell, C.D., Darbyshire, J.F. and Anderson, J.G. 1990b. The composting of tree bark in small reactors: adiabatic and fixed-temperature experiments.*Biol. Wastes*, 31: 175-185.
- Ceustermans, A., De Cercq, D., Aertsen, A., Michiels, C., Coosemans, J. and Ryckeboer, J. 2007. Inactivation of *Salmonella* Senftenberg strain W775 during composting of biowastes and garden wastes. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 103: 53-64.
- CFIA. 2008. Meat hygiene manual of procedures. Chapter 4: Inspection procedures, dispositions, monitoring and controls - Annex N, Removal of specified risk materials (SRM) from cattle slaughtered in establishments inspected under the meat inspection regulations, 1990. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/fssa/meavia/man/ch4/annexne.shtml. Accessed 19 October, 2010.

- Ekinci, K., Keener, H.M., Michel, F.C. and Elwell, D.L. 2004. Modeling composting rate as a function of temperature and initial moisture content. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 12: 356-364.
- Felsenstein, J. 2005. PHYLIP (phylogeny inference package) version 3.6.Distributed by the author. Department of Genome Science, University of Washington, Seattle, USA.
- Hao, X., Chang, C., Larney, F.J. and Travis, G.R. 2001. Greenhouse gas emissions during cattle feedlot manure composting. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 30: 376-386.
- Heuer, H., Krsek, M., Baker, P., Smalla, K. and Wellington, E.M.H. 1997.
 Analysis of Actinomycete communities by specific amplification of genes encoding 16S rRNA and gel-electrophoretic separation in denaturing gradients. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 63: 3233-3241.
- Hogan, J.A., Miller, F.C. and Finstein, M.S. 1989. Physical modeling of the composting ecosystem. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 55: 1082-1092.
- Huang, J., Wang, C. and Jih, C. 2000. Empirical model and kinetic behaviour of thermophilic composting of vegetables waste. J. Environ. Eng., 126: 1019-1025.
- Hui, Z., Doi, H., Kanouchi, H., Matsuura, Y., Mohri, S., Nonomura, Y. and Oka,
 T. 2004. Alkaline serine protease produced by *Streptomyces* sp. degrades
 PrP(Sc). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 321: 45-50.

- Inbar, Y., Hadar, Y. and Chen, Y. 1993. Recycling of cattle manure: the composting process and characterization of maturity. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 22: 857-863.
- Kalbasi, A., Mukhta, S., Hawkins, S.E. and Auvermann, B.W. 2005. Carcass composting for management of farm mortalities: A review. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 13: 180-193.
- Krogmann, U. and Körner, I. 2000. Technology and Strategies of composting. Klein, J. and Winter, J. (Eds.). Biotechnology: a multi-volume comprehensive treatise (Volume 11c, 2nd ed). WILEY-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 127-150.
- Lacey, J. 1997. Actinomycetes in composts. Ann. Agric. Environ. Med., 4: 113-121.
- Larney, F.J. and Olson, A.F. 2006. Windrow temperature and chemical properties during active and passive aeration composting of beef cattle feedlot manure. *Can. Soil Sci.*, 86: 783-797.
- Manios, T., Maniadakis, K., Kalogeraki, M., Mari, E., Stratakis, E., Terzakis, S., Boytzakis, P., Naziridis, Y. and Zampetakis, L. 2006. Efforts to explain and control the prolonged thermophilic period in two-phase olive oil mill sludge composting. *Biodegradation*, 17: 285-292.
- Mason, I.G. and Milke, M.W. 2005. Physical modelling of the composting environment: A review Part 1: Reactor systems. *Waste Manage.*, 25: 481-500.

- McCrory, D.F. and Hobbs, P.J. 2002. Additives to reduce ammonia and odor emissions from livestock wastes: A review. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 30: 345-355.
- Mitsuiki, S., Takasugi, M., Moriyama, Y., Futagami, T., Goto, M., Kanouchi, H. and Oka, T. 2010. Identification of an alkaliphilic actinomycetes that produces a PrPSc-degrading enzyme. *Annals Microbiol.*, 60: 349-353.
- Nübel, U., Engelen, B., Felske, A., Snaidr, J., Weishuber, A., Amman, R.I., Ludwig, W. and Backhaus, W. 1996. Sequence heterogeneities of genes encoding 16S rRNAs in *paenibacillus polymyxa* detected by temperature gradient gel electrophoresis. *J. Bacteriol.*, 178: 5636-5643.
- Page, R.D.M. 2001. Tree View. Distributed by the author. Faculty of Biomedical and Life Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow. Available at http://taxonomy.zoology.gla.ac.uk/rod/treeview.html. Accessed 14 September, 2011.
- Phillips, L.A., Greer, C.W. and Germida, J.J. 2006. Culture-based and cultureindependent assessment of the impact of mixed and single plant treatments on rhizosphere microbial communities in hydrocarbon contaminated flarepit soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 38: 2823-2833.
- Puhl, A.A., Selinger, L.B., McAllister, T.A. and Inglis, G.D. 2009. Actinomadura keratinilytica sp. nov., a keratin-degrading actinobacterium isolated from bovine manure compost. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 59: 828-834.
- Qdais, H.A. and Hamoda, M.F. 2004. Enhancement of carbon and nitrogen transformations during composting of municipal solid waste. J. Environ. Sci. Health, 39(2): 409-420.

- Ros, M., Klammer, S., Knapp, B., Aicherger, K. and Insam, H. 2006. Long term effects of compost amendment of soil on functional and structural diversity and microbial activity. *Soil Use Manage.*, 22: 209-218.
- Ryckeboer, J., Mergaert, J., Vaes, K., Klammer, S., De Clercq, D., Coosemans, J.,Insam, H. and Swings, J. 2003. A survey of bacteria and fungi occurringduring composting and self-heating processes. *Ann. Microbiol.*, 53: 349-410.
- Rynk, R. (Ed.). 1992. On-farm Composting Handbook, NRAES-54. Northeast Regional Agricultural Engineering Service, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- SAS Institute. 2001. SAS/STAT user's guide Version 8. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, USA.
- Schwarzlose, I., Gerdes, U., Gerlach, G.F., Runge, M., Thalmann, G., Nöckler,
 A., Klarmann, D., Behr, K.P., Neumann, U., Seedorf, J., Hartung, J. and
 Jeske, C. 2008. Composting of poultry carcasses as an alternative method
 for disposal in case of an outbreak of an epizootic disease: fist results. *Dtsch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.*, 115: 150-157.
- Siddique, T., Okeke, B.C., Zhang, Y., Arshad, M., Han, S.K. and Frankenberger,W.T. 2005. Bacterial diversity in selenium reduction of agricultural drainage water amended with rice straw. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 34: 217-226.
- Smårs, S., Beck-Friis, B., Jönsson, H. and Kirchmann, H. 2001. An advanced experimental composting reactor for systematic simulation studies. J. Agric. Eng. Res., 78: 415-422.
- Stanford, K., Hao, X., Xu, S., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F. and Leonard, J.J. 2009. Effects of age of cattle turning technology and compost environment on

disappearance of bone from mortality compost. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100: 4417-4422.

- Stanford, K., Nelson, V., Sexton, B., McAllister, T.A., Hao, X. and Larney, F.J.
 2007. Open-air windrows for winter disposal of frozen cattle mortalities:
 effects of ambient temperature and mortality layering. *Compost Sci.Util.*, 15:
 257–266.
- Steger, K., Jarvis, Å., Vasara, T., Romantschuk, M. and Sundh, I. 2007a. Effects of differing temperature management on development of Actinobacteria populations during composting. *Res. Microbiol.*, 158: 617-624.
- Steger, K., Sjögren, Å.M., Jarvis, Å., Jansson, J.K. and Sundh, I. 2007b.
 Development of compost maturity and Actinobacteria population during full-scale composting of organic household waste. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 103: 487-498.
- Strom, P.F. 1985. Identification of thermophilic bacteria in solid waste composting. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 50: 906-913.
- Van Herk, F.H., Cockwill, C.L., Guselle, N., Larney, F.J., Olson, M.E. and McAllister, T.A. 2004. Elimination of *Giardia* cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in beef feedlot manure compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 12: 235-241.
- Vasileva-Tonkova, E., Gousterova, A. and Neshev, G. 2009. Ecologically safe method for improved feather wastes biodegradation. *Int. Biodeterior*. *Biodegrad.*, 63: 1008-1012.
- Wilkinson, K.G. 2007. The biosecurity of on-farm mortality composting. J. Appl. Microbiol., 102: 609-618.

- Xu, S., Hao, X., Stanford, S., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F.J. and Wang, J. 2007.
 Greenhouse gas emissions during co-composting of cattle mortalities with manure. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 78: 177-187.
- Xu, W., Reuter, T., Inglis, G.D., Larney, F.J., Alexander, T.W., Guan, J.,
 Stanford, K., Xu, Y. and McAllister, T.A. 2009. A biosecure composting system for disposal of cattle carcasses and manure following infectious disease outbreak. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 38: 437-450.

Chapter 4 Biodegradation of specified risk material and fate of scrapie prions in compost[‡]

4.1 Introduction

Transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE) are fatal neurodegenerative diseases including scrapie in sheep and goats, chronic wasting disease (CWD) in deer and elk, bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in cattle, and Creutzfeldt-Jackob disease (CJD) in humans. The diseases of TSE are a result of sequential conformational changes of normal prion protein (PrP^C) into misfolded and infectious prion protein (PrP^{TSE}) (Prusiner 1998).

As a consequence of the occurrence of BSE in Canada in 2003, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) introduced regulations to prevent specified risk material (SRM) from entering the food chain. The term "SRM" refers to body tissues with an increased likelihood to accumulate BSE prions (PrP^{BSE}), including the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine tonsils, spinal cord and the dorsal root ganglia of cattle aged 30 months or older, as well as the distal ileum of cattle of all ages (CFIA 2010).

A variety of approaches are being used for the disposal of SRM from abattoirs and on-farm cattle mortalities. Currently, the majority of SRM are rendered, dehydrated and disposed of in landfills, a practice that is uneconomical and environmentally questionable (Ayalon et al. 2001). Due to its conformation,

^{*} A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication. Xu, S., Reuter, T., Gilroyed, B.H., Dudas, S., Graham, C., Neumann, N.F., Balachandran, A., Czub, S., Belosevic, M., Leonard, J.J. and McAllister, T.A. 2012. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A.

PrP^{TSE} exhibits resistance to inactivation by many methods, including chemical agents, radiation and heat that are commonly used to kill microorganisms or denature proteins (Taylor 2000). The practices currently recommended by CFIA (2009) for PrP^{TSE} inactivation in Canada include two stages of incineration at 850°C and 1000°C for approximately 16 h, 1-h disinfection with 2 N sodium hydroxide, autoclaving in saturated steam at 134°C for a period of 60 minutes, or alkaline hydrylysis at 150°C under 5 atmospheric pressure for 3-6 hours. These methods, however, are economically impractical to ensure the inactivation of PrP^{TSE} while disposing of the large volumes of SRM arising from meat processing plants or on farm mortalities.

Composting has long been considered to be an environmentally acceptable method for treating industrial and agriculture wastes (Rynk 1992). Thermophilic temperatures (>55°C) during composting accelerate the biodegradation of organic matter and create an environment that kills most microbial pathogens (Van Herk et al. 2004; Ceustermans et al. 2007). Composting of cattle carcasses under proper management has been shown to be an attractive option for the disposal of livestock carcasses and is a well-established technology (Stanford et al. 2007; Xu et al. 2009). Recent evidence has indicated that some bacterial proteinases exhibit the ability to degrade PrP^{TSE} (Langeveld et al. 2003; Hui et al. 2004; McLeod et al. 2004). The bacterial species capable of this activity have been shown to be associated with compost (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). Moreover, Puhl et al. (2009) have previously isolated a novel keratinolytic actinobacteria involved in the degradation of hoof keratin in compost.The microbial consortia in compost could carry out the biodegradation of recalcitrant proteins such as keratin or possibly PrP^{TSE}, owing to the wide range of proteolytic enzymes produced by these complex microbial communities.

Poultry feathers are a nitrogen rich (15%) waste predominantly composed of β-keratin protein (90% dry matter) (Tiquia et al. 2005), which has some structural properties that are similar to PrP^{TSE} (Tsuboi et al. 1991; Suzuki et al. 2006). Keratinases that have the capacity to degrade feathers may also exhibit activity against PrP^{TSE} (Suzuki et al. 2006). Recent studies not only indicated that enrichment of a composting matrix with feathers produced effective non-specific proteolytic activity early in the composting process, but also promoted the growth of specialized keratinolytic fungi that degraded keratin in feathers during the latter stages of composting (Korniłłowicz-Kowalska and Bohacz 2010; Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska 2009). Therefore, inclusion of feathers in the compost. The objectives of the current study were to utilize laboratory-scale composters to investigate the degradation of SRM and the fate of scrapie prions (PrP^{Sc}) in compost with and without feathers.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Tissue source and preparation

Fresh bovine brain tissue from mortalities under 30 months of age was obtained from a nearby slaughterhouse and used as SRM. Brain tissues from sheep confirmed to be negative or positive for scrapie using immunochemical and histopathological techniques were obtained from the Animal Diseases Research Institute at the Canadian Food Inspection Agency in Ottawa, ON. Sheep brain tissues were homogenized (1 g + 9 ml) using the MediFASTH homogenizer (Consul AR, Villeneuve, Switzerland) in phosphate buffered saline to yield a 10% brain homogenate (BH).

4.2.2 Compost experiment design

Bovine SRM and scrapie BH were composted in two matrices. Control compost contained solely cattle manure and wood shavings. Feather compost contained cattle manure, wood shavings, and chicken feathers (*Gallus gallus*) obtained from a local poultry abattoir. Composting of SRM was conducted under non-containment conditions at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre in Lethbridge, Alberta. Composting of PrP^{Sc} was conducted under level 3 containment conditions at the Canadian Food Inspection Agency in Lethbridge, Alberta. Both experiments were conducted simultaneously, using the same initial compost matrix and procedures. Six composters were used to compost SRM with triplicate composters per treatment. Four composters were used for composting of PrP^{Sc} with duplicate per treatment, due to the space restrictions in the level 3 containment laboratory. Laboratory-scale composters were used as detailed in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.1).

4.2.3 Composting setup

The compost matrix was prepared by mixing the initial matrix in a mortar mixer (12S, Crown construction equipment, Winnipeg, Canada) at the feedlot at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre in Lethbridge. For control compost, a mixture of 35 ± 0.1 kg fresh cattle manure (74.8% moisture) and 3.5 ± 0.1 kg white spruce (*Picea glauca*) wood shavings was placed in each composter. For feather enriched compost, chicken feathers (5% wt wt⁻¹; dry basis) were substituted for a portion of the manure, with the final composition consisting of 34.2 ± 0.1 kg cattle manure, 3.5 ± 0.1 kg wood shavings and 0.8 ± 0.1 kg of feathers. The compost matrix was identical for both SRM and PrP^{Sc} experiments. Triplicate samples of fresh manure, wood shavings, chicken feathers and mixed matrix were collected before composting. All the samples were stored at 4°C for subsequent physicochemical analysis.

4.2.4 Sampling procedures

For composting of SRM, bovine brain tissue (50 ± 0.1 g; wet basis) was weighed and sealed in 140 × 90 mm nylon bags (53μ m pore size; ANKOM Technology, Macedon, USA). The nylon bags were then placed within larger polyester mesh bags (200×200 mm; 5 mm pore size) with 400 g of freshly mixed compost matrix. Polyester twine was attached to each bag to enable recovery of the material during composting. As each compost vessel was filled, four mesh bags were placed 0.3 m under the surface in each composter. One of the mesh bags was randomly collected at days 7 and 14. After collecting the mesh bags on day 14, composters were emptied and the matrix was mixed using a separate shovel for each composter. During the mixing process, water was added to the matrial to return it to original moisture level measured prior to initiation of composting. The moistened mixture was returned to each original composter for a second heating cycle. As the composters were refilled, the remaining two mesh bags containing a mixture of SRM and composted manure from the first heating cycle were returned and placed in each composter in the same manner as for the first cycle. During the second cycle, one of the remaining two mesh bags was collected at days 21 and 28, respectively. Compost samples were collected from each composter after mixing at day 14, and from each mesh bag at days 7, 14, 21, and 28 days. All compost samples were stored at 4°C prior to physicochemical analysis.

The same sampling procedures were conducted for composted PrP^{Sc} within a containment facility. Briefly, fresh cattle manure $(1.0 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}; \text{dry basis})$ was shaped into spheres and dried at 30°C for 1 day to reduce moisture levels. The dried manure spheres were inoculated with 1 ml of 10% scrapie BH containing PrP^{Sc} to return the manure to moisture content similar to that prior to drying. The inoculated spheres were placed in nylon bags which along with compost matrix were in turn placed in larger mesh bags. As each compost vessel was filled, six mesh bags were placed at 0.3 m under the compost matrix. Three of the mesh bags were randomly collected after 14 days with the remaining three being collected at day 28. On day 14, compost was mixed and moistened in the same manner as described above. Compost samples were collected from each composter after mixing at day 14, and also from each mesh bag at days 14 and 28 for analysis of moisture and pH. Manure spheres were collected from nylon bags before and after composting, and stored at -20°C for the detection of PrP^{Sc} by Western blotting (WB). In order to test for migration of PrP^{Sc} during the

composting process, compost samples in the vicinity of the nylon bags, as well as from the nylon bags itself were collected for WB analysis.

4.2.5 Composting conditions and properties

For composting of SRM, compost temperatures and oxygen concentration (%) were measured at the same depth as the mesh bags were implanted using the methods from Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3). Samples of the initial compost matrix and those collected at each sampling date were analyzed for moisture, bulk density, total carbon (TC), total nitrogen (TN), pH, electrical conductivity (EC), and mineral N (NH_4^+ and $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$) as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3)

For composting of PrP^{Sc}, only temperature, moisture and pH were measured due to restrictions associated with removing material from the biocontainment facility.

4.2.6 Degradation of specified risk material in compost

The degradation of SRM in compost was estimated on the basis of dry matter disappearance from the nylon bags during the composting process in the same manner as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3).

4.2.7 PrP^{Sc} extraction

The infectious prion (PrP^{TSE}) is highly hydrophobic and aggregated, and exhibits a high affinity for soil minerals and sludge solids (Leita et al. 2006; Johnson et al. 2006; Kirchmayr et al. 2006). The adsorption of PrP^{TSE} to soils or soil minerals appears to be immediate, irreversible, and resistant to desorption (Leita et al. 2006; Vasina et al. 2005). Thus, these characteristics may impose a challenge to highly sensitive and accurate quantification of PrP^{TSE} in compost.

Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) treatment has been shown to be effective and practical among various detergents to release soil-bound PrP^C or PrP^{TSE} into solution for subsequent WB detection (Seidel et al. 2007; Johnson et al. 2006). A modification of the procedure used to extract PrP^{TSE}-contaminated soil (Seidel et al. 2007) was used to extract PrP^{Sc} from compost. Briefly, 10 ml of 1% aqueous solution of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS; Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Canada) was added to each manure sphere inoculated with 1 ml of 10% scrapie BH in a 50 ml Falcon conical centrifuge tube (Becton Dickinson, Mississauga, Canada). Subsequently, the tubes were vortexed using a vortex mixer (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, Canada) at 3,000 rpm for 1 min and shaken in a Rocking Platform (Model 100; VWR, Edmonton, Canada) at 120 rpm for 1 h, followed by a centrifugation step at 3,200 g for 20 min to release PrP^{Sc} from manure into the SDS solution. The supernatant (7 ml) was then incubated with proteinase K (PK; 25 µg ml⁻¹) (Roche Diagnostics, Laval, Canada) at 37°C for 1 h. The PK digestion was terminated by the addition of Pefablock SC (Roche Diagnostics) to a final concentration of 2 mM.

A procedure of PTA (sodium phosphotungstic acid; Sigma-Aldrich) precipitation modified from Huang et al. (2005) was used to precipitate the extractable PrP^{Sc} from compost. After PK digestion, the supernatant was incubated with PTA (4%, w v⁻¹, in 170 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4) at a final concentration of 0.3% (w v⁻¹), followed by centrifugation at 17,950 g for 30 min. The pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l of 1 × Laemmli's sampling buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) and heated to 100°C for 5 min for WB.

4.2.8 Western blotting

Each denatured sample (12 µl) was loaded onto pre-cast 17-well, 1 mm thick, 12% Bis-Tris NuPAGE gels (Invitrogen, Burlington, Canada). Magic Mark XP (Invitrogen) was used as a reference for estimation of molecular mass. Electrophoresis was performed for 1 h at 150 V in 3-(N-morpholino) propanesulfonic acid (MOPS) running buffer (Invitrogen) with antioxidant (Invitrogen) using XCell SureLock Mini-Cells (Invitrogen). Proteins were electrotransferred to polyvinyl difluoride membranes (Millipore, Bedford, USA) in a transfer tank equipped with plate electrodes (Criterion Blotter; Bio-Rad, Mississauga, Canada) at 150 V for 1 h. Subsequently, the membranes were immunoblotted with the first antibody of monoclonal antibody P4 (1:5,000 dilution; Rida, Germany) and the second antibody of goat anti-mouse IgG conjugated with alkaline phosphatase (1:5,000 dilution; Prionics, Zurich, Switzerland) in a Snap i.d. protein detection system (Millipore), as per manufacturer's instructions. After blotting, the membranes were incubated with chemiluminescence substrates of CDP-Star (Roche Diagnostics) for 5 min. Protein signals were visualized by exposing the membranes to BioMax Light Chemiluminescence film (Kodak, Herts, UK). Bands with molecular weights ranging from 20 to 30 kDa were used to show the glycoform profile of PK resistant core of PrP^{Sc}.

4.2.9 Evaluation of PrP^{Sc} extraction from manure

Initially, manure spheres were inoculated with 10% non-infectious sheep BH to determine if ovine PrP^C could be retrieved using the above mentioned extraction method. To evaluate the effect of PTA precipitation on the SDS-extracted PrP^C, one of two samples after SDS extraction was precipitated with and without PTA, respectively. In addition, a sample after SDS extraction applied with both PK digestion and PTA precipitation was included to evaluate the success of PK digestion.

Subsequently, the optimized extraction procedures were applied to the manure spheres inoculated with 10% scrapie BH to evaluate PrP^{Sc} retrieval. Similarly, to compare the effect of PTA precipitation, duplicate PrP^{Sc} extraction samples after PK digestion were treated with and without PTA, respectively. For the positive control, 10% scrapie BH without manure inoculation was treated with PK at a final concentration of 25 µg ml⁻¹ at 37°C for 1 h. The PK activity was stopped by Pefablock SC (2 mM final concentration). For the negative control, the manure inoculated with water was extracted, PK digested and PTA precipitated.

To determine the sensitivity of WB, 10% scrapie BH was diluted in an equal volume of 10% non-infectious sheep brain homogenate to yield 5%, 2.5%, 1.25%, 0.625%, 0.313%, 0.156%, and 0.078% dilutions. The 10% to 0.078% dilutions were inoculated with manure and then extracted to test if PrP^{Sc} bands were obtained by WB.

4.2.10 Statistical analysis

The comparison of initial compost properties between control and feather compost were analyzed as a factorial design using the Mixed procedure (< 0.05 probability level) in SAS (2001). Changes in compost temperature and compost properties as well as SRM degradation during composting were analyzed using the Mixed procedure of SAS with time treated as repeated measures in the model. Main effects were considered to be statistically significant at a probability level of < 0.05.

4.3 Results and discussion

4.3.1 Temperature and oxygen profiles

Passively aerated laboratory-scale composters described in Chapter 2 were used to enable the composting of PrP^{TSE} to be studied under containment conditions. During the composting of SRM, temperature curves did not differ between control and feather compost (P > 0.05; Figure 4-1a). After 2 days of composting, temperatures peaked at 74°C in control compost and 75°C in feather compost. Subsequently, temperatures steadily declined, but remained above 50°C for 4 days. Upon mixing at day 14, temperatures rapidly increased again in both composts with peak temperatures of 49°C and 52°C occurring on day 16 in control and feather compost, respectively (Figure 4-1a). Mixing and moistening of compost successfully resulted in a second heating cycle and further extended the period of biodegradation of SRM and possible recalcitrant PrP^{Sc} (Ahn et al. 2008). Temperature profiles of the composters in containment containing PrP^{Sc} (Figure 4-1b) mirrored those obtained in the SRM compost (Figure 4-1a) used to assess the physicochemical parameters of the compost. Oxygen concentrations in SRM compost were 7% in control compost and 6% in feather compost at day 0 (Figure 4-1c). After 1 day of composting, oxygen concentration decreased to 6% and 3% in control and feather compost, respectively. As composting proceeded, oxygen concentration increased to 18% in both compost types until day 5 and remained at a level between 18% and 20% from days 6 to 28 (Figure 4-1c). Oxygen profiles in the composters were indicative that aerobic microbial processes had sufficiently developed for degradation of organic matter in compost (Kutzner 2000).

4.3.2 Characteristics of initial materials

At the start of the experiment, fresh manure would not have been suitable for direct composting as it did not have the physicochemical properties necessary to optimize composting (Rynk 1992; Table 4-1). Wood shavings were added to the manure as a bulking agent to give an optimized mixture with a moisture level of 66.7% (wet basis), a bulk density of 498 kg m⁻³ and C/N ratio of 22.2 (Table 4-1). Inclusion of feathers in the compost had no effect on matrix properties, except increasing (P < 0.05) TN and decreasing C/N ratio (Table 4-1).

4.3.3 Changes in compost properties

During the composting of SRM, moisture content declined in both compost types during the first composting cycle (Figure 4-2). After 14 days of composting, the decline was more rapid in feather compost as the moisture content was reduced to 45.7%, while the control declined to 57.2%. In the second cycle, moisture content remained relatively constant throughout the cycle. Bulk density, TC content, and C/N ratio steadily declined over each composting cycle (Figure 4-2). Compost EC gradually increased during the initial composting cycle, but decreased after the compost was mixed and water was added on day 14 (Figure 4-2). Concentrations of NH_4^+ -N peaked at day 7 in all composters, and thereafter declined until day 28. Levels of $(NO_2^- + NO_3^-)$ -N below 5 mg kg⁻¹ were observed over the primary composting cycle, but increased up to 200 mg kg⁻¹ at the end of the experiment (Figure 4-2). Physicochemical changes in compost over the experimental period demonstrated that laboratory-scale composters were appropriate as a model for examining the ability of this approach to degrade SRM and PrP^{TSE} (Larney and Olson 2006).

For each composting cycle, TN content in the compost in the vicinity of SRM steadily increased (Figure 4-2), probably due to a large amount of free nitrogen released into the surrounding compost from the degradation of SRM (Chapter 3; Xu et al. 2007). As feathers contain 16% nitrogen, their substitution for manure lowered (P < 0.05) the C/N ratio (Table 4-1), which may have negatively impacted the composting process (Barone and Arikan 2007). However, inclusion of feathers (5% dry weight) did not appear to alter the composting process as most parameters remained unchanged (Figure 4-2).

The pH of both control and feather compost were similar at the start of composting (i.e., 7.7), increasing to ~9.4 after 28 days of composting (Figure 4-2). Current evidence suggests that PrP^{TSE} or soil-bound PrP^{TSE} are most effectively degraded by enzymes at a neutral or alkaline pH (Suzuki et al. 2006; Saunders et

al. 2010). Alkaline conditions observed in the composters may have been favorable for the enzymatic degradation of PrP^{Sc}.

For composting of PrP^{Sc} , moisture content and pH (Table 4-2) were similar to the results from composting of SRM (Figure 4-2). However, moisture content declined to a lower (P < 0.05) level at the end of the first cycle as compared to SRM compost, with an average of 40.3% in control compost and 26.4% in feather compost (Table 4-2). Due to the maintenance of negative air pressure, an enhanced air flow was generated in the level 3 laboratories, probably resulting in a greater removal of heat and moisture from these passively aerated composters.

4.3.4 Degradation of specified risk material in compost

Within the first 7 days of composting, 60.9% of SRM dry matter disappeared (Figure 4-3) a value comparable to, or even higher than that observed in previous experiments in Chapters 2 and 3. Xu et al. (2009) also found that SRM was rapidly degraded (> 90%) after the first 7 days in a biosecure composting system. This period of rapid SRM degradation corresponded with an increase in microbial biomass as indicated by phospholipid fatty acid profiles within this passively aerated laboratory composter (Chapter 2; Figure 2-5). After the first composting cycle, 63.1% of SRM was degraded (Figure 4-3). However, an increase (P < 0.05) of SRM degradation occurred in the second cycle, with 76.9% of SRM being degraded by the completion of the experiment (Figure 4-3). This suggests that mixing of compost to generate repetitive heating cycles can be used to increase the duration of thermophilic composting, increasing the extent of SRM degradation and possibly keratin and PrP^{Sc}.

In the present study, inclusion of feathers increased (P < 0.05) the overall degradation of SRM. At the end of the experiment, 73.2% and 80.5% of SRM was degraded in control and feather compost, respectively (Figure 4-3). As SRM contains a large fraction of labile protein (Kolb et al. 1992), it is more easily degraded than recalcitrant proteins such as keratin, either in anaerobic digestion or aerobic composting (Xu et al. 2009; Gilroyed et al. 2010). Consequently, mineralization of protein nitrogen from feathers during composting may be limited in feather-enriched compost, resulting in an increase in the use of N that originates from SRM.

Alternatively, Fredrich and Kern (2003) reported that a keratinolytic protease from the fungus *Doratomyces microsporus* not only had the capacity to degrade keratin, but also hydrolysed a broad range of other protein types including casein, bovine serum albumin, and elastin. Therefore, inclusion of feathers in compost may have effectively stimulated the growth of keratinolytic microbes that also produced ancillary proteases with the ability to hydrolyze SRM proteins, leading to enhance SRM degradation.

4.3.5 Evaluation of PrP^{Sc} extraction

In this study, ovine PrP^C was successfully extracted by SDS solution after PTA precipitation from manure inoculated with non-infectious sheep BH (Figure 4-4a, lane 9). Protein bands corresponding to scrapie were observed between 20 to 30 kDa in the positive control (Figure 4-4a, lane 1) with no signals being observed in the negative control (Figure 4-4a, lane 6), confirming that SDS plus PTA did effectively extract PrP^{Sc} from manure (Figure 4-4a, lanes 4 and 5). Previous studies of the extraction of soil-bound PrP^{TSE} indicated that low PrP^{TSE} recovery from SDS could affect the sensitivity of immunoblotting techniques (Saunders et al. 2008a). Protein enrichment by PTA has provided an effective method to enhance the ability of WB to detect PrP^{TSE} in tissue and soil (Huang et al. 2005; Cooke et al. 2007). In this study, PTA effectively precipitated the extractable ovine PrP^C from cattle manure, as evidenced by a faint PrP^C signal in the SDS extraction sample without PTA (Figure 4-4a, lane 8) becoming visible and more intense in the SDS extraction sample with PTA (Figure 4-4a, lane 9). More importantly, these results demonstrate that PTA concentrated the extractable PrP^{Sc} from cattle manure (Figure 4-4a, lanes 2 and 3 vs. lanes 4 and 5), with a detectable level by WB after 1-2 log₁₀ dilution (Figure 4-4b).

4.3.6 Fate of PrP^{Sc} in compost

Scrapie prions (PrP^{Sc}) have been shown to remain stable and infectious after burial in soil for 3 years (Brown and Gajdusk 1991), and persist for 16 years in a sheep barn (Georgsson et al. 2006). In compost, the behaviour of PrP^{Sc} may be more complex, due to a wider variety of biological, chemical and physical degradation processes occurring during composting than in soil (Epstein 1997).

Little is known about the possibilities of PrP^{TSE} degradation in compost. To date, only Huang et al. (2007) have reported that PrP^{Sc} was near or below the WB detection limit in a compost heap after 108-148 days. However, they directly tested scrapie-infected tissues left in the compost, which did not consider the impact of the prion-compost interactions that may have had on the detection of PrP^{Sc} . Furthermore, composting conditions or the matrix was not formulated to

optimize protease activity during the composting process. In this study, a natural scenario was further simulated in which PrP^{Sc} were allowed to interact with the components in compost. By using WB, compost-associated PrP^{Sc} was analyzed before and after composting of cattle manure spiked with scrapie BH. Before composting, a positive WB signal of extracted PrP^{Sc} was detectable in all samples (Figure 4-5). However, PrP^{Sc} was not detected in the samples after 14 or 28 days of composting. Similar results were verified in each replicate composter for control and feather compost (Figures 4-5a and 4-5b). The sensitivity results of WB (Figure 4-4b) indicated that at least 1-2 log₁₀ reduction in PrP^{Sc} signals was observed after composting for 14 days. The agent of PrP^{TSE} has been demonstrated to undergo limited migration in soil (Seidel et al. 2007; Cooke and Shaw 2007). In this study, the migration of PrP^{Sc} during the composting process was analyzed by WB, and no PrP^{Sc} specific signals were detected in compost samples collected from the vicinity of the nylon bag (Figure 4-6).

Several possible mechanisms could explain the decline in the detectable level of PrP^{Sc} in compost. First, the dynamic changes in manure properties during composting may reduce or inhibit the extractability of PrP^{Sc} from compost, resulting in signals at or below the detection limit of WB. Ionic concentration, pH and humic acids have been reported to influence PrP^{TSE} adsorption or promote PrP^{TSE} conformational changes in soil (Ma et al. 2007; Polano et al. 2008). Both pH and EC significantly increased during composting (Figure 4-2) and possibly influenced the recovery of PrP^{Sc} during SDS extraction. It was also observed that extracts from compost exhibited a darker brown colour as compared to extracts from fresh manure, suggesting that concentration of humic acids or other phenolics during composting may have interfered with the extraction of PrP^{Sc} and subsequent WB detection.

Another possible explanation lies in the nature of the antibodies used for detection. The monoclonal N-terminus antibody P4 binds to residues 93 to 99 of the ovine prion protein and has been used for the diagnosis of both typical and atypical scrapie (Gretzschel et al. 2006). Several studies have suggested that the N-terminus of PrP^{TSE} is susceptible to proteolytic degradation (Saunders et al. 2008b), and it has been shown that PrP^{TSE} that comes in contact with soils frequently undergoes N-terminus cleavage (Johnson et al. 2006; Cooke et al. 2007). Therefore, N-terminus epitopes of PrP^{Sc} might be truncated by compost proteases after composting or structurally changed by SDS extraction, resulting in the failure of the P4 antibody to detect this altered structure.

The biological degradation of adsorbed PrP^{Sc} by compost microbes may also explain, at least in part, the observation of the disappearance of PrP^{Sc} . Over 28 days, there was considerable evidence of microbial activity in compost as indicated by peak temperature > 70°C, 5 days of thermophilic composting, significant reduction in TC content, and degradation of ~80% of SRM. In addition, some bacteria with the ability to degrade recalcitrant proteins such as keratin and PrP^{TSE} , including those of the genera *Actinomadura* (Puhl et al. 2009), *Streptomyces* (Hui et al. 2004), and *Saccharomonospora* (Al-Zarban et al. 2002), have been shown to be present in the composters (Chapter 3) and may play a role in the degradation of PrP^{Sc} .

4.4 Conclusions

In this chapter, the findings suggested that enhanced SRM degradation as a result of the addition of feathers also appears to have enriched for microorganisms with enhanced activity towards recalcitrant proteins. However, due to the challenges of detecting prions within the composting matrix, the present work does not definitively prove that PrP^{Sc} undergoes complete degradation during composting. Micro-climates within the composting matrix that do not achieve the same level of microbial activity may also limit the degradation of PrP^{Sc} in compost. However, the fact that PrP^{Sc} was clearly detectable in manure, but not detectable after 14 and 28 days clearly suggests that at least partial degradation of PrP^{Sc} occurs during composting. Our group is presently undertaking similar work on the composting of PrP^{BSE} and PrP^{CWD} where both the protein misfolding cyclic amplification procedure and laboratory bioassays will be employed to further document the extent that PrP^{TSE} are degraded during composting.

		Starting	Mixture at day 0			
Property ^a	Cattle manure	Wood shavings	Chicken feather	Specified risk material ^b	Control compost	Feather compost
Moisture (%)	74.8	10.5	10.0	81.0	66.7A	65.0A
Bulk density (kg m ⁻³)	595	117	28	nm	498A	490A
Total carbon (%)	42.8	52.6	50.9	56.7	46.3A	46.6A
Total nitrogen (%)	3.17	0.06	15.56	7.35	2.09B	2.66A
C/N ratio	13.5	960.5	3.3	7.7	22.2A	17.5B
pH	7.63	5.81	6.69	nm	7.71A	7.75A
$EC (ds m^{-1})$	1.8	0.1	1.0	nm	1.3A	1.4A
$NH_4 – N (mg kg^{-1})$	3264	509	575	nm	788A	899A
NO _x -N (mg kg ⁻¹)	6.6	1.4	1.6	nm	3.7A	3.1A

Table 4-1 Physicochemical characteristics of initial compost materials and mixtures

^aAll characteristics except moisture and bulk density are expressed on a dry weight basis (wt wt⁻¹). Moisture and bulk density are expressed on a wet weight basis. EC: electrical conductivity.

^bValues are cited from Chapter 2 (Table 2-1). nm, not measured.

A, B: within a row values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) between mixture types.

	Day 14		Day 14 (after mixing)		Day 28	
Property	Control compost	Feather compost	Control compost	Feather compost	Control compost	Feather compost
Moisture ^a (%)	40.3A	26.4B	62.8A	60.8A	58.8A	57.4A
pН	9.35A	9.45A	9.06A	9.08A	9.63A	9.71A

Table 4-2 Moisture (%) and pH changes after composting of scrapie prions

^aMoisture is expressed on a wet weight basis. A, B: within a row values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) between compost types.



Figure 4-1 (a) Temperature during composting of specified risk material (SRM), (b) Temperature during composting of scrapie prions, and (c) O₂ concentration during composting of SRM. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed.

161



Figure 4-2 Physicochemical changes during composting of specified risk material. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed.



Figure 4-3 Degradation of specified risk material (% dry matter loss) at the middle depth in laboratory-scale composters.







Figure 4-5 Western blotting (WB) of scrapie prions (PrP^{Sc}) extracted from samples (n=3) at days 0, 14 and 28 from replicate composters. C1-C3: Control compost; F1-F3: Feather compost. BH: (positive control) 10% scrapie brain homogenate. PrP^{Sc} extraction was proteinase K digested and phosphotungstic acid precipitated prior to WB.


Figure 4-6 Western blotting (WB) of scrapie prions (PrP^{Sc}) extracted from nylon bags and surrounding compost materials at days 14 and 28. C: control compost; F: feather compost. C1-C2: duplicate control composters; F1-F2: duplicate feather composters. M: marker; BH: scrapie brain homogenate. PrP^{Sc} extraction was proteinase K digested and phosphotungstic acid precipitated prior to WB.

Ahn, H.K., Richard, T.L. and Glanville, T.D. 2008. Optimum moisture levels for biodegradation of mortality composting envelope materials. *Waste Manage.*, 28: 1411-1416.

Al-Zarban, S.S., Al-Musallam, A.A., Abbas, I., Stackebrandt, E. and Kroppenstedt, R.M. 2002. Saccharomonospora halophila sp. nov., a novel halophilic actinomycete isolated from marsh soil in Kuwait. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 52: 555-558.

- Ayalon, O., Avnimelech, Y. and Shechter, M. 2001. Solid waste treatment as a high-priority and low-cost alternative for greenhouse gas mitigation. *Environ. Manage.*, 27(5): 697-704.
- Barone, J.R. and Arikan, O. 2007. Composting and biodegradation of thermally processed feather keratin polymer. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 92: 859-867.
- Bohacz, J. and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. 2009. Changes in enzymatic activity in composts containing chicken feathers. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100: 3604-3612.
- Brown, P. and Gajdusk, D.C. 1991. Survival of scrapie virus after 3 years' interment. *Lancet*, 337: 269-270.

CFIA. 2009. Containment Standards for Laboratories, Animal Facilities and Post Mortem Rooms Handling Prion Disease Agents. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/sci/bio/anima/prion/prionse.shtml. Accessed 06 February, 2012.

CFIA. 2010. Meat hygiene manual of procedures. Chapter 17: Ante and Postmortem Procedures, Dispositions, Monitoring and Controls - Red Meat Species, Ostriches, Rheas and Emus - Annex D [online]. Available at www.inspection.gc.ca/english/fssa/meavia/man/ch17/annexde.shtml#a1. Accessed 20 July, 2011.

- Ceustermans, A., De Cercq, D., Aertsen, A., Michiels, C., Coosemans, J. and Ryckeboer, J. 2007. Inactivation of *Salmonella* Senftenberg strain W775 during composting of biowastes and garden wastes. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 103: 53-64.
- Cooke, C.M., Rodger, J., Smith, A., Fernie, K., Shaw, G. and Somerville, R.A.2007. Fate of prions in soil: detergent extraction of PrP from soils. *Environ.Sci. Technol.*, 41: 811-817.
- Cooke, C.M. and Shaw, G. 2007. Fate of prions in soil: longevity and migration of recPrP in soil columns. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 39: 1181-1191.
- Epstein, E. (Ed.). 1997. The science of composting. CRC press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Friedrich, J. and Kern, S. 2003. Hydrolysis of native proteins by keratinolytic protease of *Doratomyces microsporus*. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym., 21: 35-37.
- Georgsson, G., Sigurdarson, S. and Brown P. 2006. Infectious agent of sheep scrapie may persist in the environment for at least 16 years. *J. Gen. Virol.*, 87: 3737-3740.
- Gilroyed, B.H., Reuter, T., Chu, A., Hao, X., Xu, W. and McAllister, T. 2010. Anaerobic digestion of specified risk materials with cattle manure for biogas production. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101(15): 5780-5785.

- Gretzschel, A., Buschmann, A., Langeveld, J. and Groschup, M.H. 2006.
 Immunological characterization of abnormal prion protein from atypical scrapie cases in sheep using a panel of monoclonal antibodies. *J. Gen. Virol.*, 87: 3715-3722.
- Huang, H., Rendulich, J., Stevenson, D., O'Rourke, K. and Balachandran, A.
 2005. Evaluation of Western blotting methods using samples with or without sodium phosphotungstic acid precipitation for diagnosis of scrapie and chronic wasting disease. *Can. J. Vet. Res.*, 69: 193-199.
- Huang, H., Spencer, J.L., Soutyrine, A., Guan, J., Rendulich, J. and Balachandran,A. 2007. Evidence for degradation of abnormal prion protein in tissues from sheep with scrapie during composting. *Can. J. Vet. Res.*, 71: 34-40.
- Hui, Z., Doi, H., Kanouchi, H., Matsuura, Y., Mohri, S., Nonomura, Y. and Oka,
 T. 2004. Alkaline serine protease produced by *Streptomyces* sp. degrades
 PrP(Sc). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 321: 45-50.
- Johnson, C.J., Phillips, K.E., Schramm, P.T., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2006. Prions adhere to soil minerals and remain infectious. *PloS Pathog.*, 2: 296-302.
- Kirchmayr, R., Reichi, H.E., Schildorfer, H., Braun, R. and Somerville R.A. 2006.Prion protein: detection in 'spiked' anaerobic sludge and degradationexperiments under anaerobic conditions. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 53: 91-98.
- Kolb, E., Buchner, A., Dittrich, H., Siebert, P. and Vallentin, G. 1992. The content of DNA, RNA and protein as well as the fresh weight-DNA-ratio, the protein-DNA-ratio and the RNA-DNA-ratio in tissues of male calves, of

bulls, of short scrotum bulls and of oxen during the growth period. *J. Vet. Med.*, 39(10): 777-791.

- Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. and Bohacz, J. 2010. Dynamics of growth and succession of bacterial and fungal communities during composting of feather waste. *Biores. Technol.*, 101: 1268-1276.
- Kutzner, H.J. 2000. Microbiology of composting. Klein, J. and Winter, J. (Eds.).Biotechnology: a multi-volume comprehensive treatise (Volume 11c, 2nd ed). WILEY-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 35-91.
- Langeveld, J.P., Wang, J.J., Van de Wiel, D.F., Shih, G.C., Garssen, G.J.,
 Bossers, A. and Shih, J.C. 2003. Enzymatic degradation of prion protein in
 brain stem from infected cattle and sheep. *J. Infect. Dis.*, 188: 1782-1789.
- Larney, F.J. and Olson, A.F. 2006. Windrow temperature and chemical properties during active and passive aeration composting of beef cattle feedlot manure. *Can. Soil Sci.*, 86: 783-797.
- Leita, L., Fornasier, F., Nobili, M.D., Bertoli, A., Genovesi, S. and Sequi, P. 2006. Interactions of prion proteins with Soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 38: 1638-1644.
- Ma, X., Benson, C.H., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2007.
 Adsorption of pathogenic prion protein to quartz sand. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41(7): 2324-2330.
- McLeod, A.H., Murdoch, H., Dickinson, J., Dennis, M.J., Hao, G.A., Buswell, C.M., Carr, J., Taylor, D.M., Sutton, J. M. and Raven, N.D. 2004.
 Proteolytic inactivation of the bovine spongiform encephalopathy agent. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 317: 1165-1170.

- Polano, M., Anselmi, C., Leita, L., Negro, A. and De Nobili, M. 2008. Organic polyanions act as complexants of prion protein in soil. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 367: 323-329.
- Prusiner, S.B. 1998. Prions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 95: 13363-13383.
- Puhl, A.A., Selinger, L.B., McAllister, T.A. and Inglis, G.D. 2009. Actinomadura keratinilytica sp. nov., a keratin-degrading actinobacterium isolated from bovine manure compost. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 59: 828-834.
- Ryckeboer, J., Mergaert, J., Vaes, K., Klammer, S., De Clercq, D., Coosemans, J., Insam, H. and Swings, J. 2003. A survey of bacteria and fungi occurring during composting and self-heating processes. *Ann. Microbiol.*, 53: 349-410.
- Rynk, R. (Ed.). 1992. On-farm Composting Handbook, NRAES-54. Northeast Regional Agricultural Engineering Service, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- SAS Institute. 2001. SAS/STAT user's guide. Version 8. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartelt-Hunt, S. and Bartz, J.C. 2008a. Prions in the environment: occurrence, fate and mitigation. *Prion*, 2(4): 162-169.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartz, J.C., Telling, G.C. and Bartelt-Hunt, S.L. 2008b.
 Environmentally-relevant forms of the prion protein. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42: 6573-6579.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartz, J.C., Vercauteren, K.C. and Bartelt-Hunt, S. 2010.
 Enzymatic digestion of chronic wasting disease prions bound to soil.
 Environ. Sci. Technol., 44: 4129-4135.

- Seidel, B., Thomzig, A., Buschmann, A., Groschup, M.H., Peters, R., Beekes, M. and Terytze, K. 2007. Scrapie agent (strain 263K) can transmit disease via the oral route after persistence in soil over years. *PloS One*, 5: e435.
- Stanford, K., Nelson, V., Sexton, B., McAllister, T.A., Hao, X. and Larney, F.J. 2007. Open-air windrows for winter disposal of frozen cattle mortalities: effects of ambient temperature and mortality layering. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 15: 257–266.
- Suzuki, Y., Tsujimoto, Y., Matsui, H. and Watanabe, K. 2006. Review: decomposition of extremely hard-to-degrade animal proteins by thermophilic bacteria. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 102: 73–81.
- Taylor, D.M. 2000. Inactivation of transmissible degenerative encephalopathy agent: A review. *Vet. J.*, 159: 10-17.
- Tiquia, S.M., Ichida, J.M., Keener, H.M., Elwell, D.L., Burtt, E.H. and Michel,
 F.C. 2005. Bacterial community profiles on feathers during composting as determined by terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of 16S rDNA genes. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 67: 412-419.
- Tsuboi, M., Kaneuchi, F., Ikeda, T. and Akahane, K. 1991. Infrared and Raman microscopy of fowl feathers barbs. *Can. J. Chem.*, 69: 1752-1757.
- Van Herk, F.H., Cockwill, C.L., Guselle, N., Larney, F.J., Olson, M.E. and McAllister, T.A. 2004. Elimination of *Giardia* cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in beef feedlot manure compost. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 12: 235-241.
- Vasina, E.N., Dejardin, P., Rezaei, H., Grosclaude, J. and Quiquampoix, H. 2005. Fate of prions in soil: Adsorption kinetics of recombinant unglycosylated

ovine prion protein onto mica in laminar flow conditions and subsequent desorption. *Biomacromolecules*, 6: 3425-3432.

- Xu, S., Hao, X., Stanford, S., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F.J. and Wang, J. 2007.
 Greenhouse gas emissions during co-composting of cattle mortalities with manure. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 78: 177-187.
- Xu, W., Reuter, T., Inglis, G.D., Larney, F.J., Alexander, T.W., Guan, J.,
 Stanford, K., Xu, Y. and McAllister, T.A. 2009. A biosecure composting system for disposal of cattle carcasses and manure following infectious disease outbreak. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 38: 437-450.

Chapter 5 Microbial communities and greenhouse gas emissions associated with the biodegradation of specified risk material in compost[§]

5.1 Introduction

In response to the identification of bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in Canada in 2003, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) imposed an enhanced feed ban in July of 2007 to prevent the introduction of specified risk material (SRM) into the food chain. Specified risk material was designated to include the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine tonsils, spinal cord and the dorsal root ganglia from cattle aged 30 months or older, as well as the distal ileum from cattle of all ages. These are tissues known to be at risk of accumulating infectious prion proteins (PrP^{TSE}). Currently, the majority of SRM in Canada are rendered and then disposed of in landfills. However, alternative onfarm disposal methods for SRM which are environmentally and economically feasible are desired. One option may be composting, which has been shown to inactivate pathogens while producing a valuable fertilizer for agricultural crops (Hao et al. 2009).

The microbial consortia in compost could potentially carry out the biodegradation of SRM infected with PrP^{TSE}, due to the wide range of proteolytic enzymes they produce. Previous research has revealed bacterial species that

[§] A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication. Xu, S., Reuter, T., Gilroyed, B.H., Tymensen, L., Hao, Y., Hao, X., Belosevic, M., Leonard, J.J. and McAllister, T.A. 2012. Bioresource Technology.

produce proteases that are capable of degrading recalcitrant PrP^{TSE} (Hui et al. 2004; McLeod et al. 2004), some of which reside in compost (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). In Chapter 3, research work has been focused on characterizing actinobacterial communities that may degrade SRM in compost. Puhl et al. (2009) also have previously isolated a novel actinobacterium with the ability to degrade recalcitrant proteins in compost. However, the nature of the various microbial communities associated with the degradation of SRM remains to be defined.

Despite the obvious advantages of using composting for SRM disposal, addition of carcasses to manure during composting has been shown to increase greenhouse gas emissions (Xu et al. 2007). Hao et al. (2009) observed that CH_4 emissions during co-composting of feedlot manure with cattle mortalities were higher than with slaughterhouse SRM wastes. Methanogens are involved in the production and methanotrophs in the oxidation of CH_4 during composting. Heterotrophic methanogens produce CH_4 utilizing acetate, formate or methanol as a carbon source, whereas autotrophic methanogens reduce CO_2 to CH_4 . Methanotrophs utilize methane monooxygenase to catalyze the oxidation of CH_4 to methanol, which is further oxidized to formaldehyde (Xin et al. 2004). However, the relative abundance of methanogens and methanotrophs during the composting of SRM has not been investigated

Keratinases that have the capacity to degrade feathers may also exhibit activity against PrP^{TSE}, due to similarities in their structure (Suzuki et al. 2006). Recent studies indicated that enrichment of a composting matrix with feathers not only produced an effective non-specific proteolytic activity early in the

175

composting process, but also promoted the growth of keratinolytic fungi that degraded feathers in the later stages of composting (Korniłłowicz-Kowalska and Bohacz 2010; Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska 2009). Specified risk material contains a large fraction of labile protein (8% fresh weight basis; Mcllwain and Bachelard 1985), so inclusion of feathers in compost may promote enzyme activity (i.e., non-specific proteolytic and keratinolytic) that could improve the degradation of SRM as well as PrP^{TSE}.

Chapter 4 has reported that mixing of feathers with cattle manure in a laboratory-scale composter increased total N content though enhanced SRM degradation, but did not alter the physicochemical properties of compost. Hence, it is hypothesized that inclusion of feathers may alter the composition of the microbial community in a manner that enhances SRM degradation in compost. The objectives in this study were to examine the composition of bacterial and fungal communities degrading SRM in compost with and without feathers. Furthermore, emissions of greenhouse gases (i.e., CH_4 and N_2O) and the related abundance of methanogens and methanotrophs were also investigated.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Composting setup and sampling procedure

Passively aerated laboratory-scale composters were used as previously described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.1). Triplicate composters were filled with matrices of either control compost (35 ± 0.1 kg fresh feedlot cattle manure, 74.8% moisture; 3.5 ± 0.1 kg white spruce (*Picea glauca*) wood shavings) or feather compost (34.2 ± 0.1 kg cattle manure; 3.5 ± 0.1 kg wood shavings; 0.8 ± 0.1 kg

chicken (*Gallus gallus*) feathers). Compost substrates were prepared by mixing the initial materials in a mortar mixer (12S; Crown construction equipment, Winnipeg, Canada), resulting in 66.7% moisture in control compost (C/N ratio=22.2) and 65% moisture in feather compost (C/N ratio=17.5).

Fresh bovine brain tissue (SRM) from mortalities under 30 months of age were obtained from a nearby slaughterhouse. Bovine brain tissue (50 ± 0.1 g; wet basis) was weighed and sealed in 140×90 mm nylon bags (53 µm pore size; ANKOM Technology, Macedon, USA). The nylon bags were then placed within larger polyester mesh bags (200×200 mm; 5 mm pore size) with 400 g of freshly mixed compost substrate. Polyester twine was attached to each mesh bag to enable recovery of the material during composting. As each compost vessel was filled, four mesh bags were placed at 0.3 m below the top of each composter. One bag per treatment was randomly collected after 7 and 14 days. After collecting the bags on day 14, composters were emptied and the contents were mixed using a specific shovel for each treatment. During the mixing process, water was added to the material to return it to the moisture level measured prior to initiation of composting. The moistened mixture was returned to the original composter for a second heating cycle. As the composters were refilled, the remaining two mesh bags containing a mixture of SRM and composted manure from the first heating cycle were returned and placed in each composter in the same manner as for the first cycle. In the second cycle, one of the remaining two mesh bags was collected after 21 and 28 days, respectively.

Triplicate samples of the initial mixed matrix and fresh SRM were collected at day 0. Decomposed SRM and compost samples were collected from each mesh bag after sampling on days 7, 14, 21, and 28. All samples were freeze-dried in a freeze dryer (Series $24D \times 48$; Virtis, Gardiner, USA) after collection and used for subsequent DNA extraction.

5.2.2 Gas collection and analysis

Changes in CH_4 and N_2O concentrations (ppm) in the composter headspace were used for the qualitative estimation of CH₄ and N₂O emissions from the passively aerated composters. For gas collection, a flexible polyvinyl chloride tube (3.2 mm diameter; Nalgene, New York, USA) was inserted into each composter headspace through a hole drilled in the composter sidewall. One end of the tube was placed at the above centre of the compost matrix within the composter, while the other end, protruding out of the composter was sealed using an air-tight tube fitting (Swagelok, Medicine Hat, Canada). Gas samples (11 mL) were extracted from the tube fitting using a polypropylene syringe and then injected into 5.9-ml, pre-evacuated, septum-stoppered vials (Exetainer; Labco Limited, Buckinghamshire, UK). Gas samples were collected from each composter three times daily at 4 h intervals and analyzed for CH₄ and N₂O concentrations using a gas chromatograph (Varian 450; Varian Instruments, Walnut Creek, USA) equipped with flame ionization and electron capture detectors. Oxygen concentration (ppm) in the compost was measured at the same depth as the mesh bags were implanted using the method from Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3).

5.2.3 DNA extraction

Prior to DNA extraction, freeze-dried SRM (n=27) and compost (n=30) samples collected at days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 28 were ground using a Ball Mill (MM200; Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). Subsequently, DNA was extracted and quantified using the same manner as described in Chapter 3 (Section 3.2.4). The extracted DNA was then stored at -20°C prior to further PCR-DGGE and qPCR analyses.

5.2.4 PCR-DGGE and sequencing analysis

To decrease the variability within a given treatment, an equal amount of DNA extracted from replicate samples at each sampling date was pooled as previously described in Chapter 3, resulting in a total of nine SRM and ten compost DNA samples used for the subsequent PCR-DGGE analysis. All PCR amplifications contained $1 \times$ HotStarTaq *Plus* DNA Master Mix (Qiagen), 0.2 μ M of each primer in a final volume of 50 µl. Amplification was conducted using a thermal cycler (Mastercycler epgradient; Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Partial fragments of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene were amplified with primers F984GC (Nübel et al. 1996; Table 5-1) and R1378 (Heuer et al. 1997; Table 5-1) as previously described in Novinscak et al. (2009). Each reaction contained 40 ng of template DNA and the cycling conditions consisted of 95°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 1 min at 62°C, 2 min at 72°C, and final extension for 10 min at 72 °C. For fungi, partial fragments of the fungal 18S rRNA gene were amplified using nested PCR. In the first-round PCR, template DNA (100 ng) was amplified by primers EF4 and Fung5 (Marshall et al. 2003; Table 5-1) with

conditions of 95°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 30 sec at 94°C, 30 sec at 53°C, 1 min at 72°C, and final extension for 5 min at 72 °C. In the nested step, amplification was conducted with primers EF4 and NS2GC (Marshall et al. 2003; Table 5-1) in the same manner as described above in the first-round PCR. The PCR products were visualized on a 1.0% (w v⁻¹) agarose gel before DGGE analysis.

Bacterial and fungal PCR products were loaded onto 6% and 7.5% polyacrylamide gels in 1 × TAE buffer at 60°C using a DCodeTM Universal Mutation System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). For bacteria, DGGE gels consisted of a linear gradient of denaturant (40% to 70% from top to bottom) and were run at a constant voltage of 150 V for 6 h. For fungal DGGE, the denaturant gradient was 18% to 38%, and the electrophoresis was performed at 50 V for 14 h. For bacteria, a previously developed DGGE marker in Chapter 3 (Section 3.2.4) consisting of bands representing *Thermobifida fusca*, *Streptomyces thermovulgaris*, *Saccharomonospora viridis*, *Actinomadura hallensis*, *Streptomyces thermophilis* and *Nocardiopsis sp.* was used. For fungal DGGE, a commercial DGGE marker (Marker IV, Nippon Gene, Toyama, Japan) was loaded between fungal samples. Gels were stained with SYBR Gold (Invitrogen, Eugene, USA) for 30 min, and the migration patterns were visualized using a UV transilluminator (Biospectrum 800 imaging system; UVP, LLC, Upland, USA).

Bacterial and fungal DGGE bands that were predominant in the SRM samples were excised and placed overnight in 50 µl of elution TE buffer (pH=7.4). The eluted bacterial 16S rRNA and fungal 18S rRNA gene fragments were re-amplified using F984/R1378 primers and EF4/NS2 primers, respectively. The resulting PCR products were again electrophoresed in a DGGE gel and subject to a final purification using a QIAquick PCR kit (Qiagen) and sequenced (Eurofins MWG Operon, Huntsville, USA).

Phylogenetic analyses of nucleotide sequences were conducted in the same method as described in Chapter 3 (Section 3.2.5). Sequences from *Rubrobacter radiotolerans* (accession no. U65647) and *Mortierellales* sp. (accession no. EF126342) were obtained from the NCBI database and used as bacterial and fungal out groups, respectively. The bacterial 16S rRNA and fungal 18S rRNA gene sequences obtained in this study were deposited in the NCBI nucleotide sequence database with the accession numbers JN596829 to JN596841 and JN596842 to JN596857, respectively.

5.2.5 quantitative PCR analysis

The relative abundance of methanogens and methanotrophs in compost were quantified using qPCR targeting the copy numbers of *mcrA* (methyl-coenzyme M reductase) and *pmoA* (particulate methane monooxygenase) genes as previously reported by Steinberg and Regan (2009) and Kolb et al. (2003), respectively. The *mcrA* genes were amplified with primers mlas and mcrA-rev, while the *pmoA* genes were amplified using primers A189F and Mb661R (Table 5-1). To construct DNA quantification standards, *mcrA* and *pmoA* genes were cloned using a TOPO TA Cloning Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), and sequenced at a commercial sequencing centre (Eurofins MWG Operon). The BLAST analysis of the cloned standard *mcrA* and *pmoA* genes indicated 99% similarity to the *mcrA*

gene of *Methanoculleus marisnigri* (accession no. CP000562; Anderson et al. 2009) and *pmoA* gene of *Methylomicrobium* sp. (accession no. AY195668; Bodrossy et al. 2003). The mcrA and pmoA sequences were deposited in the NCBI nucleotide sequence database with the accession numbers JN186796 and JN186797, respectively. To generate standard curves for qPCR, plasmid DNA was extracted, serially diluted over a range from 1 to 10^7 copies μl^{-1} , and used as a template for PCR. All reactions were conducted in duplicate on a Mx 3005P qPCR system (Agilent Technologies, La Jolla, USA) and contained 1 × Brilliant II SYBR Green QPCR Master mix (Agilent Technologies), 20 ng of DNA and 0.1 $\mu g/\mu l$ bovine serum albumin (New England Biolabs, Pickering, Canada) in a final volume of 50 µl. For methanogens, each reaction contained 0.2 µM primers and PCR conditions consisted of one cycle at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 1 min at 60°C and 1 min at 72°C. For methanotrophs, each reaction contained 0.5 μ M primers and PCR conditions were similar to those for methanogens except that the annealing temperature was 63° C. Melt curve analysis was performed after the final extension step to test for the presence of primer dimmers and non-specific amplification. Florescence normalization and data analysis were conducted using MX3005P software (version 4.10; Stratagene).

5.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the DGGE bands was conducted with BioNumerics software (version 5.1; Applied Maths Inc., Austin, USA) following the provider's instructions. Calculation of the pair-wise similarities based on the presence and absence of the bands was performed using Dice's correlation coefficients. Cluster analysis based on the similarity matrix was performed using the unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average (UPGMA) to form a complete linkage dendrogram.

Changes in headspace CH_4 and N_2O concentrations, and copy numbers of *mcrA* and *pmoA* genes during composting were analyzed using the Mixed procedure of SAS (version 8; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, USA) with time treated as a repeated measure. Main effects of compost types were considered to be statistically significant at a probability level of < 0.05.

5.3 Results and discussion

5.3.1 Bacterial communities associated with specified risk material degradation

The DGGE analysis of bacterial communities throughout the composting process is shown in Figure 5-1. In general, the average numbers of bands observed in compost samples were 14 and 18 in the first and second composting cycles, respectively (Figure 5-1a). However, the band numbers were less numerous in SRM samples, with 8 in the first cycle and 9 in the second cycle (Figure 5-1b). This suggests that the bacterial community involved in SRM degradation may be less diverse than that involved in degrading other organic matter in compost. In Figure 5-2, the statistical analysis of bacterial DGGE bands revealed that all SRM samples clustered together and exhibited only 35% similarity to compost samples. Specified risk material contains a large fraction of labile protein and fat (McIlwain and Bachelard 1985). However, manure contains a variety of proteins, lipids, starch, cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin and humic

acids (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). Therefore, these complex components in manure may have required more diverse bacterial population for decomposition.

Sequencing and phylogenetic analysis of the predominant bacterial DGGE bands from SRM (Figure 5-1b) generated the neighbor joining tree depicted in Figure 5-3. Bacteria belonging to the phyla of Actinobacteria, Firmicutes and Proteobacteria were detected over 28 days. In the first composting cycle at days 7 and 14, sequences corresponded to two robust clades with genera of Saccharomonospora (bands 1, 3, and 6) and Thermobifida (bands 2 and 4) identified in both compost types. Others have found the moderately thermophilic Saccharomonospora viridis and Thermobifida fusca to be associated with thermophilic microbial populations in laboratory-scale composters containing household food waste (Steger et al. 2007). This suggests that as temperature increases, thermophilic actinobacteria may dominate in compost and carry out SRM decomposition after the easily degradable substrates are utilized during the initial stages of composting. This pattern of decomposition was previously revealed in the investigation from Chapter 3 on the role of actinobacteria in SRM degradation during composting. Apart from those genera, additional sequences in feather compost (band 7), and control compost (band 5) were closely affiliated with Thermoactinomycetaceae and Thiohalospira. Species of Thiohalospira alkaliphila have been previously isolated from hypersaline habitats (Sorokin et al. 2008). The compost environment in this study was also highly saline as indicated by its high level of electrical conductivity (Chapter 4; Figure 4-2).

After mixing the compost at days 21 and 28, sequences in control compost (bands 8, 9, and 11; Figure 5-1b) were affiliated with *Pseudomonas*. *Pseudomonas* strains previously isolated from sewage sludge have been noted for their denitrification ability (Lai and Shao 2008). In this study, significant denitrification occurred in the second composting cycle. This is evident from Figure 5-7b, which shows a rapid increase in N₂O concentration in the composter headspace after mixing. In addition, sequences in feather compost associated with Actinomadura (bands 10 and 12) and Enterobacter (band 13) were identified (Figure 5-1b). The relative maturity of the compost could be indicative of the presence of these two genera, as Actinomadura and Enterobacter have been also found during the late stages of composting with sewage solids (Novinscak et al. 2009) and in mature manure compost-amended soil (Edrington et al. 2009). A novel species of Actinomadura has been isolated from compost with the ability to degrade keratin from bovine hooves (Puhl et al. 2009). The appearance of Actinomadura in feather compost suggested that this genus also likely played a role in the degradation of feather keratin and SRM in the present study.

5.3.2 Fungal communities associated with specified risk material degradation

In contrast to bacteria, the number of fungal DGGE bands associated with compost samples (Figure 5-4a) tended to be less than that in SRM samples (Figure 5-4b), suggesting that SRM as a substrate was colonized by a more diverse fungal community than compost. Ryckeboer et al. (2003) demonstrated that fungi can more easily attack organic residues in compost that are too dry for bacteria due to their hyphal network. The high fat content (11% fresh weight basis; Mcllwain and Bachelard 1985) of SRM may have contributed to its hydrophobicity, making it a more suitable substrate for fungi than bacteria. Similar to bacteria, fungal DGGE bands from SRM samples clustered separately from the compost samples and exhibited a 20% similarity (Figure 5-5).

Sequencing and phylogenetic analysis of the dominant fungal DGGE bands from SRM (Figure 5-4b) generated the neighbor joining tree depicted in Figure 5-6. In the first composting cycle, fungi belonging to the Ascomycota were detected, while in the second cycle *Basidiomycota* predominated. On day 0, the major fungal taxa (bands 1 and 2) detected from freeze-dried SRM were associated with Udeniomyces puniceus. After 7 and 14 days of composting, sequences associated with Dothideomycetes (bands 3 and 5) and Cladosporium (band 4) were found in control compost, whereas other sequences (bands 6-10) from both control and feather compost formed a robust clade with *Chaetomium*. *Dothideomycetes* sp. have been characterized from the bone marrow of a bison carcass (Reeb et al. 2011), suggesting that they may be also capable of degrading substrates in SRM. Moreover, *Cladosporium cladosporioides* are highly proteolytic even at alkaline pH (Breuil and Huang 1994), a property that may make them particularly relevant to the degradation of protein in the alkali conditions encountered in compost (Chapter 4; Figure 4-2). Chaetomium have been widely identified in soil and compost and produce serine protease that are thermally stable and exhibit activity over a broad range of pH (Li and Li 2009). The proteolytic nature of these genera suggests they may play an important role in the hydrolysis of SRM in compost.

After mixing of compost on day 14, the sequences of DGGE bands from SRM samples in control and feather compost (bands 11-16; Figure 5-4b) were closely related to *Trichaptum abietinum*. *Trichaptum* have been reported to have potent lipase activity (Goud et al. 2009), suggesting they may be involved in the degradation of lipids in SRM during composting. However, previous studies have focused primarily on the ability of this fungus to decompose wood (Worrall et al. 1997). The predominance of this microorganism in the later stages of composting may reflect its ability to utilize recalcitrant cell-wall carbohydrates that remained in compost after mobile carbon sources were consumed. As SRM were in contact with the compost matrix it is possible that some of these microorganisms originated from other organic components in compost.

5.3.3 Effect of feather addition on microbial communities associated with specified risk material degradation

For either bacterial or fungal DGGE, the band profiles from SRM and compost samples clustered based on the time of sampling (Figures 5-2 and 5-5). Thus, changes in the bacterial or fungal populations during composting were of a temporal nature. However, considerably different microbial communities associated with SRM degradation were also produced between control and feather compost. For bacteria, a divergence was especially obvious in feather compost at the later stage of the first composting cycle, which exhibited only a 50% similarity at day 14 with control compost (Figure 5-2). Similar to bacteria, inclusion of feathers also altered the composition of fungal populations in the first cycle, with similarities between composting types being 55% and 35% on days 7 and 14, respectively (Figure 5-5). However, differences in either bacterial or fungal populations induced by feather addition were relatively minor in the second cycle (Figures 5-2 and 5-5).

In this study, inclusion of feathers in compost enhanced (P < 0.05) SRM degradation in feather compost (Chapter 4). Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska (2009) demonstrated that the presence of feathers in compost stimulated the growth of keratinolytic fungi during composting, enhancing the decomposition of feather keratin. Moreover, some keratinolytic fungi, like *Doratomyces microspores*, not only degrade keratin, but also hydrolyze other types of proteins including casein, bovine serum albumin, and elastin (Fredrich and Kern 2003). Therefore, in this study, it might be expected that these special keratinolytic microbes within feather compost had the capacity to degrade a wide range of proteins and significantly contribute to SRM degradation.

5.3.4 Greenhouse gas emissions and abundance of methanogens and methanotrophs in compost

Accurate measurement of low and variable gas airflow in laboratory-scale passively aerated composters is challenging (Yu et al. 2005). Although active aeration can produce a more consistent airflow, it also contributes to the drying of the compost and curtails microbial activity (Larney et al. 2000). Changes in gas concentrations of the composter headspace can be a suitable indicator for the qualitative estimation of gas emissions in passively aerated systems, where gases are dissipated through natural convective airflow. At day 0, CH₄ concentrations in the composter headspace were 335 ppm in control compost and 454 ppm in feather compost (Figure 5-7a). After one day of composting, CH₄ concentrations peaked at 1108 ppm in control compost and 2338 ppm in feather compost (P < 0.05), declining thereafter to below 100 ppm in both compost types (Figure 5-7a). Similar to CH₄, the maximum N₂O concentrations (78 ppm for control compost and 90 ppm for feather compost; P < 0.05) occurred on day 1, thereafter declining to below 10 ppm (Figure 5-7b). Upon mixing at day 14, N₂O concentrations once again rapidly increased, peaking on days 16 and 17 in control (42 ppm) and feather (60 ppm) compost, respectively. Subsequently, N₂O concentrations steadily declined, but remained higher (P < 0.05) in feather compost than control compost for 4 days (Figure 5-7b).

The concentrations of O₂ were 7×10^4 ppm in control compost and 6×10^4 ppm in feather compost at day 0, and decreased to 6×10^4 ppm in control compost and 3×10^4 ppm in feather compost at day 1 (Figure 5-7c). After day 2, O₂ concentrations increased to 1.8×10^5 ppm in both compost types and remained constant (i.e., 1.8×10^5 - 2×10^5 ppm) thereafter (Figure 5-7c). As expected, maximum CH₄ and N₂O concentrations occurred in the early stages of composting when O₂ supplies were limited. However, mixing the compost resulted in an increase in N₂O concentrations, possibly due to redistribution of NO₃-N making it available for denitrification as proposed by others (Xu et al. 2007). In this study, after mixing, higher (P < 0.05) N₂O concentrations occurred in feather than control composters, partially due to an increase (P < 0.05) in total N (Chapter 4; Figure 4-2) and possible due to greater degradation of recalcitrant keratin during the second composting cycle (Chapter 6; Figure 6-2). After turning, Xu et al. (2007) also reported higher N_2O emissions from compost windrows with increasing levels of total N.

During 28 days of composting, mcrA copy numbers, a reflection of methanogenic communities, ranged from 6.7 to 7.2 \log_{10} copies g⁻¹ dry weight at each sampling time (Figure 5-8a). No significant differences were observed in mcrA copy number between control and feather compost. In relation to CH₄ concentrations (Figure 5-7a), mcrA copy numbers were lower (6.8 \log_{10} copies g⁻ ¹dry weight; Figure 5-8a) on days 7 and 28, a period associated with a decline in CH₄ concentrations (< 15 ppm). Meanwhile, the higher mcrA copy numbers (7.1 \log_{10} copies g⁻¹dry weight; Figure 5-8a) in compost at days 14 and 21 was associated with an increase in headspace CH₄ concentration (Figure 5-7a). In contrast, *pmoA* copy numbers, an indicator of methanotrophic communities, remained relatively high (4.5 \log_{10} copies g⁻¹ dry weight; Figure 5-8b) at day 7 when CH₄ concentrations were low (Figure 5-7a). However, *pmoA* copy numbers declined in both compost types at day 14 (Figure 5-8b) after which headspace CH₄ concentrations increased (Figure 5-7a). These results suggested that the majority of composting CH_4 emissions occur when the density of methanogens increases and methanotrophs decreases.

By using qPCR, copy numbers of *mcrA* and *pmoA* genes have been proposed to reflect the abundance of methanogens and methanotrophs in environmental samples, such as soil, acidic peat and anaerobic sludge (Kolb et al. 2003; Steinberg and Regan 2009). However, little quantitative data on *mcrA* and *pmoA* copy numbers have been reported in compost. Only Sharma et al. (2011) reported *mcrA* copy numbers ranged from 7.1 to 8.7 \log_{10} copies g⁻¹wet weight during 15 weeks of windrow composting, while *pmoA* copy numbers were more variable and negatively correlated with CH₄ emissions. However, the results in this study showed that there was a lack of significant relationship between *pmoA* copy numbers and headspace CH₄ concentrations at day 21 (Figures 5-7a and 5-8b). This may be in part due to the extraction of DNA from non-viable microbial cells that would not have been actively oxidizing CH₄. In this study, relative low CH₄ concentrations in composter headspace were observed throughout the composting process (Figure 5-7a). It is important to emphasize that the qPCR procedure does not necessarily indicate activity as *mcrA* and *pmoA* copies would be detected in methanogens and methantrophs that were not metabolically active. Therefore, more studies are needed to specifically investigate enzymatic activities involved in CH₄ formation and oxidation.

Composting also has been proposed as a viable and effective option for the disposal of feather wastes (Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska 2009). The findings from this experiment suggested that feather inclusion might enhance degradation of SRM (Chapter 4). Although addition of feathers in compost might increase greenhouse gas emissions, other methods of feather disposal, including rendering, landfilling and incineration, may also have similar greenhouse gas emissions.

5.4 Conclusions

In this chapter, results obtained by PCR-DGGE clearly underline the value of this molecular tool for characterization of bacteria and fungi that are fastidious to culture, but may possess the capacity to degrade SRM in compost. In agreement with the hypothesis, potential differences in microbial community composition were induced by the inclusion of feathers within the composting matrix, resulting in the establishment communities that were more adept at degrading SRM and possibly PrP^{TSE}. Inclusion of feathers in compost may increase greenhouse gas emissions, but composting still has merit for the disposal of this poultry by-product and enhancing the decomposition of SRM.

DNA target	Primer ^a	Sequence (5'-3')	Reference
Bacteria	F984GC ^b	GCAACGCGAAGAACCTTAC	Nübel et al. (1996)
16S rDNA	R1378	CGGTGTGTACAAGGCCCGGGAACG	Heuer et al. (1997)
Fungi	EF4	GGAAGGGRTGTATTTATTAG	Marshall et al. (2003)
18S rDNA	Fung5	GTAAAAGTCCTGGTTCCCC	
	NS2GC ^e	GCTGCTGGCACCAGACTTGC	
Methanogen	mlas	GGTGGTGTMGGDTTCACMCARTA	Steinberg and Regan (2009)
mcrA gene	mcrA-rev	CGTTCATBGCGTAGTTVGGRTAGT	
Methanotroph	A189F	GGNGACTGGGACTTCTGG	Kolb et al. (2003)
pmoA gene	Mb661R	CCGGMGCAACGTCYTTACC	

Table 5-1 Primers used in this study to target various microbial communities

end of primer.

end of primer.







Figure 5-2 Dendrogram of bacterial denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis bands (Figure 5-1) using Dice's coefficient and unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average. The compost type (Control compost or Feather compost), sampling day (Days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 28), and DNA source (SRM-specified risk material DNA or Compost DNA) are given at the end of branches. The SRM samples at day 0 were not included as it did not yield amplifiable DNA.







Figure 5-4 Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis separation of 18S rRNA gene fragments after PCR amplification of extracted (a) compost DNA and (b) specified risk material DNA with fungi-specific primers EF4-Fung5 and EF4–NS2GC. Marked bands were excised and sequenced with sequence results being listed in Figure 5-6. C=control compost; F=feather compost; M=marker.

-20	40	-60	-80	-100	Compost type	Sampling day	DNA source
				_	Feather compost	ر Day 28	SRM
					Control compost	Day 28	SRM
				F	Feather compost	Day 21	SRM
				l	Control compost	Day 21 J	SRM
					Control compost	Day 14	SRM
					Feather compost	Day 14	SRM
			100		Feather compost	Day 7 > 1 st cycle	SRM
					Control compost	Day 7	SRM
						Day 0	SRM
				Feather compost	ر Day 7	Compost	
					Control compost	Day 0	Compost
			19		Feather compost	Day 0 > 1 st cycle	Compost
					Control compost	Day 14	Compost
					Feather compost	Day 14	Compost
				Feather compost	ر Day 28	Compost	
				Feather compost	Day 21	Compost	
				2	Control compost	Day 21	Compost
				Γ	Control compost	Day 28 J	Compost
			12		Control compost	Day 7	Compost

Figure 5-5 Dendrogram of fungal denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis bands (Figure 5-4) using Dice's coefficient and unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average. The compost type (Control compost or Feather compost), sampling day (Days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 28), and DNA source (SRM-specified risk material DNA or Compost DNA) are given at the end of branches.

Mortierellales sp. (EF126342)



Figure 5-6 A neighbour joining tree of phylogenetic relationships among DNA sequences obtained from fungal denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis gel (Figure 5-4b) after PCR amplification of extracted specified risk material DNA. Accession numbers of the sequences retrieved from the database are enclosed in parentheses. The scale bar indicates 10% nucleotide substitutions and bootstrap values at 50-100% are displayed at the nodes. The sequences obtained in this study are bold-typed and names indicated Compost Type (C=control compost; F=feather compost)-Sampling Day (Days 0, 7, 14, 21 and 28)-Band Number (1-16). *Mortierellales* sp. served as an outgroup.



Figure 5-7 Changes of (a) CH_4 and (b) N_2O concentrations (ppm) in the headspace, and (c) O_2 concentration (ppm) in compost during composting of specified risk material. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed. The data of O_2 concentration was cited from Chapter 4.

200



Figure 5-8 Quantitative PCR analyses on the changes of (a) mcrA (log₁₀ copies g⁻¹dry weight) and (b) pmoA (log₁₀ copies g⁻¹dry weight) genes during composting of specified risk material. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed.
- Anderson, I.J., Sieprawska-Lupa, M., Lapidus, A., Nolan, M., Copeland, A.,
 Glavina, Del Rio T., Tice, H., Dalin, E., Barry, K., Saunders, E., Han, C.,
 Brettin, T., Detter, J.C., Bruce, D., Mikhailova, N., Pitluck, S., Hauser, L.,
 Land, M., Lucas, S., Richardson, P., Whitman, W.B. and Kyrpides, N.C.
 2009. Complete genome sequence of *Methanoculleus marisnigri* Romesser
 et al. 1981 type strain JR1. *Stand. Genomic. Sci.*, 1(2): 189-196.
- Breuil, C. and Huang, J. 1994. Activities and properties of extracellular proteinases produced by staining fungi grown in protein-supplemented liquid media. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 16: 602-607.
- Bodrossy, L., Stralis-Pavese, N., Murrell, J.C., Radajewski, S., Weilharter, A. and Sessitsch, A. 2003. Development and validation of a diagnostic microbial microarray for methanotrophs. *Environ. Microbiol.*, 5(7): 566-582.
- Bohacz, J. and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. 2009. Changes in enzymatic activity in composts containing chicken feathers. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100: 3604-3612.
- Edrington, T.S., Fox, W.E., Callaway, T.R., Anderson, R.C., Hoffman, D.W. and Nisbet, D.J. 2009. Pathogen prevalence and influence of composted dairy manure application on antimicrobial resistance profiles of commensal soil bacteria. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.*, 6(2): 217-224.
- Friedrich, J. and Kern, S. 2003. Hydrolysis of native proteins by keratinolytic protease of *Doratomyces microsporus*. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym., 21: 35-37.

- Goud, M.J.P., Lakshmipathi, A.S.V. and Charya, M.A.S. 2009. Extracellular hydrolytic enzyme profiles of certain South Indian basidiomycetes. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 8(3): 354-360.
- Hao, X., Stanford, K., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F.J. and Xu, S. 2009. Greenhouse gas emissions and final compost properties from co-composting bovine specified risk material and mortalities with manure. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 83: 289-299.
- Heuer, H., Krsek, M., Baker, P., Smalla, K. and Wellington, E.M.H. 1997.
 Analysis of Actinomycete communities by specific amplification of genes encoding 16S rRNA and gel-electrophoretic separation in denaturing gradients. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 63: 3233-3241.
- Hui, Z., Doi, H., Kanouchi, H., Matsuura, Y., Mohri, S., Nonomura, Y. and Oka,
 T. 2004. Alkaline serine protease produced by *Streptomyces* sp. degrades
 PrP(Sc). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 321: 45-50.
- Kolb, S., Knief, C., Stubner, S. and Conrad, R. 2003. Quantitative detection of methanotrophs in soil by novel *pmoA*-targeted real-time PCR assays. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 69: 2423-2429.
- Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. and Bohacz, J. 2010. Dynamics of growth and succession of bacterial and fungal communities during composting of feather waste. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101: 1268-1276.
- Lai, Q. and Shao, Z. 2008. Pseudomonas xiamenensis sp. nov., a denitrifying bacterium isolated from activated sludge. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 58: 1911-1915.

- Larney, F.J., Olson, A.F., Carcamo, A.A. and Chang, C. 2008. Physical changes during active and passive composting of beef feedlot manure in winter and summer. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 75: 139-148.
- Li, A.N. and Li, D.C. 2009. Cloning, expression and characterization of the serine protease gene from *Chaetomium thermophilum*. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 106: 369-380.
- Marshall, M.N., Cocolin, L., Mills, D.A. and VanderGheynst, J.S. 2003.
 Evaluation of PCR primers for denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of fungal communities in compost. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, 95: 934-948.
- McLeod, A.H., Murdoch, H., Dickinson, J., Dennis, M.J., Hao, G.A., Buswell,
 C.M., Carr, J., Taylor, D.M., Sutton, J.M. and Raven, N.D. 2004. Proteolytic inactivation of the bovine spongiform encephalopathy agent. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 317: 1165-1170.
- Mcllwain, H. and Bachelard, H.S. (Eds.). 1985. Biochemistry and the central nervous system. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, UK.
- Novinscak, A., DeCoste, N.J., Surette, C. and Filion, M. 2009. Characterization of bacterial and fungal communities in composted biosoilds over a 2 year period using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 55: 375-387.
- Nübel, U., Engelen, B., Felske, A., Snaidr, J., Weishuber, A., Amman, R.I., Ludwig, W. and Backhaus, W. 1996. Sequence heterogeneities of genes

encoding 16S rRNAs in *paenibacillus polymyxa* detected by temperature gradient gel electrophoresis. *J. Bacteriol.*, 178: 5636-5643.

- Puhl, A.A., Selinger, L.B., McAllister, T.A. and Inglis, G.D. 2009. Actinomadura keratinilytica sp. nov., a keratin-degrading actinobacterium isolated from bovine manure compost. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 59: 828-834.
- Reeb, V., Kolel, A., McDermott, T.R. and Bhattacharya, D. 2011. Good to the bone: microbial community thrives within bone cavities of a bison carcass at Yellowstone National Park. *Environ. Microbiol.*, 13(9): 2403-2415.
- Ryckeboer, J., Mergaert, J., Vaes, K., Klammer, S., De Clercq, D., Coosemans, J.,Insam, H. and Swings, J. 2003. A survey of bacteria and fungi occurringduring composting and self-heating processes. *Ann. Microbiol.*, 53: 349-410.
- Sharma, R., Ryan, K., Hao, X., Larney, F.J., McAllister, T.A. and Topp, E. 2011. Real-time quantification of *mcrA*, *pmoA* for methanogen, methanotroph estimations during composting. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 40: 199-205.
- Sorokin, D.Y., Tourova, T.P., Muyzer, G. and Kuenen, G. 2008. *Thiohalospira halophila* gen. nov., sp. nov. and *Thiohalospira alkaliphila* sp. nov., novel obligately chemolithoautotrophic, halophilic, sulfur-oxidizing gammaproteobacteria from hypersaline habitats. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, 58: 1685-1692.
- Steinberg, L.M. and Regan, J.M. 2009. mcrA- targeted real-time quantitative PCR method to examine methanogen communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 13: 4435-4442.

- Steger, K., Jarvis, Å., Vasara, T., Romantschuk, M. and Sundh, I. 2007. Effects of differing temperature management on development of Actinobacteria populations during composting. *Res. Microbiol.*, 158: 617-624.
- Suzuki, Y., Tsujimoto, Y., Matsui, H. and Watanabe, K. 2006. Review: decomposition of extremely hard-to-degrade animal proteins by thermophilic bacteria. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 102: 73-81.
- Worrall, J.J., Anagnost, S.E. and Zabel, R.A. 1997. Comparison of wood decay among diverse lignicolous fungi. *Mycologia*, 89(2): 199-219.
- Xin, J.Y., Cui, J.R., Niu, J.Z., Hua, S.F., Xia, C.G., Li, S.B. and Li, M.Z. 2004.
 Production of methanol from methane by methanotrophic bacteria. *Biotransform.*, 22: 225-229.
- Xu, S., Hao, X., Stanford, S., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F.J. and Wang, J. 2007. Greenhouse gas emissions during co-composting of cattle mortalities with manure. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 78: 177-187.
- Yu, S., Clark, O.G. and Leonard, J.J. 2005. Airflow measurement in passively aerated compost. *Can. Biosys. Eng.*, 47: 6.39-6.45.

Chapter 6 Potential biodegradation of prions in compost

6.1 Introduction

Transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE) are a group of fatal neurodegenerative diseases including scrapie in sheep and goats, chronic wasting disease (CWD) in deer and elk, bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in cattle, and Creutzfeldt-Jackob disease (CJD) in humans. The cause of TSE is the sequential conformational changes of normal prion protein (PrP^C) into misfolded and infectious prion proteins (PrP^{TSE}) (Prusiner 1998).

As of January 2012, 19 cases of BSE and 66 cases of CWD were confirmed in Canada (CFIA 2012a and 2012b). The occurrence of these TSE diseases has resulted in huge ecomonic losses for cattle and cervid industries in Canada (Petigara et al. 2011). In response to the identification of BSE in Canada in 2003, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) imposed an enhanced feed ban in July of 2007 to prevent the introduction of specified risk material (SRM) which are tissues that include the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine tonsils, spinal cord and the dorsal root ganglia from cattle aged 30 months or older, as well as the distal ileum from cattle of all ages, into the food chain. In Canada, it is estimated that there are 250,000 tonnes of SRM generated annually (Gilroyed et al. 2010). In contrast, the cervid industry in Canada is much smaller, but with 145,000 animals and an overall mortality rate of 5.7% (Canadian Cervid Alliance 2009; Haigh et al. 2005) considerable quantities of SRM are still generated. In addition, approximately 45,000 wild cervids are killed every year in Canada as a result of vehicular collisions (Huijser et al. 2009). Therefore, proper disposal of these carcasses and SRM is important to prevent the transmission of TSE diseases and to protect soil and water quality.

Currently, the majority of SRM are rendered, dehydrated and disposed of in landfills, (Ayalon et al. 2001). However, disposal of SRM or carcasses infected with PrP^{TSE} in a manner that inactivates the infective agent is challenging due to the recalcitrant nature of PrP^{TSE} (Tylor 2000). Current approved disposal practices for PrP^{TSE} infected material in Canada include two stages of incineration at 850°C and 1000°C for approximately 16 h, 1-h disinfection with 2 N sodium hydroxide, autoclaving in saturated steam at 134°C for a period of 60 minutes, and alkaline hydrolysis at 150°C under 5 atmpospheric pressure for 3-6 hours (CFIA 2009). These methods, however, are economically impractical to ensure the inactivation of PrP^{TSE} while disposing of the large volumes of SRM or carcasses arising from farms, meat processing plants and road kills.

Composting can be an attractive alternative for the disposal of SRM or carcasses infected with PrP^{TSE}. Recent evidence has indicated that some bacterial proteinases exhibit the ability to degrade recalcitrant PrP^{TSE} in minutes or hours (Langeveld et al. 2003; Hui et al. 2004; McLeod et al. 2004). These bacterial species capable of this activity have been shown to be present in compost (Ryckeboer et al. 2003). Morever, some bacteria and fungi with the ability to degrade SRM and PrP^{TSE}, belonging to the genera of *Actinomadura*, *Streptomyces*, and *Dothideomycetes*, have been characterized from composting of SRM by PCR-DGGE (Chapters 3 and 5). The microbial consortia in compost may biodegrade PrP^{TSE}, owing to the wide range of proteolytic enzymes produced by these complex microbial communities. Moreover, the period of time that PrP^{TSE} would be exposed to enzymatic activity during composting is far longer than the duration that PrP^{TSE} must be exposed to these proteases for degradation to occur (i.e., weeks to months vs. minutes to hours).

To date, only Huang et al. (2007) have reported that scrapie prion (PrP^{Sc}) was near or below the Western blotting (WB) detection limit by directly testing the scrapie-infected tissues left in a compost heap after 108-148 days. However, they did not quantify the reduction level of PrP^{Sc} during the composting process. In Chapter 4, research has been further advanced on composting of PrP^{Sc} and observed that at least 1-2 log₁₀ reduction of PrP^{Sc} signals using WB in a laboratory-scale composter after 14-28 days may be due to biological degradation. However, the possible degradation of BSE and CWD in compost has not yet been reported. In soil, Rapp et al. (2006) demonstrated that buried animal carcasses enhanced the proteolytic activity in the surrounding soil, resulting in the degradation of a β -sheeted recombinant ovine prion protein that was used to mimic PrP^{Sc}. After 15 days of anaerobic digestion at 37°C in sludge solids, a 2.4 log₁₀ infectivity reduction in mouse adapted PrP^{Sc} was observed in a cell-based culture assay (Miles et al. 2011), possibly as a result of biological degradation. Compost may represent a more promising matrix than soil and sludge for PrP^{TSE} degradation, as it achieves thermophilic temperatures ($> 55^{\circ}$ C), is typically highly alkaline, and possesses intense microbial activity (Epstein 1997).

Poultry feathers are predominantly composed of β -keratin protein (90% dry matter) (Tiquia et al. 2005). Feather β -keratin is structurally similar to PrP^{TSE}, as they both contain high contents of β -sheets (Tsuboi et al. 1991; Prusiner 1998). Keratinases that have the capacity to degrade feathers may also degrade PrP^{TSE} (Suzuki et al. 2006). Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska (2007; 2009) reported that enrichment of a composting matrix with feathers not only increased the proteinase activity early in the composting process, but also promoted the growth of specialized keratinolytic fungi that degraded feathers later in the composting period. In Chapter 4, the results (Figure 4-3) have showed that mixing of feathers with cattle manure enhanced SRM degradation in compost. Therefore, inclusion of feathers may also be a means of promoting the degradation of SRM infected with PrP^{TSE} in compost. The objective of this study was to investigate the possible degradation of BSE and CWD prions (PrP^{BSE} and PrP^{CWD}) in compost enriched with and without feathers.

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 Tissue source and preparation

Scrapie-infected hamster brain tissues (strain 263K) and non-infectious hamster brain tissues were provided by the Animal Diseases Research Institute at the Canadian Food Inspection Agency in Ottawa, ON. Brain tissues from elk and cattle confirmed to be negative or positive for CWD and BSE using immunochemical and histopathological techniques were obtained from the Canadian and OIE Reference Laboratories for BSE at the Canadian Food Inspection Agency in Lethbridge, AB. All brain tissues were homogenized to yield a 10% brain homogenate (BH) as previously described in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.1).

6.2.2 Compost experimental design

Three types of PrP^{TSE} (i.e., PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE}) were composted in two types of matrices. Control compost contained cattle manure and wood shavings. Feather compost contained cattle manure, wood shavings, and feathers (Gallus gallus) obtained from a local poultry abattoir. Composting of PrP^{TSE} was conducted in the level 3 containment laboratory at the Canadian Food Inspection Agency in Lethbridge, Alberta. Composting without PrP^{TSE} using an identical composting matrix was conducted in non-containment laboratories at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre in Lethbridge, Alberta. The parellell composting experiment was conducted outside of containment and used to assess physicochemical compost parameters, due to restrictions associated with removing samples from level 3 biocontainment. Both experiments were initiated at the same time and conducted for the same duration. Passively aerated laboratory-scale composters were used in this study as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.1). Six composters were used for the non-containment composting with triplicate composters per treatment. Four composters were used for the PrP^{TSE} composting with duplicate composters per treatment.

6.2.3 Composting setup

Compost substrates were prepared by mixing the initial components in a mortar mixer (12S, Crown construction equipment, Winnipeg, Canada) at the

feedlot of the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Research Centre in Lethbridge. For control compost, a mixture of 45 ± 0.1 kg fresh cattle manure (74.4% moisture) and 5 ± 0.1 kg white spruce (*Picea glauca*) wood shavings was placed in each composter. For feather enriched compost, chicken (*Gallus gallus*) feathers (5% wt wt⁻¹; dry basis) were substituted for a portion of the manure resulting in of 44 ± 0.1 kg cattle manure, 5 ± 0.1 kg wood shavings and 1 ± 0.1 kg feathers. The compost matrix was identical for both experiments under non-containment and containment conditions. Triplicate samples of fresh manure, wood shavings, chicken feathers and mixed matrix were collected before composting. All the samples were stored at 4°C for subsequent physicochemical analysis. The physicochemical properties of the compost ingredients used to generate the compost matrix are provided in Table 6-1.

6.2.4 Sampling procedures

For composting of PrP^{TSE} , fresh cattle manure $(1.0 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}; dry \text{ basis})$ was shaped into spheres and dried at 30°C for 1 day to reduce moisture levels. Subsequently, 1 ml of 10% TSE BH was inoculated into the dried manure spheres, with each manure sphere containing one type of PrP^{TSE} . Manure spheres after inoculation with PrP^{TSE} were stored at -20°C for later detection of PrP^{TSE} by Western blotting (WB).

For sampling PrP^{TSE} during composting, inoculated spheres with PrP^{TSE} were sealed in 70 × 50 mm nylon bags (53 µm pore size; ANKOM Technology, Macedon, USA). The nylon bags along with 200 g of freshly mixed compost matrix were then placed within larger polyester mesh bags (100 × 100 mm; 5 mm pore size), with each mesh bag containing one type of PrP^{TSE}. Polyester twine was attached to each mesh bag to enable recovery of the material during composting.

When each compost vessel was filled, triplicate PrP^{263K} mesh bags, and duplicate PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} mesh bags were placed at a depth of 0.3 m below the compost matrix surface, resulting in a total of seven bags in each composter. To determine if PrP^{TSE} can still be detected after short-duration exposure to compost. one PrP^{263K} bag was collected at day 2 prior to peak temperature. After 14 days of composting, three mesh bags with each bag containing PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD}, and PrP^{BSE} were randomly collected. After collecting the mesh bags on day 14, compost materials in each composter were emptied and the remaining matrix was mixed using a shovel. During the mixing process, sufficient water was added to the matrix to return it to the original moisture level measured on the first day of composting. Mixed and moistened compost was returned to the composter from which it originated for a second heating cycle. As the composters were refilled, the remaining PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD}, and PrP^{BSE} mesh bags originated from the first cycle were placed in each composter at the same depth as in the first composting cycle. After 28 day of composting, all the mesh bags were collected. Compost samples were also collected from each composter at day 14 after mixing, and also from each mesh bag after days 2, 14 and 28. All compost samples were stored at 4°C for later analyses of moisture and pH. Manure spheres were collected from nylon bags after composting, and stored at -20°C for analysis of WB.

Within the non-containment facility, the same sampling procedures were conducted for composting. To estimate the degradation of feathers in feather enriched compost, chicken feathers (20 ± 0.1 g; wet basis) were weighed and sealed in the nylon bags. The nylon bags containing feathers along with compost matrix were in turn placed in larger mesh bags, which were placed in the feather composters. For control compost, freshly mixed compost matrix was placed in the mesh bags. Three bags were placed at a depth of 0.3 m below the matrix surface during the filling of each composter. One of the three mesh bags was randomly collected at days 2, 14 and 28. On day 14, compost was mixed and moistened in the same manner as described above. Compost samples were collected from each composter after mixing at day 14, and also from each mesh bag after days 2, 14 and 28. Compost samples were stored at 4°C prior to physicochemical analysis.

6.2.5 Compost properties

For composters outside of containment, compost temperatures and oxygen concentration (%) were measured at the same depth as the mesh bags were implanted using the methods from Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3). Samples of the initial compost matrix and those collected from the mesh bags collected at days 2, 14 and 28, were analyzed for moisture, bulk density, total carbon (TC), total nitrogen (TN), pH, electrical conductivity (EC), and mineral N (NH₄⁺ and NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻) as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3). For composting of PrP^{TSE}, only temperature, moisture, and pH of compost were measured due to restrictions associated with removing material from the biocontainment facility.

6.2.6 Degradation of feathers

The degradation of feathers in feather compost was estimated on the basis of dry matter disappearance from the nylon bags during the composting process. Dry matters of fresh chicken feathers were determined via drying triplicate samples $(20 \pm 0.1 \text{ g}; \text{ wet basis})$ at 105°C for 3 days. Upon removal from the mesh bags, nylon bags containing degraded feathers collected at days 14 and 28 were rinsed with cold tap water until the water was clear and residual material was weighed after drying at 105°C for 3 days.

6.2.7 PrP^{TSE} extraction

The procedures used to extract PrP^{TSE}-contaminated manure were modified from the method described in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.7). Briefly, 4.5 ml of 1% aqueous solution of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS; Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Canada) was added to each manure sphere inoculated with 1 ml of 10% PrP^{TSE} BH in a 50 ml Falcon conical centrifuge tube (Becton Dickinson). Subsequently, the tubes were vortexed (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, Canada) at 3,000 rpm for 1 min and shaken on a Rocking Platform (Model 100; VWR, Edmonton, Canada) at 120 rpm for 1 h. Samples were centrifuged at 3,200 g for 20 min to release PrP^{TSE} from manure into SDS solution. To remove PrP^{C} , the supernatant (500 µl) was incubated with proteinase K (PK; 25 µg ml⁻¹) (Roche Diagnostics, Laval, Canada) at 37°C for 1 h. The PK digestion was terminated by the addition of Pefablock SC (Roche Diagnostics) to a final concentration of 2 mM. Sodium phosphotungstic acid (Sigma-Aldrich) precipitation was used to precipitate the extractable PrP^{TSE} from manure. After PK digestion, the supernatant was incubated with PTA (4%, w v⁻¹, in 170 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4) at a final concentration of 0.3% (w v⁻¹),

followed by centrifugation at 17,950 g for 30 min. The pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l of 1 × Laemmli's sampling buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) and heated to 100°C for 5 min for WB.

6.2.8 Western blotting

The procedures of WB were conducted in the same manner as previously detailed in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.8). The mAb 3F4 (1:20,000 dilution; Human PrP109-112; Millipore) was used as the first antibody for the detection of PrP^{263K}, while mAb 6H4 (1:5,000 dilution; Ovine PrP148-157; Prionics, Zurich, Switzerland) was used for the detections of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE}. As an isotype control for the anti-PrP^{TSE} antibodies used, the first antibody was replaced with an antibody of the same isotype in the immunoblotting procedures. Thus, a commercial mouse monoclonal IgG2a antibody (Millipore) and mouse monoclonal IgG1 antibody (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, Canada) were selected for the substitutions of mAb 3F4 and mAb 6H4, respectively.

6.2.9 Sensitivity of Western blotting

To determine the sensitivity of WB on PrP^{TSE} extracted from manure, 10% hamster 263K, CWD and BSE BH were initially diluted in an equal volume of 10% non-infectious hamster, elk and cattle BH, respectively. A series of 5%, 2.5%, 1.25%, 0.625%, 0.32%, 0.16%, 0.08%, 0.04%, 0.02%, and 0.01% dilutions were generated for each type of PrP^{TSE} . The 10% to 0.01% dilutions of PrP^{TSE} BH were then inoculated onto manure spheres (1.0 ± 0.1 g; dry basis) and extracted for the analysis by WB. For the positive control, 10% PrP^{TSE} BH which was not

inoculated into manure spheres was subject to PK digestion at a final concentration of 25 μ g ml⁻¹ at 37°C for 1 h. The PK activity was stopped by Pefablock SC (2 mM final concentration). For the negative control, the manure inoculated with water was extracted, PK digested and PTA precipitated.

6.2.10 Detection of PrP^{TSE} before and after composting

To detect PrP^{TSE} before and after composting, manure spheres inoculated with PrP^{TSE} prepared before composting and manure speres collected after composting at days 14 and 28 were extracted by SDS for the subsequent analysis of WB.

Chapter 4 has suggested that the dynamic changes in manure properties over composting might reduce or inhibit the SDS extractability of PrP^{TSE} from compost. Therefore, as a control study, manure spheres without PrP^{TSE} inoculation were placed in composters prior to composting and collected after 14 and 28 days. Subsequently, these composted manure spheres were directly inoculated with 1 ml of 10% CWD or BSE BH and extracted by SDS to determine if PrP^{TSE} can be recoved and detected by WB.

6.2.11 Statistical analysis

The comparison of feather degradation between the first and second composting cycles were analyzed as a factorial design using the Mixed procedure (< 0.05 probability level) in SAS (2008). The changes of compost temperature and compost physicochemical parameters during composting were analyzed using the Mixed procedure of SAS with time treated as repeated measures, composters treated as experiment units and mesh bags treated as replicates in the model. Main effects were considered to be statistically significant at a probability level of < 0.05.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Temperature and oxygen profiles

During composting of PrP^{TSE}, temperature curves did not significantly differ between control and feather compost. Both types of compost heated rapidly in all replicate composters, with temperature peaking at 68°C in control compost and 66°C in feather compost after 3 days (Figure 6-1a). Subsequently, temperatures steadily declined but remained above 50°C for 3 days in control compost and for 2 days in feather compost. Upon mixing and moistening of compost on day 14, temperatures rapidly increased again in both composts (Figure 6-1a) with peak temperatures of 60°C and 56°C occurring on day 15 in control and feather compost, respectively. In the second composting cycle, temperatures remained above 50°C for 5 days in control compost and for 4 days in feather compost.

Temperature profiles of the composters used to assess physicochemical compost parameters (Figure 6-1b) were similar to those obtained in the composters in containment that were used to examine PrP^{TSE} (Figure 6-1a). Oxygen profiles (Figure 6-1c) reached levels as low as 1% at the beginning of composting, but had steadily increased to 17% in control and 18% in feather compost by day 3. As composting proceeded, oxygen concentration fluctuated remained between 18% and 20% in both compost types for the remainder of the composting period (Figure 6-1c).

6.3.2 Changes in compost properties

Compost moisture declined to a greater (P < 0.05) degree in the first heating cycle than in the second cycle, as the losses of moisture content were 25.8% and 7.3% within the first and second cycle, respectively (Table 6-2). Bulk density, TC content, and NH₄⁺-N declined after each composting cycle. However, in the second cycle, the loss of TC in feather compost was greater (P < 0.05) than in control compost. Levels of TN declined (P < 0.05) in both compost types up to day 14, but subsequently remained constant in control compost and increased in feather compost over the remainder of the 28 day composting period. The pH of both control and feather compost tended to be similar, increasing (P < 0.05) over the first composting cycle and reaching ~9.2 after 28 days of composting (Table 6-2). Compost EC increased (P < 0.05) for each composting cycle, but declined after mixing and moistening of the compost. Concentrations of $(NO_2^{-} + NO_3^{-})$ -N were observed at a level below 5 mg kg⁻¹ either at the start or the end of composting, but increased (P < 0.05) to ~10 mg kg⁻¹ at the middle of composting on day 14.

Over 28 days of composting, inclusion of feathers in the matrix did not impact most physiochemical parameters with the exception that TN and NH_4^+ -N were increased (P < 0.05) resulting in a reduction (P < 0.05) in C/N ratios (Table 6-2).

Under containment conditions, only the changes of moisture and pH were measured and shown in Table 6-3. Those results were comparable to the moisture and pH observed in composters that were maintained outside of the containment facility (Table 6-2).

6.3.3 Degradation of feathers

Outside of containment, 12.6% of feathers were decomposed within the first composting cycle (Figure 6-2). However, more degradation of feathers (P < 0.05) occurred in the second cycle, with 27.9% of dry matter loss from the implanted nylon bags by the completion of the experiment.

6.3.4 Sensitivity of Western blotting

The sensitivities of WB on the detections of PrP^{263K} , PrP^{CWD} , and PrP^{BSE} extracted from manure are shown in Figures 6-3a, 6-3b, and 6-3c, respectively. These figures suggest that all types of PrP^{TSE} in manure substrate can be detected by WB after SDS extraction, allowing a detectable level after 2 log₁₀ dilution for PrP^{263K} , 1-2 log₁₀ dilution for PrP^{CWD} , and 1 log₁₀ dilution for PrP^{BSE} .

6.3.5 Detection of PrP^{TSE} before and after composting

The reactivity of PrP^{TSE} detected by WB before and after composting was not related to the non-specific bindings of anti-PrP^{TSE} antibodies, as no signals were observed when isotype control antibodies were examined (Figure 6-4).

Prior to composting, positive WB signals for PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD}, and PrP^{BSE} were all detectable after extraction from manure spheres (Figures 6-5). After each composting cycle, decreasing levels of PrP^{TSE} were detected for all prion types. Signal intensity of PrP^{263K} was only reduced slightly after 2 days of composting (Figure 6-5a). However, by day 14, the signal PrP^{263K} was largely reduced in control compost, but was absent in feather compost. After 28 days, PrP^{263K} reactivity was undetectable using mAb 3F4 in both compost types. Similarly, within 14 days, a reduction of PrP^{CWD} was observed with mAb 6H4, with no signal being detected in feather compost (Figure 6-5b). Upon completion of the experiment, PrP^{CWD} was not detected in either control or feather-enriched composter. After 14 days of composting, the signal intensities PrP^{BSE}were reduced slightly in control compost and completely absent in the other composters (Figure 6-5c). After 28 days, PrP^{BSE} was no longer detectable by WB in any of the composters.

6.4 Discussion

Infectious PrP^{TSE} are highly hydrophobic and aggregate into plaque-like complexes that exhibit a high affinity with soils, soil minerals, and sludge solids (Leita et al. 2006; Johnson et al. 2006; Kirchmayr et al. 2006). These adsorption characteristics may impose a challenge to highly sensitive and accurate quantification of PrP^{TSE} in soil and sludge. Previous studies (Seidel et al. 2007; Hinckley et al. 2008) have reported that a solution of SDS is effective and practical among various detergents to release soil- and sludge-bound PrP^{TSE} into solution for subsequent detection. However, composting owns a wide variety of biological, chemical and physical degradation processes that can more largely influence the adsorption and structure of PrP^{TSE} in compost than soil or sludge (Epstein 1997). The ability of SDS extraction to recover PrP^{TSE} in these complex substrates such as manure or compost has not been explored. Along with the results of a previous study (Chapter 4), I further confirmed that SDS can be effectively used to extract scrapie, CWD and BSE from cattle manure and compost.

Prior to composting, this study showed the sensitivities of WB on extracted PrP^{TSE} from fresh manure ranked as $PrP^{263K} > PrP^{CWD} > PrP^{BSE}$. Three factors could have contributed to the different WB sensitivities among those prion strains: (1) varying concentrations of each type of PrP^{TSE} in the infectious brain tissues used; (2) strain-specific adsorption ability with manure that may affect the efficiency of SDS extraction; and (3) differing antibodies used and antibody affinities. After composting, all types of PrP^{TSE} exhibited a similar result that PrP^{TSE} was faintly or not detected in the extraction from composted manure spheres. The sensitivity results of WB (Figure 6-3) indicated that PrP^{TSE} signals were reduced after composting of 14 and 28 days, by at least 2 log₁₀ for PrP^{263K} , 1-2 log₁₀ for PrP^{CWD} , and 1 log₁₀ for PrP^{BSE} .

Several possible mechanisms could explain the results of reduction or disappearance of PrP^{TSE} in compost. First, the dynamic changes in manure properties over composting might reduce or inhibit the extractability of PrP^{TSE} from compost, resulting in signals at or below the detection limit of WB despite the ongoing presence of PrP^{TSE}. Solution pH, ionic concentration and humic acids have been reported to influence PrP^{TSE} adsorption or promote PrP^{TSE} conformational changes in soil (Ma et al. 2007; Polano et al. 2008). In this study, physicochemical analysis suggested that the nature of manure properties were substantially altered after composting, including significant increases in compost pH and EC (Tables 6-2 and 6-3). Consequently, a control study was performed in which manure spheres without PrP^{TSE} inoculation were placed in composters prior to composting. After 14 or 28 days, composted manure spheres were collected and directly inoculated with 10% CWD or BSE BH, followed by extraction procedures with analysis of WB. The results in Figures 6-5b and 6-5c showed that both PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} extracted from 14 or 28 days of composted manure in this control study were detectable at a similar level to the extraction from fresh manure. This offers evidence that the irreversible binding of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} to humic acids or other organics in compost was not responsible for the temporal decline in the WB signal over the composting period.

Biological degradation of PrP^{TSE} by proteolytic enzymes in compost may have also been responsible for the decline in the WB signal with composting. Over 28 days, there was considerable evidence of microbial activity in compost as indicated by temperatures > 60°C in each composting cycle, 7 days of thermophilic composting, and significant declines in both TC and TN content. This suggests that the composters have developed an effective composting process, enabling this approach to sufficiently biodegrade a range of organic matter, possibly including recalcitrant PrP^{TSE} . At day 2, minor changes were observed in the physiochemical properties of manure (Tables 6-2 and 6-3) and the signal associated with PrP^{263K} remained prominant (Figure 6-5a), suggesting that microbial activity had not peaked by this point in time. However, manure properties as measured in all physicochemical parameters were substantially altered after 14 and 28 days of composting. In this study, I simulated a natural scenario in which PrP^{TSE} was inoculated into manure sphere to enable complete contact with manure substrates during the composting process. Therefore, it may be concluded that the decline in PrP^{TSE} signal after composting was likely a result of biological degradation.

Infectious PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} have been shown to be more resistant to inactivation than other prions. For example, by incubating infectious BH in a PCR tube at 37°C, PrP^{CWD} was shown to have undergone less degradation after 35 days than hamster-adapted PrP^{TME} as indicated by WB (Saunders et al. 2008). After exposure to SDS, PrP^{BSE} was 10- and 10⁶-fold more resistant to inactivation than CJD prions and hamster-adapted PrP^{Sc} via an infectivity titer in transgenic mouse, probably due more stable tertiary structure (Giles et al. 2008). In anaerobic sludge, PrP^{BSE} was also observed to be more stable than mouse-adapted PrP^{Sc} at 55°C after 12 days, by comparing the luminescence reduction levels from WB (Kirchmayr et al. 2006). Although different degrees of degradation among various prion types cannot be distinguished, the more recalcitrant nature of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} observed from previous literatures adds the values of my results showing composting could be promising to inactivate CWD and BSE at least 1-2 log₁₀ level.

In this experiment, higher (P < 0.05) TN and NH₄⁺-N contents were observed in feather compost than control compost. However, feather inclusion did not lower the composting performance as reflected by temperature profiles. In agreement with the hypothesis, at day 14, PrP^{TSE} signals were detectable in control compost, while no signals were observed in feather compost. This suggested that feather addition might promote the proteolysis of PrP^{TSE}. More feathers (P < 0.05) were degraded in the second cycle than the first cycle (Figure 6-2), a result that may be indicative of an increase in keratinase activity during the latter stages of composting. The increased keratinase activity in the second cycle could further enhance the degradation of PrP^{TSE} in feather compost, although this trend was not detected at day 28 as no WB signals were observed. To futher address my hypothesis, the level of keratinase activity and its effectiveness against PrP^{TSE} in feather compost needs to be examined.

Immunoblotting technique is a rapid and convenient way of determining the level of PrP^{TSE}, but it is always limited by a dynamic range of ~100-fold (Giles et al. 2008). Moreover, detergent of SDS has relatively low PrP^{TSE} recoveries in the extraction of PrP^{TSE} from environmental samples, with 61-67% recovery in wastewater sludge (Hinckley et al. 2008) and 5-40% in sandy and clay soils (Cook et al. 2007; Cook and Shaw et al. 2007). Therefore, these method limitations with dilution effect may result in an insufficient sensitivity of WB (i.e., $1-2 \log_{10}$) for the detection of PrP^{TSE} in compost. Possible improvements for the detectability of PrP^{TSE} in compost would be to use *in vitro* methods, such as PMCA and cell culture assay, which have improved the detectability of PrP^{Sc} and PrP^{263K} in soil and biosolids (Seidel et al. 2007; Nagaoka et al. 2010; Miles et al. 2011). Infectious PrP^{263K} were used in this experiment with the intention of being analyzed by PMCA. Currently, PrP^{263K} samples from this study are being analyzed by PMCA in the laboratories of Dr. Norman Neumann at the University of Alberta.

Animal bioassays should be further employed to determine the extent to which composting may reduce prion infectivity. However, bioassay of PrP^{TSE} from compost still presents a significant challenge, as animals may not be susceptible to infection as a result of structural changes or the binding of PrP^{TSE} to organic components in compost. Moreover, a wide range of toxic chemicals and pathogens produced in the compost also could affect the survival of the rodents during bioassay. Currently, our research group is examining a stainless steel bead method for bioassay, adopted from Flechsig et al. (2001). In this method, PrP^{TSE} are bound to a stainless steel bead and then exposed to the compost environment for biodegradation. The bead-bound method not only may reduce the possibilities of PrP^{TSE} binding to components in compost, but it also may be convenient for subsequent decontamination and inoculation into the animals.

6.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, at least 1-2 \log_{10} reduction of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} signals was observed by WB after composting, probably as a result of biological degradation. However, a high level (i.e., > 1-2 \log_{10}) of PrP^{TSE} degradation in compost is possible, since reduction levels as measured by WB were below the detectable limit associatated with this assay. Inclusion of feathers may have enriched the matrix with proteases capable of increasing the degradation of both PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} in compost. These fundamental but novel outcomes incease the confidence that the degradation of PrP^{TSE} maybe more extensive with full-scale composting as the duration of the thermophilic period is longer and microbial activity is more intense. Currently, CFIA (2010) have published a regulation on the limited use of composting for the disposal of SRM by issuing a temporary permit. The contributions to knowledge in this area will open perspective avenues for CFIA to reconsider the current regulations and accelerate the adoption of this practice to be used for the disposal of SRM.

Parameters*	Cattle manure	Wood shavings	Chicken feathers
Moisture (%)	74.4 ± 3.0	9.1 ± 0.1	7.6 ± 0.1
Bulk density (kg m^{-3})	772 ± 26	89 ± 3	61 ± 3
Total carbon (%)	43.3 ± 0.2	51.7 ± 0.7	50.5 ± 1.3
Total nitrogen (%)	2.7 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	15.4 ± 0.4
C/N ratio	16.0 ± 0.2	311.9 ± 74.5	3.3 ± 0.1
рН	7.96 ± 0.03	4.23 ± 0.02	5.92 ± 0.05
EC (ds m^{-1})	1.31 ± 0.17	0.05 ± 0.02	1.09 ± 0.10
NH_4 – $N (mg kg^{-1})$	2649 ± 953	9 ± 2	1525 ± 128
$NO_x - N (mg kg^{-1})$	3.8 ± 1.0	5.1 ± 0.2	1.9 ± 0.2

Table 6-1 Physicochemical characteristics of the materials included in the compost matrix

^{*}All parameters except moisture and bulk density are expressed on a dry weight basis (wt wt⁻¹). Moisture and bulk density are expressed on a wet weight basis. EC: electrical conductivity.

	Day 0		Da	Day 2		Day 14			Day 14 (after mixing)			Day 28		Test of main effects and their
Parameters*	C^{\dagger}	F^{\ddagger}	С	F	С		F		С	F		С	F	interaction [§]
Moisture (%)	60.7	62.3	60.7	61.5	32.	3 3	9.1		62.2	64.4		53.9	58.2	Time
Bulk density (kg m^{-3})	468	468	494	488	37	1 3	97		405	431		428	425	Time
Total carbon (%)	45.2a	46.0a	45.5a	46.0a	44.6	5a 44	l.7a		44.3a	44.7a		44.2a	42.5b	Compost type×Time
Total nitrogen (%)	2.2	2.8	2.2	2.9	1.9) 2	2.5		2.1	2.6		2.1	3.1	Time, Compost type
C/N ratio	21.1	16.4	21.3	15.9	23.	2 1	7.7		21.0	17.2		20.9	13.6	Time, Compost type
рН	8.26	8.15	8.27	8.44	9.2	59	.05		8.86	8.79		9.25	9.17	Time
EC (ds m^{-1})	1.66	1.61	1.64	1.59	2.1	3 1	.98		1.31	1.36		1.61	1.56	Time
NH_4 – $N (mg kg^{-1})$	1118	1719	2526	2398	32	9 8	34		547	959		97	110	Time, Compost type
NO _x –N (mg kg ^{-1})	3.1	3.1	3.3	3.1	5.4	4 7	0.0		8.6	31.2		2.7	1.9	Time

 Table 6-2 Physicochemical changes of compost mixtures during composting

*All parameters except moisture and bulk density are expressed on a dry weight basis (wt wt⁻¹). Moisture and bulk density are expressed on a wet weight basis. EC: electrical conductivity.

[†]C: control compost. [‡]F: feather compost.

[§]Within a column, main effects of time, compost type and their interaction which are at P < 0.05 level are listed.

a, b: Within a row, values followed by different letters differ (P < 0.05) between compost types on the same sampling day.

	Da	y 0	0 Day 2		Day	Day 14		Day 14 (after mixing)		y 28	Test of main effects
Parameters*	C^{\dagger}	F^{\ddagger}	С	F	С	F	С	F	С	F	
Moisture (%)	60.7	62.3	59.7	56.3	40.1	35.7	64.3	63.2	54.0	49.5	Time
рН	8.26	8.15	8.96	9.14	8.90	9.65	9.17	9.47	9.61	9.65	Time

 Table 6-3 Moisture (%) and pH changes of compost mixtures during composting under biocontainment

*Moisture is expressed on a wet weight basis. [†]C: control compost. [‡]F: feather compost.

[§]Within a column, main effects of time, compost type and their interaction which are at P < 0.05 level are listed.



Figure 6-1 (a) Temperature during composting under containement (b) Temperature and (c) O_2 concentration during composting outside of containment. Arrows indicate the date compost was mixed.



Figure 6-2 Degradations of feathers (% dry matter loss) in feather compost during composting.







Figure 6-4 Western blotting (WB) of (a) PrP^{263K}, (b) PrP^{CWD}, and (c) PrP^{BSE} samples extracted from manure spheres collected at days 0, 2, 14, and 28 with isotype control antibodies instead of anti-PrP^{TSE} antibodies. M: Reference marker; BH: 10% infectious brain homogenate was PK digested; C: Control compost; F: Feather compost; C1-C2: duplicate control composters; F1-F2: duplicate feather composters; MS_D14 and MS_D28: manure spheres without PrP^{TSE} inoculation were composted for 14 and 28 days, and then collected and directly inoculated with PrP^{CWD} or PrP^{BSE}, followed by extraction and WB analysis. All extractable PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD}, and PrP^{BSE} samples were proteinase K digested and precipitated using phosphotungstic acid prior to WB.



Figure 6-5 Western blotting (WB) of (a) PrP^{263K}, (b) PrP^{CWD}, and (c) PrP^{BSE} samples extracted from manure spheres collected at days 0, 2, 14, and 28 with anti-PrP^{TSE} antibodies. M: Reference marker; PC (positive control): 10% infectious brain homogenate was PK digested as a positive control; C: Control compost; F: Feather compost; C1-C2: duplicate control composters; F1-F2: duplicate feather composters; MS_D14 and MS_D28: manure spheres without PrP^{TSE} inoculation were composted for 14 and 28 days, and then collected and directly inoculated with PrP^{CWD} or PrP^{BSE}, followed by extraction and WB analysis. All extractable PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD}, and PrP^{BSE} samples were proteinase K digested and precipitated using phosphotungstic acid prior to WB.

- Ayalon, O., Avnimelech, Y. and Shechter, M. 2001. Solid waste treatment as a high-priority and low-cost alternative for greenhouse gas mitigation. *Environ. Manage.*, 27: 697-704.
- Bohacz, J. and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. 2007. Choice of maturity indexes for feather-plant material composts on a base of selected microbiological and chemical parameters-preliminary research. *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.*, 16(2A): 719-725.
- Bohacz, J. and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. 2009. Changes in enzymatic activity in composts containing chicken feathers. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100: 604-3612.
- Canadian Cervid Alliance. 2009. Canadian Overview: the cervid industry in Canada. Available at

http://www.cervid.ca/en/canadiancervidalliancecanadianoverview.php. Accessed 11 March, 2012.

CFIA. 2009. Containment Standards for Laboratories, Animal Facilities and Post Mortem Rooms Handling Prion Disease Agents. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/sci/bio/anima/prion/prionse.shtml. Accessed 06 February, 2012.

CFIA. 2010. Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) policy on temporary permits for specified risk material (SRM) compost. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/anima/disemala/bseesb/enhren/tempe.s html. Accessed 15 March, 2012.

- CFIA. 2012a. BSE Enhanced Surveillance Program. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/animals/terrestrialanimals/diseases/reportable/bse/enhancedsurveillance/eng/1323992647051/1323992718670. Accessed 11 March, 2012.
- CFIA. 2012b. Herds infected with Chronic Wasting Disease in Canada since 1996. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/animals/terrestrialanimals/diseases/reportable/cwd/herds-infected-since-1996/eng/1330183608172/1330187238506. Accessed 11 March, 2012.
- Cooke, C.M. and Shaw, G. 2007. Fate of prions in soil: longevity and migration of recPrP in soil columns. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 39: 1181-1191.
- Cooke, C.M., Rodger, J., Smith, A., Fernie, K., Shaw, G. and Somerville, R.A.
 2007. Fate of prions in soil: detergent extraction of PrP from soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41: 811-817.
- Epstein, E. (Ed.). 1997. The science of composting. CRC press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Flechsig, E., Hegyi, I., Enari, M., Schwarz, P., Collinge, J. and Weissmann, C. 2001. Transmission of scrapie by steel-surface-bound prions. *Mol. Med.*, 7(10): 679-684.
- Giles, K., Glidden, D.V., Beckwith, R., Seoanes, R., Peretz, D., DeArmond, S.J. and Prusiner, S.B. 2008. Resistance of bovine spongiform encephalopathy prions to inactivation. *PLoS Pathog.*, 4(11): e1000206.
- Gilroyed, B.H., Reuter, T., Chu, A., Hao, X., Xu, W. and McAllister, T. 2010. Anaerobic digestion of specified risk materials with cattle manure for biogas production. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101(15): 5780-5785.
- Haigh, J., Berezowski, J. and Woodbury, M.R. 2005. A cross-sectinal study of the causes of morbidity and mortality in farmed white-tailed deer. *Can. Vet. J.*, 46: 507-512.
- Hinckley, G.T., Johnson, C.J., Jacobson, K.H., Bartholomay, C., Mcmahon, K.D.,
 Mckenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2008. Persistence of
 pathogenic prion protein during simulated wastewater treatment processes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42: 5254-5259.
- Huang, H., Spencer, J.L., Soutyrine, A., Guan, J., Rendulich, J. and Balachandran,A. 2007. Evidence for degradation of abnormal prion protein in tissues from sheep with scrapie during composting. *Can. J. Vet. Res.*, 71: 34-40.
- Hui, Z., Doi, H., Kanouchi, H., Matsuura, Y., Mohri, S., Nonomura, Y. and Oka,
 T. 2004. Alkaline serine protease produced by *Streptomyces* sp. degrades
 PrP(Sc). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 321: 45-50.
- Huijser, M.P., Duffield, J.W., Clevenger, A.P., Ament, R.J. and McGowen, P.T.
 2009. Cost-benefit analyses of mitigation measures aimed at reducing collisions with large ungulates in the United States and Canada: a decision support tool. *Ecol. Sci.*, 14(2): 15.
- Johnson, C.J., Phillips, K.E., Schramm, P.T., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2006. Prions adhere to soil minerals and remain infectious. *PloS Pathog.*, 2: 296-302.

- Kirchmayr, R., Reichi, H.E., Schildorfer, H., Braun, R. and Somerville R.A. 2006.Prion protein: detection in 'spiked' anaerobic sludge and degradationexperiments under anaerobic conditions. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 53: 91-98.
- Langeveld, J.P., Wang, J.J., Van de Wiel, D.F., Shih, G.C., Garssen, G.J.,
 Bossers, A. and Shih, J.C. 2003. Enzymatic degradation of prion protein in
 brain stem from infected cattle and sheep. *J. Infect. Dis.*, 188: 1782-1789.
- Leita, L., Fornasier, F., Nobili, M. D., Bertoli, A., Genovesi, S. and Sequi, P.
 2006. Interactions of prion proteins with Soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 38: 1638-1644.
- Ma, X., Benson, C.H., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J.M. and Pedersen, J.A. 2007.
 Adsorption of pathogenic prion protein to quartz sand. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41(7): 2324-2330.
- McLeod, A.H., Murdoch, H., Dickinson, J., Dennis, M.J., Hao, G.A., Buswell, C.M., Carr, J., Taylor, D.M., Sutton, J.M. and Raven, N.D. 2004.
 Proteolytic inactivation of the bovine spongiform encephalopathy agent. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 317: 1165-1170.
- Miles, S.L., Takizawa, K., Gerba, C.P. and Pepper, I.L. 2011. Survival of infectious prions in Class B biosolids. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part A, 46: 364-370.
- Nagaoka, K., Yoshioka, M., Shimozaki, N., Yamamura, T., Murayama, Y., Yokoyama, T. and Mohri, S. 2010. Sensitive detection of scrapie prion protein in soil. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 397: 626-630.

- Petigara, M., Dridi, C. and Unterschultz, J. 2011. The economic impacts of Chronic Wasting Disease and Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy in Alberta and the rest of Canada. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, Part A*, 74: 1609-1620.
- Polano, M., Anselmi, C., Leita, L., Negro, A. and De Nobili, M. 2008. Organic polyanions act as complexants of prion protein in soil. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 367: 323-329.
- Prusiner, S.B. 1998. Prions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 95: 13363-13383.
- Rapp, D., Potier, P., Jocteur-Monrozier, L. and Richaume, A. 2006. Prion degradation in soil: possible role of microbial enzymes stimulated by the decomposition of buried carcasses. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 40: 6324-6329.
- Ryckeboer, J., Mergaert, J., Vaes, K., Klammer, S., De Clercq, D., Coosemans, J.,
 Insam, H. and Swings, J. 2003. A survey of bacteria and fungi occurring
 during composting and self-heating processes. *Ann. Microbiol.*, 53: 349-410.
- SAS. 2008. *SAS/STAT 9.2 user's guide The ANOVA procedure*. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartz, J.C., Telling, G.C. and Bartelt-Hunt, S.L. 2008.
 Environmentally-relevant forms of the prion protein. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42: 6573-6579.
- Seidel, B., Thomzig, A., Buschmann, A., Groschup, M.H., Peters, R., Beekes, M. and Terytze, K. 2007. Scrapie agent (strain 263K) can transmit disease via the oral route after persistence in soil over years. *PloS One*, 5: e435.

- Suzuki, Y., Tsujimoto, Y., Matsui, H. and Watanabe, K. 2006. Review: decomposition of extremely hard-to-degrade animal proteins by thermophilic bacteria. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 102: 73–81.
- Taylor, D.M. 2000. Inactivation of transmissible degenerative encephalopathy agent: A review. *Vet. J.*, 159: 10-17.
- Tiquia, S.M., Ichida, J.M., Keener, H.M., Elwell, D.L., Burtt, E.H. and Michel, F.C. 2005. Bacterial community profiles on feathers during composting as determined by terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of 16S rDNA genes. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 67: 412-419.
- Tsuboi, M., Kaneuchi, F., Ikeda, T. and Akahane K. 1991. Infrared and Raman microscopy of fowl feathers barbs. *Can. J. Chem.*, 69: 1752-1757.

Chapter 7 General discussion and conclusions

7.1 Overview of results and their significance

Composting may be a viable alternative to rendering and land filling for the disposal of SRM, provided that PrP^{TSE} are inactivated. However, to test this hypothesis using field-scale composting of SRM containing PrP^{TSE} or carcasses confirmed to harbor TSE is challenging. Therefore, the present thesis undertook the development of a 110-L passively aerated laboratory-scale composting model that could be used to assess PrP^{TSE} degradation under containment conditions. The results obtained in this thesis open a promising perspective for composting as a disposal method of SRM and serve as a "stepping stone" to field-scale research on PrP^{TSE} degradation in compost.

7.1.1 Effective specified risk material degradation

In this thesis, fresh bovine brain tissues from mortalities under 30 months of age were used as representative samples of SRM. Studies on composting of SRM in Chapters 2, 3 and 4 suggested that the degradation of SRM during composting was rapid, with approximately 60% to 80% of dry matter being degraded after 14 and 28 days of composting, respectively. Physicochemical analyses conducted over 28 days confirmed that composting conditions were within optimal parameters for the effective decomposition of organic matter in compost (Rynk 1992). It is clear that compost depth, types of bulking agents, and attempts at prolonging thermophilic temperatures via a water jacket did not significantly impact SRM degradation (Chapters 2 and 3). However, Chapter 4 further demonstrated that an increase in the extent of SRM degradation was induced by mixing feathers in the manure matrix. Xu et al. (2009) reported that SRM was degraded more rapidly (> 90% in first 7 days) in a field scale composting model as compared to the laboratory-scale composters used in the current study. Although the feasibility for composting of cattle carcasses or SRM on a field scale has been demonstrated (Stanford et al. 2007; Hao et al. 2009), the results from this study on SRM composting revealed that the laboratory-scale composters and composting methods developed were appropriate as a model for examining the degradation of PrP^{TSE} under containment conditions.

7.1.2 Degradation of PrP^{Sc}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE}

To simulate a natural scenario in which PrP^{TSE} was completely exposed to the compost environment throughout the composting process, PrP^{TSE} brain homogenates were inoculated into manure spheres and then placed in the composters over 28 days within a level 3 biocontainment facility. Effective methods of SDS extraction plus PTA precipitation following the WB analysis were described in Chapter 4 for the detection of PrP^{Sc} and subsequently for PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD}, and PrP^{BSE} (Chapter 6) in compost. Prior to composting, positive WB signals were detectable for all four types of PrP^{TSE} in fresh manure. After 14 days, PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} were faintly detected, but no signals were observed for PrP^{Sc}. By the completion of the experiment, all types of PrP^{TSE} were not detected by WB. The sensitivity of WB suggested that the reductions of PrP^{TSE} signals observed after composting were at logarithmic levels, with at least 2 log₁₀ for PrP^{263K}, 1-2 log₁₀ for PrP^{Sc} and PrP^{CWD}, and 1 log₁₀ for PrP^{BSE}.

Over 28 days, composting temperature exceeded and remained thermophilic for 7 days and exhibited a decline in both TC and TN contents (Chapter 6). These results all suggest that the composters were active to biodegrade a range of organic matter, including possibly recalcitrant PrP^{TSE}. After 2 days of composting, minor changes were observed in physicochemical properties of manure, while the WB signal associated with PrP^{263K} remained prominent (Chapter 6). This suggests that microbial activity had not peaked by this point time. However, when manure physicochemical properties were substantially changed at days 14 and 28, the signals of PrP^{263K} were also faint or not detected. In this thesis, PrP^{TSE} were inoculated into manure spheres to enable complete contact with manure during composting. Therefore, the changes in manure properties may reflect that the decline of PrP^{TSE} signal was a result of biological degradation. Although the degradation of PrP^{Sc} cannot be definitively concluded (Chapter 4), the reduction of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} after composting could reflect biological degradation (Chapter 6).

To date, no studies have been reported on the possible degradation of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} in compost. Composting is an exceedingly complex ecosystem, involving a wide variety of biological, chemical and physical degradation processes that can influence the adsorption, structure and detection of PrP^{TSE} in compost (Polano et al. 2008; Saunders et al. 2008). Previous researchers have also described that PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} are more resistant to inactivation than other prions, including PrP^{CJD} and hamster-adapted PrP^{Sc} (Giles et al. 2008; Saunders et al. 2008). Therefore, the recalcitrant nature of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} clearly underline the significance of this work on the characterization of possible CWD and BSE degradation in compost.

7.1.3 Microbes involved in specified risk material degradation and possible degradation of PrP^{TSE}

The degradation of SRM in compost depends on complex microbial consortia that are naturally present within the composting environment (Berge et al. 2009). In this study, the period of rapid SRM degradation corresponded with an equally rapid increase in the microbial biomass at the thermophilic stage as indicated by PLFA profiles (Chapter 2). Analyses of PCR-DGGE in Chapters 3 and 5 revealed that a wide variety of bacteria and fungi were responsible for SRM degradation in compost. However, the statistical analyses of DGGE gels showed that the bacterial and fungal communities associated with the degradation of SRM differed from those involved in the degradation of manure. It was further observed that the bacterial community involved in manure degradation was more diverse than that involved in degrading SRM, while SRM was colonized by a more diverse fungal community than manure (Chapter 5). Specified risk material contains a large fraction of labile protein and fat (Mcllwain and Bachelard 1985). However, manure contains a variety of proteins, lipids, starch, cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin and humic acids (Epstein 1997). Therefore, these complex components in manure may have required more diverse bacteria to decompose. In addition, the high fat content (11% fresh weight basis; Mcllwain and Bachelard 1985) of SRM may have made it a more suitable substrate for fungi than bacteria,

as fungi can more easily attack organic residues in compost that are too dry for bacteria (Ryckeboer et al. 2003).

In this thesis, active heating and enrichment with feathers were assessed for their ability to increase SRM degradation during composting. Chapter 3 demonstrated that active heating did not appear to have a major impact on the extent of SRM degradation. However, inclusion of feathers in compost not only enhanced SRM degradation, but also appeared to alter bacterial or fungal populations (Chapter 5). Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska (2007) demonstrated that the presence of feathers in compost stimulated the growth of keratinolytic fungi responsible for the degradation of feather keratin during composting. Moreover, some keratinolytic fungi, like *Doratomyces microspores*, not only degrade keratin, but also hydrolysze other types of proteins including casein, bovine serum albumin, and elastin (Fredrich and Kern, 2003). Therefore, as outlined in Chapter 5, it might be expected that some special keratinolytic microbes with the ability to degrade a wide range of proteins in feather compost could have enhanced SRM degradation.

Further sequencing analysis of DGGE bands indicated that bacteria related to the genera of *Corynebacterium*, *Saccharomonospora*, *Promicromonospora*, *Thermobifida*, *Thermoactinomycetaceae*, *Thiohalospira*, *Pseudomonas*, *Actinomadura*, *Mycobacterium*, *Nocardia*, *Streptomyces*, and *Enterobacter*, and fungi related to the genera of *Dothideomycetes*, *Cladosporium*, *Chaetomium*, and *Trichaptum*, appear to represent potential candidates that are involved in SRM degradation in compost.

Many studies have been performed to examine the susceptibility of PrP^{TSE} to proteolysis. Some serine proteinases have appeared to be among the most active in degrading PrP^{TSE}, and they are listed in Table 1-3 (Chapter 1). Moreover, some commercially available proteinases termed "prionases" are being considered as a decontaminant for for prions (Dickinson et al. 2009; Georgieva et al. 2004; Saunders et al. 2010). These proteinases with superior ability to inactivate PrP^{TSE} have been shown to be produced from bacteria belonging to the genera of Bacillus, Streptomyces, Nocardiopsis, Thermus, and Thermosipho, and from fungi belonging to the genera of Tritirachium (Table 1-3; Chapter 1). Theses taxa have been found in compost (Ryckeboer et al. 2003) a finding that I have confirmed for some of these microbes using PCR-DGGE in Chapter 3. In addition, Chapter 5 also revealed that some microbes associated with SRM degradation, such as the fungal genus of *Dothideomycetes* and bacterial genus of *Actinomadura*, have been previously confirmed to be capable of degrading bison carcasses and bovine hooves (Reeb et al. 2011; Puhl et al. 2009). Therefore, the evidence above increases the likelihood that the reduction of PrP^{TSE} and the loss of SRM dry matter observed after composting were due to enzymatic degradation as a result of these complex microbial communities in compost.

The microbial studies on the composting of SRM described in this thesis add value for characterization of bacterial and fungal species that are fastidious to culture but may possess the capacity to degrade SRM in compost. Characterization of these microbes enhanced the understanding of the microbial populations that may participate in the degradation of SRM and possible PrP^{TSE} during composting.

7.1.4 Advantages of feather addition

Feather keratin has also been previously used to mimic the degradation of prions (Suzuki et al. 2006; Gilroyed et al., 2010), as it has some structural similarities to PrP^{TSE}. Suzuki et al. (2006) also demonstrated that keratinases that have the capacity to degrade feathers may degrade PrP^{TSE}. Thus, it was hypothesized that inclusion of feathers in compost may promote the production of enzymes (i.e., non-specific proteolytic and keratinolytic) that would improve the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE} (Chapters 4 and 6).

In this thesis, 5% (wt wt⁻¹; dry basis) of chicken feathers were added into the control compost matrices along with cattle manure and wood shavings. Mixing of feathers with cattle manure did not alter the physicochemical properties of compost other than increasing total nitrogen content, but as hypothesized, tended to enhance SRM degradation (Chapter 4). After composting of PrP^{TSE} for 14 days (Chapter 6), faint WB signals were observed for PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} in control compost, but no signals were observed from PrP^{TSE} in feather compost. This suggests that inclusion of feathers may have promoted the proteolysis of PrP^{TSE} in the first composting cycle. However, at day 28, PrP^{263K}, PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} were not detected by WB in either control or feather compost. In Chapter 6, the loss of dry matter from feathers showed that more feathers (P < 0.05) were degraded in feather-enriched compost in the second cycle than the first cycle, indicative of an increase in keratinase activity. This increased keratinase activity

in the second cycle may have further enhanced the degradation of PrP^{TSE} in feather compost, although this trend was not detected by WB at day 28 as no signals were evident.

Feathers are a significant waste by-product of the poultry industry (Ichida et al. 2001; Korniłłowicz-Kowalska and Bohacz 2010). Composting has been proposed as a viable and effective option for the disposal of feathers (Bohacz and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska 2007; Lloyd-Jones et al. 2010). Thus, my results suggested that inclusion of feathers in compost may have merit, not only from the perspective of enhancing the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE} but also through contributing to the disposal of this waste by-product. Although Chapter 5 suggested that inclusion of feathers in compost may increase greenhouse gas emissions, other feather disposal methods such as rendering, landfilling and incineration, may result in the release of similar or even higher levels of greenhouse gases. In addition, the agronomic value of compost may be increased as the mineral N content of compost was increased by 12.5% in compost fortified with feathers (Chapter 6).

7.2 Future directions

The work presented in this thesis was conducted to examine the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE} in laboratory-scale composters and characterize the microbial community and species involved in the process of SRM degradation. These experiments provide a fundamental but significant framework for examining the possibility that composting can be an alternative for the disposal of SRM infected with PrP^{TSE}. However, to provide more convincing evidence for addressing this question, there are a number of future experiments that need to be performed.

7.2.1 Quantification of PrP^{TSE} in compost

The experiments from Chapters 4 and 6 showed that the WB signals for all types of PrP^{TSE} were not detectable after 28 days of composting. Due to the insufficient sensitivity of WB (i.e., 1-2 log₁₀), I am unable to discern the degree of biological degradation of PrP^{TSE} as it may have still been present at levels below the detectable limit associated with this assay. Therefore, significant interest remains in developing methods that could precisely quantify PrP^{TSE} in compost. A possible improvement would be to use *in vitro* methods, such as PMCA and cell culture assay, which have improved the detectability of PrP^{Sc} and PrP^{263K} in soil and biosolids (Seidel et al. 2007; Nagaoka et al. 2010; Miles et al. 2011; Genovesi et al. 2007).

In Chapter 6, PrP^{263K} was used with the intention of being analyzed by PMCA. This work is currently being carried out in the laboratories of Dr. Norman Neumann at the University of Alberta. In addition, by testing the compost materials collected from the vicinity of PrP^{TSE} tissues and compost leachate, PMCA may be also used for examining the mobility of degraded PrP^{TSE} during composting.

7.2.2 PrP^{TSE} infectivity in compost

Animal bioassays remain the golden standard for testing TSE infectivity (Barron et al. 2007). Following the measurements from WB and PMCA, animal bioassays should be further employed to determine the extent to which composting may reduce prion infectivity.

Seidel et al. (2007) have measured the infectivity of PrP^{263K} in soil using Syrian hamsters through oral application of soil materials containing PrP^{263K}, demonstrating that PrP^{263K} can persist in soil for over 29 months. This previous study might be used as a model for examining the reduction of PrP^{263K} infectivity in samples from experiment described in Chapter 6. Moreover, research should also be devoted to determine the infectivity of CWD and BSE in compost. Currently, bioassays of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} from animal tissue are being developed. The infectivity of BSE in brain tissue can be determined by a bioassay using transgenic mice that are highly susceptible to PrP^{BSE}, such as T4092 mice from Giles et al. (2008) or Tg63 mice currently being used in our research team. Haley et al. (2009) also utilized 5037 transgenic mice in a bioassay to measure PrP^{CWD} infectivity in cervid nerve and lymph tissues. Therefore, these transgenic mouse models may have the potential candidates to be employed in future bioassays targeted at assessing the infectivity of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} after composting.

Soil-bound PrP^{TSE} has been shown to remain infectious via the oral route of exposure, but PrP^{TSE} binding to soil can increase prion disease infectivity, enhancing the efficiency of oral transmission (Johnson et al. 2007). However, bioassay of PrP^{TSE} from compost still presents significant a challenge, as animals may not be susceptible to be infected by PrP^{TSE} in compost as a result of structural changes of PrP^{TSE} induced by biological degradation or the binding of PrP^{TSE} to

more complex compost components. In addition, toxic chemicals and pathogens in compost materials could affect the survival of the animals used in bioassay. A stainless steel bead method is being examined for bioassay in our research group, which is adopted from Flechsig et al. (2001). In this method, PrP^{TSE} are bound to a stainless steel bead and then placed in compost for biodegradation. The bead method may have several advantages, including reducing the likelihood of PrP^{TSE} binding to the components in compost and being convenient for subsequent decontamination and inoculation into the animals.

7.2.3 Characterization of microbes or enzymes effective to degrade PrP^{TSE}

In Chapter 6, possible degradation of CWD and BSE in the composters suggested that composting could be a potential reservoir of microbes or enzymes with the ability to inactivate PrP^{TSE}. Several methods could be used for characterizing these microbes and enzymes. To begin with, PCR-DGGE with sequencing might be used to further characterize the bacteria or fungi with the potential to degrade PrP^{TSE}, by extracting DNA from compost that was intentionally spiked with PrP^{TSE}.

Furthermore, Chapter 6 showed that feather-enrichment may enhance PrP^{TSE} degradation in compost. This finding deserves more research in order to characterize the keratinolytic bacteria and proteases that exhibit activity against PrP^{TSE}. Puhl et al. (2009) have isolated a novel actinobacterial species (i.e., *Actinomadura keratinilytica* sp. nov.) with the ability to degrade recalcitrant hoof keratin from cattle compost. Similar approaches might be employed to isolate novel keratinolytic bacterial species from feather-enriched compost. Further

purifying and characterizing the keratinases from these species are feasible, as similar studies have been previously done (Xie et al. 2010; Sharaf and Khalil 2011). Subsequently, these candidate keratinolytic bacteria and keratinases can be incubated with PrP^{TSE} infected tissue to further examine their ability to degrade PrP^{TSE}.

Another more advanced method may be derived from culture-independent metagenomic or metatranscriptomic approaches. A metatranscriptomic approach to investigate the functional diversity of the eukaryotic microorganisms within the rumen has been used by Qi et al. (2011) who characterized some lignocellulolytic enzymes with the ability to degrade plant cell wall. Therefore, by extracting and sequencing the compost RNA, metatranscriptomic methods may be used to examine the diversity of bacterial or fungal communities in feather-enriched compost and identify transcripts that potentially encode for proteases capable of degrading PrP^{TSE}.

7.2.4 Inoculation of microbes in compost

Inoculating microbes into the composting substrates has been used to increase the efficiency of the composting process. For example, Wei et al. (2007) reported that inoculation of a mixture of microorganisms (i.e., *Bacillus casei, Lactobacillus buchneri*, and *Candida rugopelliculosa*) into municipal solid waste compost resulted in a greater degree of aromatization of humic acids. Ichida et al. (2001) inoculated feather-degrading *Bacillus licheniformis* and *Streptomyces sp.* into a compost matrix containing poultry manure and feathers, and observed a higher degradation of feathers than the uninoculated treatment. However, some studies also suggest that microbial inoculants do not affect the degradation of organic matter in compost. For example, Lloyd-Jones et al. (2010) reported that the degradation of poultry carcasses and feathers in compost, as indicated by dry matter loss, were not altered by inoculating feather-degrading bacteria belonging to diverse genera of *Chryseobacterium, Rhodococcus, Bacillus, Pseudomonas, Stenotrophomonas*, and *Achromobacter*.

The review presented in Chapter 1 indicates that some microbial species have been shown to have the capacity to degrade PrP^{TSE} (Table 1-3). Most of these species are culturable or commercially available. Inoculation of these microbes into the compost may hold promise for enhancing the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE}, but needs to be further investigated.

7.2.5 Inactivation of PrP^{TSE} in field-scale composting

It is likely that large-scale composting may result in more degradation of PrP^{TSE} than lab-scale composting. Along with the studies in the laboratory-scale composting models, characterization of PrP^{TSE} inactivation in field-scale composting is desired.

Xu et al. (2009) have developed an appropriate biosecure system for fieldscale composting to dispose of cattle mortalities and inactivate environmental pathogens. A similar composting system could be considered as a model for examining the inactivation of PrP^{TSE} at field scale. In addition, the variation of PrP^{TSE} inactivation between replicated composting trials or compost piles should also be quantified.

7.3 Summary and conclusions

Composting may be a viable alternative for the disposal of the large volumes of SRM and animal carcasses arising from farms, meat processing plants and road kills as a control measure while still minimizing the risk of spreading TSE diseases. Currently, CFIA (2010) have published a regulation on the limited use of composting for the disposal of SRM by issuing a temporary permit. Therefore, to confirm the validity of this regulation and accelerate the adoption of this practice, demonstrating the inactivation of PrP^{TSE} during composting has become increasingly important.

This thesis describes utilization of a laboratory-scale composter to assess the degradation of SRM and PrP^{TSE} over 28 days. The microbial communities degrading SRM in compost were also investigated. A number of bacteria and fungi that may possess the capacity to degrade SRM or possible PrP^{TSE} were characterized. After these studies, significant outcomes that can be summarized from this thesis include:

1. Approximately 80% of SRM were effectively degraded after 28 days of composting.

2. At least 1-2 \log_{10} reductions of PrP^{CWD} and PrP^{BSE} signals were indicated by WB analysis after 14 days of composting and possibly higher than this level after 28 days. These could be associated with biological degradation.

3. Feather inclusion enhanced both SRM and PrP^{TSE} degradation possibly by enriching proteolytic bacteria in the compost.

4. Analyses of PCR-DGGE revealed that a wide variety of bacteria and fungi were responsible for SRM and possible PrP^{TSE} degradation in compost.

5. Some bacteria and fungi with the ability to degrade SRM and PrP^{TSE}, belonging to the genera of *Actinomadura*, *Streptomyces*, and *Dothideomycetes*, were characterized from the composters by PCR-DGGE.

Due to the infectivity of prions, logarithmic reduction of PrP^{TSE} in contaminated materials is necessary to ensure that infectious prions do not enter the environment (Appel et al. 2001). The outcomes from this thesis increase confidence that the degradation of SRM infected PrP^{TSE} maybe more extensive with full-scale composting as the duration of the thermophilic period is longer and microbial activity is more intense. Moreover, contributions to the knowledge of SRM composting open a more promising perspective for CFIA to reconsider the current regulations that are in place with regard to the disposal of SRM.

However, the criteria for 100% inactivation of PrP^{TSE} by composting are difficult and unrealistic to achieve. The European Food Safety Agency (2005) recommended that an effective method can be approved to inactivation of pathogens if it meets minimum criteria, such as 5 log₁₀ reductions in the number of non-spore-forming pathogenic bacteria, parasites, and non-thermoresistant viruses; 3 log₁₀ reductions in infectivity titer of thermoresistant viruses; and 3 log₁₀ reductions in the number of parasites. Therefore, for assessments of composting systems to inactivate PrP^{TSE}, a relative risk reduction or a risk limit might need to be defined. More important, further investigations on the inactivation of prion infectivity by composting are required.

- Appel, T., Wolff, M., von Rheinbaben, F., Heinzel, M. and Riesner, D. 2001. Heat stability of prion rods and recombinant prion protein in water, lipid and lipid-water mixtures. *J. Gen. Virol.*, 82(Pt 2): 465-473.
- Barron, R.M., Campbell, S.L., King, D., Bellon, A., Chapman, K.E., Williamson,
 R.A. and Manson, J.C. 2007. High titers of transmissible spongiform
 encephalopathy infectivity associated with extremely low levels of PrP^{Sc} in
 vivo. *J. Bio. Chem.*, 282: 35878-86.
- Berge, A.B., Glanville, T.D., Millner, P.D. and Klingborg, D.J. 2009. Methods and microbial risks associated with composting of animal carcasses in the United States. *JAVMA*, 234: 47-56.
- Bohacz, J. and Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. 2007. Choice of maturity indexes for feather-plant material composts on a base of selected microbiological and chemical parameters-preliminary research. *Pol. J. Environ. Stud.*, 16(2A): 719-725.
- CFIA. 2010. Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) policy on temporary permits for specified risk material (SRM) compost. Available at http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/anima/disemala/bseesb/enhren/tempe.s html. Accessed 15 March, 2012.
- Dickinson, J., Murdoch, H., Dennis, M.J., Hall, G.A., Bott, R., Crabb, W.D.,
 Penet, C., Sutton, J.M. and Raven, N.D.H. 2009. Decontamination of prion
 protein (BSE301V) using a genetically engineered protease. *J. Hosp. Infect.*,
 72: 65-70.

- Epstein, E. (Ed.). 1997. The science of composting. CRC press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- European Food Safety Agency. 2005. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Biological Hazards of the European Food Safety Authority on the safety vis-à-vis biological risks of biogas and compost treatment standards of animal by-products (ABP). *EFSA J.*, 264: 1-21.
- Flechsig, E., Hegyi, I., Enari, M., Schwarz, P., Collinge, J. and Weissmann, C. 2001. Transmission of scrapie by steel-surface-bound prions. *Mol. Med.*, 7(10): 679-684.
- Friedrich, J. and Kern, S. 2003. Hydrolysis of native proteins by keratinolytic protease of *Doratomyces microsporus*. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym., 21: 35-37.
- Genovesi, S., Leita, L., Sequi, P., Andrighetto, I., Sorgato, M.C. and Bertoli A. 2007. Direct detection of soil-bound prions. *PloS One*, 10: e1069.
- Georgieva, D., Koker, M., Redecke, L., Perbandt, M., Clos, J., Bredehorst, R., Genov, N. and Betzel, C. 2004. Oligomerization of the proteolytic products is an intrinsic property of prion proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 323: 1278-1286.
- Giles, K., Glidden, D.V., Beckwith, R., Seoanes, R., Peretz, D., DeArmond, S.J. and Prusiner, S.B. 2008. Resistance of bovine spongiform encephalopathy prions to inactivation. *PLoS Pathog.*, 4(11): e1000206.
- Gilroyed, B.H., Reuter, T., Chu, A., Hao, X., Xu, W. and McAllister, T. 2010. Anaerobic digestion of specified risk materials with cattle manure for biogas production. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101(15): 5780-5785.

- Haley, N.J., Mathiason, C.K., Zabel, M.D., Telling, G.C. and Hoover, E.A. 2009.
 Detection of sub-clinical CWD infection in conventional test-negative deer long after oral exposure to unrine and feces from CWD + deer. *PloS One*, 4(11): e7990.
- Hao, X., Stanford, K., McAllister, T.A., Larney, F.J. and Xu, S. 2009. Greenhouse gas emissions and final compost properties from co-composting bovine specified risk material and mortalities with manure. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.*, 83: 289-299.
- Ichida, J.M., Krizova, L., Lefevvre, C.A., Keener, H.M., Elwell, D.L. and Burtt Jr., E.H. 2001. Baterial inoculum enhances keration degradation and biofilm formation in poultry compost. *J. Microbiol. Methods*, 47: 199-208.
- Johnson, C.J., Pedersen, J.A., Chappell, R.J., McKenzie D. and Aiken, J.M. 2007. Oral transmissibility of prion disease is enhanced by binding to soil particles. *PloS Pathog.*, 3(7): e93.
- Korniłłowicz-Kowalska, T. and Bohacz, J. 2010. Dynamics of growth and succession of bacterial and fungal communities during composting of feather waste. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101: 1268-1276.
- Lloyd-Jones, G., Prŏlß, J., Trapski, C. and Brijs, E. 2010. Protease- and keratinase-producing microbial strains for compost bioaugmentation. *Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad.*, 64: 574-580.
- Mcllwain, H. and Bachelard, H.S. (Eds.). 1985. Biochemistry and the central nervous system. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, UK.

- Miles, S.L., Takizawa, K., Gerba, C.P. and Pepper, I.L. 2011. Survival of infectious prions in Class B biosolids. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part A, 46: 364-370.
- Nagaoka, K., Yoshioka, M., Shimozaki, N., Yamamura, T., Murayama, Y., Yokoyama, T. and Mohri, S. 2010. Sensitive detection of scrapie prion protein in soil. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 397: 626-630.
- Polano, M., Anselmi, C., Leita, L., Negro, A. and De Nobili, M. 2008. Organic polyanions act as complexants of prion protein in soil. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 367: 323-329.
- Puhl, A.A., Selinger, L.B., McAllister, T.A. and Inglis, G.D. 2009. Actinomadura keratinilytica sp. nov., a keratin-degrading actinobacterium isolated from bovine manure compost. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 59: 828-834.
- Qi, M., Wang, P., O'Toole, N., Barboza, P.S., Ungerfeld, E., Leigh, M.B.,
 Selinger, L.B., Butler, G., Tsang, A., McAllister, T.A. and Forster, R.J.
 2011. Snapshot of the eukaryotic gene expression in muskoxen rumen-a
 metatranscriptomic approach. *PloS One*, 6(5): e20521.
- Reeb, V., Kolel, A., McDermott, T.R. and Bhattacharya, D. 2011. Good to the bone: microbial community thrives within bone cavities of a bison carcass at Yellowstone National Park. *Environ. Microbiol.*, 13(9): 2403-2415.
- Ryckeboer, J., Mergaert, J., Vaes, K., Klammer, S., De Clercq, D., Coosemans, J., Insam, H. and Swings, J. 2003. A survey of bacteria and fungi occurring during composting and self-heating processes. *Ann. Microbiol.*, 53: 349-410.

- Rynk, R. (Ed.). 1992. On-farm Composting Handbook, NRAES-54. Northeast Regional Agricultural Engineering Service, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartz, J.C., Telling, G.C. and Bartelt-Hunt, S.L. 2008.
 Environmentally-relevant forms of the prion protein. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42: 6573-6579.
- Saunders, S.E., Bartz, J.C., Vercauteren, K.C. and Bartelt-Hunt, S.L. 2010. Enzymatic digestion of Chronic Wasting Disease prions bound to soil. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 44: 4129-4135.
- Seidel, B., Thomzig, A., Buschmann, A., Groschup, M.H., Peters, R., Beekes, M. and Terytze, K. 2007. Scrapie agent (strain 263K) can transmit disease via the oral route after persistence in soil over years. *PloS One*, 5: e435.
- Sharaf, E.F. and Khalil, N.M. 2011. Keratinolytic activity of purified alkaline keratinase produced by Scopulariopsis brevicaulis (Sacc.) and its amino acids profile. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.*, 18(2): 117-121.
- Stanford, K., Nelson, V., Sexton, B., McAllister, T.A., Hao, X. and Larney, F.J. 2007. Open-air windrows for winter disposal of frozen cattle mortalities: effects of ambient temperature and mortality layering. *Compost Sci. Util.*, 15:257–266.
- Suzuki, Y., Tsujimoto, Y., Matsui, H. and Watanabe, K. 2006. Review: decomposition of extremely hard-to-degrade animal proteins by thermophilic bacteria. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 102: 73–81.

- Wei, Z., Xi, B., Zhao, Y., Wang, S., Liu, H. and Jiang Y. 2007. Effect of inoculating microbes in municipal solid waste composting on characteristics of humic acid. *Chemosphere*, 68: 368-374.
- Xie, F., Chao, Y., Yang, X., Yang, J., Xue, Z., Luo, Y. and Qian, S. 2010.
 Purification and characterization of four keratinases produced by
 Streptomyces sp. strain 16 in native human foot skin medium. *Bioresour*. *Technol.*, 101: 344-350.
- Xu, W., Reuter, T., Inglis, G.D., Larney, F.J., Alexander, T.W., Guan, J.,
 Stanford, K., Xu, Y. and McAllister, T.A. 2009. A biosecure composting system for disposal of cattle carcasses and manure following infectious disease outbreak. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 38: 437-450.